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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
MIDDLESEX, SS.     MIDDLESEX SUPERIOR COURT 
       CIVIL ACTION NO.   
 
 
CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, AS PERSONAL 
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 
GREG J. SHARRIGAN, 
 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
EVERSOURCE ENERGY, and NSTAR 
GAS COMPANY d/b/a EVERSOURCE 
ENERGY, 
 
 Defendants. 
 

 
COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

 
PARTIES 

 
1. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Plaintiff's Decedent, Greg J. 
Sharrigan (Decedent) was an individual residing in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts at 
27 Park Street in Maynard, Middlesex County, Massachusetts. 
 
2. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Carol A. Sharigan is the Personal 
Representative of the Estate of Greg J. Sharrigan, appointed by Decree and Order of Formal 
Probate issued by the Middlesex Probate Court, dated March 3, 2022, Dkt. M121P5415EA, and 
is an individual formerly residing at 27 Park Street in Maynard, Middlesex County, 
Massachusetts; now residing at 4415 Symmes Circle, Arlington, Middlesex County, 
Massachusetts. 
 
3. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy 
(Eversource) is a Massachusetts Voluntary Association duly registered to conduct business 
in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts with a principal office located at 300 Cadwell 
Drive, Springfield, Hampden County, and a Massachusetts SOC Business ID Number of 
T00010890. 
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4. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a 
Eversource Energy is a Gas and Electric Company incorporated in the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts, with a principal office located at 800 Boylston Street, 17th Floor, Boston, 
Suffolk County, Massachusetts, and a Massachusetts SOC Business ID Number of 
041989250. 

 

5. At all times relevant to allegations to this Complaint, a reference to Eversource, 
Eversource Energy, or NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy is a reference to both 
Defendant Eversource Energy and to the Defendant NSTAR, d/b/a Eversource Energy. 

 
JURISDICTION 

 
6. Plaintiff incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein. 
 
7. At approximately 4:14 p.m. on Thursday, September 2, 2021, a natural gas explosion 
destroyed a single-family home at 27 Park Street in Maynard, Middlesex County, 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts. The force of the blast sent the home's windows into the 
street, caused a significant structure fire, and killed Greg Sharrigan.  

 
8. Decedent Greg J. Sharrigan was a resident of Middlesex County at the time of his 
death. 

 
9. Plaintiff Carol A. Sharrigan, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Greg 
Sharrigan, is an individual residing in Middlesex County. 
 
10. Defendants supply natural gas, water, and electricity products and services in the 
Commonwealth and Middlesex County. 
 
11. Defendants derive substantial profit from their activities in Middlesex County.  
 
12. Plaintiff's Decedent, Greg Sharrigan, lost his life as a result of a natural gas explosion 
involving the distribution infrastructure operated by Defendants in Middlesex County. 

 
13.  Middlesex Superior Court has jurisdiction to hear this action pursuant to G.L. c. 223 
§1 and G.L. c. 212 §3.  
 

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS 
 

14. At 4:14 p.m. on Thursday, September 2, 2021, a natural gas explosion destroyed a 
single-family home at 27 Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts. The force of the blast sent the 
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home's windows into the street, caused a significant structure fire, shocked the community, and 
killed Greg Sharrigan. 
  
15. Following the explosion, investigations were undertaken by the Maynard Fire 
Department, the Maynard Police Department, the Massachusetts State Police, Eversource 
Energy, NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy, several insurance companies, and the 
Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities (DPU). All investigations reached the same 
conclusion: the explosion was caused by a preventable natural gas leak due to a severely 
corroded gas main owned and operated by Eversource Energy. Natural gas had migrated from 
the corroded and leaking pipe through the earth and pooled in the Sharrigan basement before 
exploding. 

 
16. These investigations identified systematic failures that led to the explosion. At all times 
relevant to allegations to this Complaint, Eversource misclassified and improperly tracked 
leaks, corrosion, and failing infrastructure and failed to respond to known identifications of 
defective hazardous infrastructure in the area of 27 Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts.   

 
17. The multiple investigations revealed that for years preceding the September 2, 2021, 
explosion, Eversource prioritized cost-savings and profit-producing measures in its gas service 
planning, implementation, maintenance, and operation over the safety of the people it serves. 
Eversource developed and implemented systems that misled the customers, community, 
shareholders, and government regulators.  

 
18. Eversource's choices and operations caused Greg Sharrigan to lose his life, caused his 
wife to lose her husband, caused two sons to lose their father, and caused the community to lose 
a hero.  
 

EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
 

19. Defendant Eversource Energy is a public utility holding company serving more than 
4.4 million electric, natural gas, and water customers in Connecticut, Massachusetts, and New 
Hampshire. https://www.eversource.com/content/residential/about/investors/ir-frequently-
asked-
questions#:~:text=Eversource%20is%20a%20public%20utility,Connecticut%2C%20Massachus
etts%20and%20New%20Hampshire.  
 
20. On September 2, 2021, the market capitalization of Eversource Energy was 
approximately $31.6 billion. https://companiesmarketcap.com/eversource-energy/marketcap/.  
 
21. In 2021, Eversource Energy reported net income of $1.2 billion, returning $830 million 
to shareholders as dividends, nearly forty percent (40%) of which were paid to the company's 

https://www.eversource.com/content/residential/about/investors/ir-frequently-asked-questions#:%7E:text=Eversource%20is%20a%20public%20utility,Connecticut%2C%20Massachusetts%20and%20New%20Hampshire
https://www.eversource.com/content/residential/about/investors/ir-frequently-asked-questions#:%7E:text=Eversource%20is%20a%20public%20utility,Connecticut%2C%20Massachusetts%20and%20New%20Hampshire
https://www.eversource.com/content/residential/about/investors/ir-frequently-asked-questions#:%7E:text=Eversource%20is%20a%20public%20utility,Connecticut%2C%20Massachusetts%20and%20New%20Hampshire
https://www.eversource.com/content/residential/about/investors/ir-frequently-asked-questions#:%7E:text=Eversource%20is%20a%20public%20utility,Connecticut%2C%20Massachusetts%20and%20New%20Hampshire
https://companiesmarketcap.com/eversource-energy/marketcap/
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ten largest shareholders. Eversource Energy 2021 Annual Report, 
https://www.eversource.com/content/docs/default-source/investors/dividends-taxable-historical-
03-22.pdf?sfvrsn=d7dbd234_3; CNN Business – Eversource Energy (last accessed October 25, 
2023) 
 
22. Of th approximately 21,000 pipeline miles of all suppliers of natural gas in the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the distribution network of Eversource's subsidiaries 
accounts for approximately 8,300 pipeline miles (39.5%), of which 3,300 pipeline miles 
(15.7%) were owned and operated by NSTAR Gas in  2021. https://www.mass.gov/info-
details/natural-gas-distribution; DPU Dockets No. 20-GSEP-06 and 20-GSEP-05, Orders Dated 
April 29, 2021, available at 
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/13476832; 
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/13476831. 1 
 
23. Between 2021 and 2022, NSTAR Gas Company Preliminary Capital Budgets indicated 
anticipated GSEP (Gas System Enhancement Plan) - eligible main replacement expenditures 
totaling approximately $203.6 million. Docket Nos. 22-GSEP-06 and 21-GSEP-06, Attachments 
AG-1-19, available at 
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/14288498; 
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/16940700.  
 
24. On February 26, 2020, Defendant Eversource Energy announced its acquisition of the 
natural gas assets of Columbia Gas in Massachusetts. Eversource Chairman, President, and 
CEO Jim Judge expressed the company's "unwavering commitment to safety and superior 
service for our customers" and asserted its recognition as the #1 rated energy company in the 
U.S. (Newsweek) and #1 utility ranking (Forbes and JUST Capital). Eversource to Acquire 
Columbia Gas of Massachusetts Assets for $1.1 Billion (February 26, 2020), 
https://www.eversource.com/content/docs/default-source/investors/columbia-gas-news-release-
2-26-20.pdf?sfvrsn=2482d562_0.  
 
25. In 2021, Eversource Energy distributed natural gas to approximately 630,000 
Massachusetts customers, of which approximately 300,000 customers are served by NSTAR 
Gas d/b/a Eversource Energy, and the others are served directly by Eversource Energy. DPU 
Dockets No. 20-GSEP-06 and 20-GSEP-05, Orders Dated April 29, 2021, available at 
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/13476832; 
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/13476831. 2 
 

 
1 Re: GSEP, see ¶¶ 33-35, infra. 
 

https://www.eversource.com/content/docs/default-source/investors/dividends-taxable-historical-03-22.pdf?sfvrsn=d7dbd234_3
https://www.eversource.com/content/docs/default-source/investors/dividends-taxable-historical-03-22.pdf?sfvrsn=d7dbd234_3
https://www.mass.gov/info-details/natural-gas-distribution
https://www.mass.gov/info-details/natural-gas-distribution
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/13476832
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/13476831
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/14288498
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/16940700
https://www.eversource.com/content/docs/default-source/investors/columbia-gas-news-release-2-26-20.pdf?sfvrsn=2482d562_0
https://www.eversource.com/content/docs/default-source/investors/columbia-gas-news-release-2-26-20.pdf?sfvrsn=2482d562_0
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/13476832
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/13476831
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26. At all times relevant to allegations to this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy 
owed a duty to maintain gas lines "up to and including the gas meter [at delivery locus]," as 
well as gas mains running under streets. 
https://www.eversource.com/content/residential/safety/natural-gas-safety/customer-owned-gas-
line-maintenance.  

 
MASSACHUSETTS NATURAL GAS INFRASTRUCTURE 

 
27. Massachusetts natural gas infrastructure is among the oldest in America, with thousands 
of miles of piping installed over fifty years ago. Data available at: 
https://www.phmsa.dot.gov/data-and-statistics/pipeline-replacement/decade-inventory ("Miles by 
Decade of Installation Inventory") 
 
28. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Massachusetts natural gas pipeline 
infrastructure was built primarily from iron and steel, both being subject to corrosion over time. 
See: "Corrosion Failure Mechanism of Associated Gas Transmission Pipeline (2018)"; 
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6212900/  

 
29. Pipeline corrosion is caused by underground moisture and acidic compounds such as 
carbon dioxide and hydrogen sulfide, resulting in the pitting and degradation of pipeline walls, 
leading to the weakening and failure of pipelines. 

 
30. Despite Eversource's notice and actual knowledge of the known hazards of its degraded 
and unsafe Massachusetts natural gas distribution infrastructure, Eversource, at all times relevant 
to allegations in this Complaint, chose to put profits over the safety of its customers by ignoring 
the risks posed by this infrastructure. 

 
31. Natural gas companies function under monopoly-like conditions throughout most of the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts. https://www.mass.gov/doc/ago-future-of-natural-gas-
regulatory-framework-utility-and-technical-comments/download  

 
32. Attached Exhibit A (copied below) shows the geographic territories of the monopoly 
natural gas companies present in Massachusetts as of 2021. 

https://www.eversource.com/content/residential/safety/natural-gas-safety/customer-owned-gas-line-maintenance
https://www.eversource.com/content/residential/safety/natural-gas-safety/customer-owned-gas-line-maintenance
https://www.phmsa.dot.gov/data-and-statistics/pipeline-replacement/decade-inventory
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6212900/
https://www.mass.gov/doc/ago-future-of-natural-gas-regulatory-framework-utility-and-technical-comments/download
https://www.mass.gov/doc/ago-future-of-natural-gas-regulatory-framework-utility-and-technical-comments/download
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33. Amid rising outcry from state and federal officials in 2014 regarding the unsafe condition 
of the Commonwealth's gas utility infrastructure, the Massachusetts Legislature passed the Gas 
Leaks Act (G.L. c. 164 § 105A), requiring that natural gas companies submit an annual Gas 
System Enhancement Plan (GSEP). The GSEP offers financial incentives and imposes reporting 
requirements for utility companies, requiring plans to replace and repair aging infrastructure. For 
example, GSEP incentivized utility companies to replace gas mains by allowing for the recovery 
of replacement costs and a 10% profit to shareholders, payable by households and communities 
served by replaced gas lines. 

 
34. The GSEP further provides that a utility provider may request and receive DPU approval 
to raise rates for infrastructure improvement efforts. Almost every year since the GSEP was 
enacted, Eversource applied to the DPU and received approvals for GSEP rate hikes; rate hikes 
ostensibly intended to support improvements and fund infrastructure repair. 

 
35. For 2018, Eversource sought an additional $22.6 million in customer rate increases to 
recover the estimated cost of replacing leak-prone infrastructure. See: NSTAR Gas (d.b.a. 
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Eversource Energy) GSEP Petition (2018); available at: https://www.mass.gov/doc/dpu-17-gsep-
06-NSTAR-gas-gsep-order/download  

 
36. For 2019, Eversource sought a rate increase of $30.9 million. 
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/10000260  

 
37. Eversource again requested a rate increase to replace aging infrastructure in 2020, 
seeking an additional $44.7 million through gas system enhancement adjustment factors 
("GSEAF"). https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/11419981  

 
38. In its proposed 2021 GSEP, NSTAR requested rate increases totaling $28.7 million. DPU 
Docket No. 20-GSEP-06, Order Dated April 29, 2021, available at: 
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/13476832 
 
39. Utility providers have a duty to address corrosion through required active monitoring, 
improving materials, and repairs. Eversource developed what it calls the Gas Main Replacement 
Index (GMRI) to aid in meeting its monitoring and repair duties. The GMRI operates as a 
scoring system using many variables. GMRI's stated purpose is to assist Eversource in 
monitoring and analyzing for hazardous leaks and corrosion. 
 
40. In 2021, Eversource owned and operated 3,310 miles of natural gas mains in 
Massachusetts, including those serving Maynard. Exhibit B: Response to Attorney General's 
Information Request, Attachment AG-1-10 (2022) 

 
41. Eversource had over 1,100 miles of corrosion-prone steel and cast-iron pipelines in active 
use in 2021. Exhibit B. 
 
42. Eversource's corrosion-prone pipeline inventory included mains serving the 
neighborhoods surrounding 27 Park Street in Maynard. Exhibit C: Eversource Final Incident 
Report (2021). 

 
43. A report prepared for Massachusetts Senator Ed Markey found that between 2000-2012, 
natural gas explosions caused the deaths of 116 people. 
https://www.markey.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/documents/markey_lost_gas_report.pdf  

 
44. During that same period, Massachusetts residents paid up to $1.5 billion of rate charges 
because of lost gas escaping from corrosion prone and leaking gas pipelines. Exhibit C. 
 

https://www.mass.gov/doc/dpu-17-gsep-06-nstar-gas-gsep-order/download
https://www.mass.gov/doc/dpu-17-gsep-06-nstar-gas-gsep-order/download
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/10000260
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/11419981
https://fileservice.eea.comacloud.net/FileService.Api/file/FileRoom/13476832
https://www.markey.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/documents/markey_lost_gas_report.pdf
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45. In 2018, the Merrimack Valley gas explosions witnessed painful evidence of the dangers 
of Massachusetts' aging degraded natural gas infrastructure. 
https://www.mass.gov/doc/merrimack-valley-incident-report/download  

 
46. In 2018, because of excessive pressure in Columbia's natural gas lines, explosions and 
fires occurred in Lawrence, Andover, and North Andover. These events resulted in 30,000 people 
evacuating their homes, the death of 18-year-old Leonel Rondon, and millions of dollars in 
property damage. These communities were without reliable heat for months as Columbia's 
infrastructure was inspected and repaired. 

 
47. The Merrimack Valley gas explosions created a unique and profitable business 
opportunity for Eversource Energy. Eversource was able to more than double its captured 
subscriber base with one financial transaction. https://www.eversource.com/content/docs/default-
source/investors/columbia-gas-news-release-2-26-20.pdf?sfvrsn=2482d562_0; 
https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/nisource-announces-sale-of-columbia-gas-of-
massachusetts-to-eversource-301012181.html  

 
48. This Eversource-Columbia deal was announced mere hours after federal prosecutors 
ordered Columbia Gas to cease operations in the Commonwealth and pay $53 million in criminal 
fines because its failures caused the Merrimack Valley Gas Explosions. 
https://www.justice.gov/usao-ma/victim-and-witness-assistance-program/united-states-v-bay-
state-gas-company-dba-columbia-gas-massachusetts  
 

THE EXPLOSION 
 

49. In the years immediately before the explosion, the Maynard community grappled with the 
dangers of natural gas leaks. The town of approximately 10,000 had reports of gas leaks that 
increased from 22 in 2020 to 64 in 2021. Exhibit D: Annual Report Maynard, 2020; Exhibit E: 
Annual Report Maynard, 2021.  
 
50. Wednesday, September 1, 2021 was a rainy evening in Maynard, Massachusetts. Greg 
was in the cellar, bailing water that accumulated due to the storm. Carol noticed an unusual 
"musty" smell but thought nothing of it, figuring it was caused by the heavy rain and their slab 
and rock basement. 
 
51. By 9 a.m. on Thursday, September 2, the musty smell was more noticeable. Carol opened 
the windows and aired out the house before leaving for errands. As Carol prepared for work at 
noon, the smell continued to linger. When Greg dropped her off at work early that afternoon, he 
assured Carol he would call the fire department if the smell persisted. 
 

https://www.mass.gov/doc/merrimack-valley-incident-report/download
https://www.eversource.com/content/docs/default-source/investors/columbia-gas-news-release-2-26-20.pdf?sfvrsn=2482d562_0
https://www.eversource.com/content/docs/default-source/investors/columbia-gas-news-release-2-26-20.pdf?sfvrsn=2482d562_0
https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/nisource-announces-sale-of-columbia-gas-of-massachusetts-to-eversource-301012181.html
https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/nisource-announces-sale-of-columbia-gas-of-massachusetts-to-eversource-301012181.html
https://www.justice.gov/usao-ma/victim-and-witness-assistance-program/united-states-v-bay-state-gas-company-dba-columbia-gas-massachusetts
https://www.justice.gov/usao-ma/victim-and-witness-assistance-program/united-states-v-bay-state-gas-company-dba-columbia-gas-massachusetts
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52. At 4:14 p.m., Greg called the Maynard Fire Department, asking them about an air quality 
measuring device to investigate the persistent odor. 
 
53. The dispatcher questioned Greg whether the smell was gas, but Greg, a licensed union 
electrician, stated, "he knows it is not that [gas]." At the end of the call, the dispatcher again 
advised Greg that if it was gas, he should "evacuate the residence and shut the door." Greg stated, 
"It [the smell] has been all last night, and I had fans going and the windows open, so I am pretty 
sure it is not gas." The dispatcher immediately sent the Maynard Fire Department to the 
Sharrigan home. Unfortunately, before they could arrive, Greg went into the basement to 
continue his investigation. 

 
54. The basement of 27 Park Street consisted of two separate rooms. Greg utilized the larger 
room as a workshop for home renovation projects, hobbies, and crafts. The smaller room was 
used for storage and was open to ledge and stone below the home. In some places, the basement 
foundation was field stone and porous. 

 
55. Greg entered the smaller basement room and attempted to turn on the hanging light bulb. 
The light sparked an immediate and catastrophic explosion, killing Greg. 

 
56. Exhibit F, below and attached photo shows the Sharrigan house ablaze, taken by a 
neighbor immediately after the explosion. 
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57. Maynard Police Officer Eric Davoll was on duty when he heard the dispatch regarding a 
suspicious odor. Greg and Eric were great friends; they first met when Greg was Eric's Boy 
Scout Troop leader. Exhibit H: Maynard Police Report. 
 
58. The fire at 27 Park Street burned with such intensity that the Maynard Fire Department 
struck multiple alarms. Firefighting vehicles from Acton, Boxborough, Carlisle, Concord, 
Hudson, Lincoln, Littleton, Stow, and Sudbury joined the Maynard Fire Department on the 
scene. 
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59. An initial search of the property for survivors was unsuccessful as the intense heat 
prevented the fire team members from entering. Subsequently, after another round of fire 
suppression and the arrival of additional firefighters, a second rescue attempt was initiated. After 
making entry into the basement, Greg's body was found behind the door of the smaller room. 
Exhibit G: Statement of Maynard Fire Captain John King  

 
IMMEDIATE AFTERMATH 

 
60. Eversource was notified of the suspected gas leak and explosion at approximately 4:33 
p.m. on September 2, 2021 – 20 minutes following the explosion. According to Maynard Fire 
Department Captain John King, Eversource immediately determined there was a gas leak 
saturating the neighborhood. Exhibit G. 
 
61. The first Eversource technician arrived on site at 5:12 p.m., and a gas maintenance crew 
arrived at 6:15 p.m. Exhibit C. 
 
62. After shutting off gas service to the Sharrigan house, Eversource obtained leak readings 
at the main valve on the Sherman Street side of 27 Park. The Eversource crew determined that 
the ground surrounding the suspected leak was permeated with natural gas. The crew dug up the 
neighbor's yard at 25 Park Street, releasing the trapped natural gas before exposing the leak and 
activating a bypass. Exhibit I: Statement of Maynard Fire Captain Angela Lawless (2021) 

 
63. After releasing the trapped natural gas, at approximately 3:00 a.m. on September 3, 2021, 
Eversource activated a bypass mechanism that uncovered a significant length of gas pipeline 
with a severely corroded coupling. Eversource then removed a section of pipe from the trench. 
Eversource continued to purge all gas lines on the homes around Park Street until a zero percent 
gas reading was achieved five days later. As the DPU, and the Federal and State DOT require, 
the removed pipe and coupling were taken to third-party Massachusetts Material Research 
(MMR) on September 3, 2021 for further study and understanding of the explosion. 

 
INVESTIGATIONS 

 
64. Multiple investigations were initiated into the explosion's cause and origin. 
 
65.  The DPU, the Massachusetts Fire District 14 Regional Fire Investigation Team, and the 
Massachusetts State Police came to the same conclusion. The explosion occurred because of a 
natural gas leak in the Eversource gas main on Sherman Street. 
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66. The Massachusetts Fire District 14 Regional Fire Investigation was led by Maynard Fire 
Captain Mark S. Tomyl, IAAI-FIT. He was the prime author of the Fire Origin and Cause 
Investigation Report. Exhibit J: Massachusetts Regional Fire Investigation Team, Fire Origin 
and Cause Investigation Report. 

 
67. Captain Tomyl provided his report before the completion of the investigations by the 
DPU, Massachusetts Metals Research, or the Massachusetts State Police. Id. 

 
68. Captain Tomyl recommended that the case remain open "pending further investigation 
with forensic testing of fuel gas equipment, fuel lines, and soil sample analysis." Exhibit J. 

 
69. Captain Tomyl noted that due to the heavy rain and soil type, the gas likely underwent an 
"odor fade." Exhibit J. 
 
70. The conclusion paragraph of the Massachusetts Fire District 14 Regional Fire 
Investigation Team states in part: "Based upon the information compiled during the course of the 
investigation and derived from scientific methodology, it is this investigator's opinion that the 
origin of this fire was in the dirt basement primary and living room area secondary. The most 
plausible hypothesis is that of fuel gas explosion. It is believed to be an accidental low order fuel 
gas explosion caused the fire. Part of that hypothesis is that the' stranger odor' reported by the 
resident prior to the explosion was natural gas migrating underground from the leaks found out 
in the street. Due to heavy rains during this summer and very recent to the date of explosion, it 
may be plausible that the gas underwent 'odor fade' (NFPA 10.9.9.2) due to wet ground 
conditions and soil type of clay." Exhibit J. 

 
HOME GAS LINE PRESSURIZATION TEST CONCLUDES NO INTERNAL LEAK 

 
71. As part of the investigation, the Maynard Fire Department, Massachusetts Fire District 
Fourteen, the DPU, and Eversource jointly conducted extensive testing on the household 
appliances and gas lines in the Sharrigan home. 
 
72. A pressurization test at the Sharrigan home was conducted on October 7, 2021. 

 
73. Attendees at the pressurization test at the Sharrigan home on October 7, 2021 included 
Charlie Camara on behalf of Eversource; a Fire Investigator and Forensic Engineer from the 
Wright Group, Inc.; Luke Prohaske and Martin A. Rodick, P.E., Geotechnical Engineers from 
GZA GeoEnvironmental, Inc.; Darrin Wertz, Director of Pipeline Safety Management and 
Quality Assurance for Eversource; Marissa A. Goldberg, Senior Counsel for Eversource, and 
Michael Callahan, Assistant General Counsel for Eversource. 
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74. The pressurization test at the Sharrigan home showed that there were no contributing 
issues or leaks with household appliances or gas lines within the Sharrigan house. 

 
MASSACHUSETTS STATE POLICE 

 
75. The MSP Fire Investigation North Team also participated in the fire investigation. 
Exhibit K: Massachusetts State Police Fire Report. 
 
76. The MSP Fire Investigation North Team Report concludes the following: "Fire Cause and 
Conclusion: After the scene examination and interviews, it is the collective opinion of the 
investigative team that the explosion and the fire are accidental in nature. A natural gas leak 
originating from the street is the cause of the explosion and the fire. After the victim called 911 
to report the odor, he may have inadvertently ignited the gas when he went into the crawl space 
to inspect the source of the odor. The most probable ignition source is the pull chain light fixture 
near where the victim was discovered. I request this case be closed, pending any new 
information that requires its reopening." 

 
MASSACHUSETTS MATERIALS RESEARCH, INC. 

 
77. Massachusetts Materials Research, Inc. (MMR) is a materials testing, engineering, and 
consulting firm providing professional services throughout New England since 1961. 

 
78. MMR's independent staff and laboratories enable MMR to provide forensic engineering, 
materials engineering, and consulting. Eversource retained MMR to examine and analyze the 
leaking pipe. Exhibit L: Analysis of a Leaking Gas Main from 27 Park Street, Maynard, MA 
(2023) 
 
79. Exhibit L, the MMR report, shows the removed section of pipe and leaking coupling 
from outside the Sharrigan home: 
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80. In her investigation, MMR's Director of Materials Engineering, Fahmida Hossain, Ph.D., 
identified corrosion on the metal coupling. 

  
81. The corrosion and the hole in the pipe are visible without magnification. 

 
82. Customers in the town of Maynard received their natural gas from Eversource through 
piping pressurized to 58 psi. 

 
83. The gas pipeline at the Sharrigan house had a maximum allowable operating pressure 
(MAOP) of 60 psi and was operating at 58 psi at the time of the explosion. 
 
84. Through pressure testing, MMR determined that the gas leaks from the pipe section 
serving the Sharrigan house became measurable when gas line pressure reached 10 psi; the flow 
rate of the gas leak gradually increased as pressure increased. 

 
85. According to MMR findings, the leak rate increased at just 15 psi and "increased 
significantly" at 56 psi. 
 
86. The chart below, and included in Exhibit L, shows the pressure testing results of the 
failed gas main that serviced the Sharrigan house. 
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87. MMR determined that corrosion originated from the exterior pipe that serviced the 
Sharrigan house, with elevated chlorine levels detected near the identified breaches. 
 
88. Chlorine is particularly corrosive to steel pipes in the presence of moisture, and MMR 
notes that the presence of chlorine indicates an accumulation of water. 

 
89. Exhibit L contains the below picture of the corroded coupling of the failed gas main that 
serviced the Sharrigan house. 
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90. The corrosion led to pitting in the metal, breaching the pipe wall, allowing gas to escape 
into the ground. 
 
91. Exhibit L contains the below shows a cross-section of the leaking segment of the 
corroded coupling of the failed gas main that serviced the Sharrigan house. Note the multiple 
visible holes. 

 
92. MMR concluded that the mechanical coupling had visible significant corrosion on the 
entire outer diameter of the coupling.  

 
93. MMR concluded that there were two separate leaks caused by corrosion extending from 
inside to outside in the coupling that caused the gas to leak and caused the explosion.  

 

MASSACHUSETTS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES, PIPELINE SAFTEY 
DIVISION INVESTIGATION, INCIDENT REPORT, NOTICE OF PROBABLE 

VIOLATIONS AND CONSENT ORDERS 
 

94. The DPU Pipeline Safety Division, pursuant to 49 U.S.C. §60105(c) and in accordance 
with DPU's annual certification process, is mandated to report "[e]ach accident or incident . . . 
involving a fatality, personal injury requiring hospitalization, or property damage or loss of more 
than an amount the [U.S. D.O.T.] secretary establishes, any other accident the DPU considers 
significant, and a summary of the investigation by the DPU of the cause and circumstances 
surrounding the accident or incident." Exhibit M: DPU Pipeline Safety Division Incident 
Report, 21-INC-01 (2023) 
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95. In conducting its investigation, the DPU examined the explosion scene, inspected the 
Sharrigan home, and monitored the identification, capping, and repair of the leaking pipeline on 
Sherman Street. 

 
96. In its investigation, the DPU issued and received responses to four separate sets of 
information requests sent to Eversource. 

 
97. Based on its investigation Incident Report (21-INC-01), on May 16, 2023, the DPU 
issued a Notice of Probable Violation ("NOPV") 22-PL-82; and on August 9, 2023, the DPU 
issued NOPV 21-PL-74 assessing fines against Eversource in the amounts of $75,000 and 
$1,500,000.00, respectively. Exhibit N: DPU Notice of Probable Violation, 21-PL-74 (2023); 
Exhibit O: DPU Notice of Probable Violation, 22-PL-82 (2023) 
 
98. As of the filing of this Complaint, Eversource disputes DPU's assessment of fines and all 
related allegations of misconduct. 

 
99. The DPU concludes that: "[b]ased on the investigation, the Division has reason to believe 
that Eversource's failure to properly follow its procedures may be in violation of certain sections 
of federal pipeline safety regulations, Part 192." 

 
100. The DPU concludes in its Incident Report and Notices of Probable Violation that 
Eversource violated 49 C.F.R. §192.465(e) - External Corrosion Control: Monitoring and 
Remediation. Section 192.465(e) which provides that after the initial evaluation required by 
§§192.455(b) and (c) and 192.457(b), each operator must, not less than every 3 years at intervals 
not exceeding 39 months, re-evaluate its unprotected pipelines and cathodically protect them in 
accordance with this subpart in areas in which active corrosion is found. The operator must 
determine the areas of active corrosion by electrical survey. [Where] on distribution lines and 
where an electrical survey is impractical on transmission lines, areas of active corrosion may be 
determined by other means that include review and analysis of leak repair and inspection 
records, corrosion monitoring records, exposed pipe inspection records, and the pipeline 
environment. 

 
101. The DPU concludes in its Incident Report that  Eversource violated 49 CFR 
§192.491(c)(1) - Corrosion Control Records. Section 192.491(c)(1) which provides that each 
operator shall maintain a record of each test, survey, or inspection required by this subpart in 
sufficient detail to demonstrate the adequacy of corrosion control measures or that a corrosive 
condition does not exist. Section 192.491(c)(1) must be retained for at least 5 years with the 
following exceptions:(1) Operators must retain records related to §§ 192.465(a) and (e) and 
192.475(b) for as long as the pipeline remains in service. 
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102. The DPU concludes in its Incident Report that Eversource violated 49 C.F.R. § 
192.605(a) – Procedural Manual for Operations, Maintenance, and Emergencies. General. 
Section 192.605(a) which provides that each operator shall prepare and follow for each pipeline, 
a manual of written procedures for conducting operations and maintenance activities and for 
emergency response. For transmission lines, the manual must also include procedures for 
handling abnormal operations. The § 92.605(a) manual must be reviewed and updated by the 
operator at intervals not exceeding 15 months, but at least once each calendar year must be 
prepared before operations of a pipeline system commence. Appropriate parts of the manual must 
be kept at locations where operations and maintenance activities are conducted. 

 
103. The DPU concludes in its Incident Report that Eversource violated 9 CFR § 192.616(c) – 
Public Awareness. Section 192.616(c) which provides that the operator must follow the general 
program recommendations, including baseline and supplemental requirements of API RP 1162, 
unless the operator provides justification in its program or procedural manual as to why 
compliance with all or certain provisions of the recommended practice is not practicable and not 
necessary for safety. 

 
104. The DPU concludes in its Incident Report it believes that Eversource violated 49 CFR § 
192.805(b) – Qualification Program. Section 192.805(b) which provides that each operator shall 
have and follow a written qualification program. The program shall include provisions to: (b) 
Ensure through evaluation that individuals performing covered tasks are qualified. 

 
105. The DPU concludes in its Incident Report that Eversource did not adhere to the integrity 
management plan required by 49 C.F.R. §192.1007(e)(1)(i). Section 192.1007(e)(1)(i) requires 
that operators measure performance, monitor results, evaluate effectiveness and that hazardous 
leaks either eliminated or repaired as required by § 192.703(c).  
106. As identified in DPU documents (14-PL-03, 14-PL-05, 14-PL-07, 16-PL-01, 20-PL-32, 
21-PL-12, 21-PL- 13, 21-PL-56, 21-PL-76, 22-PL-68, 23-PL-07), Eversource has on multiple 
occasions previously acknowledged violations of § 192.605(a) [Procedural Manual for 
Operations, Maintenance, and Emergencies]. Eversource has acknowledged violations of Part 
192, §§ 192.805(b) [Qualification Program] in an additional two instances: 21-PL-13, 22-PL-82. 

 
107. Both NOPV 21-PL-74 and NOPV 22-PL-82 were issued as a result of the Maynard 
explosion. Exhibit N: NOPV 21-PL-74; Exhibit O: NOPV 22-PL-82. 
 

WHAT DID EVERSOURCE KNOW? 
 

108. As a state-regulated utility, Eversource has maintenance and disclosure duties to the 
Commonwealth regarding the condition of the infrastructure used to deliver its products. 
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109. GSEP (filed annually with the DPU) authorizes the Massachusetts Attorney General to 
request detailed metrics from the gas utility companies, including the material composition of all 
mains and data identifying services by total mileage, an annual leaks-per-mile analysis for each 
type of material, and the total miles of pipe replacements planned over the next five years. 

 
110. In its filings with the SEC and DPU, Eversource has repeatedly described its knowledge 
of the aging infrastructure it utilizes to generate corporate profits. 

 
111. In their request for a rate increases, Eversource specifically discussed its need to repair 
and replace non-cathodically protected steel and cast-iron gas mains like that outside the 
Sharrigan home. 
 
112. In 2018, the hazards of negligent pipeline infrastructure maintenance made national news 
when an engineering and repair error by Columbia Gas resulted in a mass over-pressurization 
event in the Merrimack Valley area, damaging 131 structures and destroying at least five homes. 
One person was killed by the resulting explosions, and over twenty people sustained injuries 
requiring hospitalization. Over 30,000 people in Lawrence and Andover, Massachusetts 
communities were told to shut off gas to their homes and evacuate for fear of further explosions.  
The Columbia Gas explosions caused by over-pressurized natural gas pipeless led to the 
replacement of 48 miles of natural gas pipelines, with many residents forced to wait many 
months to restore heat to their homes or businesses. 

 
113. Following the Merrimack Valley catastrophe, Columbia Gas was forced to sell. On 
February 26, 2020, Eversource announced the purchase of Columbia Gas' assets for $1.1 Billion. 

 
114. The acquisition of Columbia Gas assets by Eversource more than doubled its gas 
customer service base. 

 
115. Addressing the Merrimack Valley community two years after the 2018 gas explosions, 
Eversource's President of Gas Operations promised the community: "We have a strong track 
record of investing in infrastructure to deliver benefits to our customers and significantly 
improve the reliability and safety of our systems. Our commitment to operational excellence and 
superior customer service will create value for customers, employees, shareholders, and the 
communities we serve." 
 

FAILURES IN RECORD KEEPING, CLASSIFICATION, AND MONITORING 
 

116. Following the explosion at the Sharrigan home, Eversource was unable to produce 
accurate records in response to requests for information from the DPU about leak and repair 
history in Maynard, Massachusetts. Exhibit M; Exhibit N. 
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117. In its investigation, the DPU found that Eversource records showed prior leaks in and 
around Sherman and Park Streets were confused with each other. 
 
118. Eversource records showed that the identified leaks were marked in wrong locations, 
incorrectly located on reinspection, or undetected by mobile survey. 

 
119. Eversource records showed that the leak history was inconsistent and unclear, and many 
of the documents provided were illegible in part or in whole. 
 
120. Because Eversource failed to maintain meaningful and clear record-keeping, it failed to 
operate a reasonable and safe critical infrastructure gas line maintenance. 
 
121. DPU's investigation shows that Eversource records reveal misclassification of leaks, 
improperly tracking leaks, and inadequate leak response. 

 
122. In this case, Eversource's failure to adequately track gas leaks on Sherman Street and 
Eversource's failure to make the repairs and perform follow-up mandated by state and federal 
regulations caused the explosion at 27 Park Street on September 2, 2021.  

 
123. The DPU investigation included an examination of Eversource's leak history, leak survey, 
and leak repair records near the explosion location. The DPU found several areas of concern 
regarding leak #MA270688, initially identified on July 20, 2017. 

 
124. Leak #MA270688 was located on the threads of the riser shut-off valve, which is an 
above-ground location near the Sharrigan structure. 

 
125. Eversource records show that Leak #MA270688 was incorrectly classified as a grade 
three leak. A grade three leak is defined in part by Eversource standard OM-120 as subsurface 
and at least 20 feet away from any structure in non-continuously paved areas.  

 
126. Eversource's misclassification of leak #MA270688 triggered an inadequate leak response. 

 
127. On November 1, 2018, the leak identified as #MA270688 was re-numbered by 
Eversource to #MA276179. 

 
128. A subsequent reevaluation by Eversource conducted on October 16, 2019 determined that 
there was no leak at the originally identified location, i.e., #MA270688; however, Eversource 
determined that there was another leak located 43 feet from the Sharrigan home. Although 
required to, Eversource did not create a new number for this newly identified underground leak. 
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129. Eversource's next evaluation on October 5, 2020 found that there was no underground 
leak; however, the originally identified leak, #MA270688, now #MA276179, was present at the 
riser shut off valve on the Sharrigan residence. 

 
130. Due to Eversource's repeatedly erroneous identification and misclassification of 
#MA270688 near the Sharrigan home, Eversource failed to properly respond to the 
dangerousness of the leak. The leak identified as #MA270688 should have been classified as an 
above-ground hazardous leak and repaired promptly.  

 
131. Eversource wrongly stated to the DPU that leak #MA270688 should have been classified 
as an "above-ground non-hazardous leak." The leak should have been classified as an above-
ground hazardous leak and repaired promptly. 

 
132. Eversource standard OM-120-ADM sets forth response criteria for grade three leaks. 
Although Eversource standard OM-120-ADM requires a twelve-month reevaluation from the last 
evaluation, Eversource has admitted that the recheck interval of twelve (12) months was 
exceeded for leak #MA270688. 

 
133. Eversource standard OM-120-ADM requires subsurface structures within 200 feet of a 
grade three leak (including #MA270688 as erroneously classified by Eversource) be checked in 
all directions. 
 
134. Eversource failed to produce documentation that Eversource standard OM-120-ADM's 
required inspection of #MA270688 was completed, indicating the required inspection was never 
done.  

 
135. Because Eversource failed to complete a check of all subsurface structures within 200 
feet as required by Eversource standard OM-120-ADM, Eversource failed to identify the 
severely corroded coupling prior to the Sharrigan explosion.  

 
136. On information and belief, the subsurface leak found in October 2019 that was not given 
a leak number and went unrepaired, unidentified, and untracked some 43 feet from the Sharrigan 
household caused Greg Sharrigan's death on September 2, 2021. 

 
GAS MAIN REPLACEMENT INDEX (GMRI) SYSTEM FAILURE 

 
137. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Eversource employed a tool called 
the Gas Main Replacement Index ("GMRI"). The GMRI is an algorithmic instrument used by 
Eversource to assess pipeline segments for areas of active corrosion and leaks. 
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138. The GMRI's purpose is to identify risk and prioritize projects for the required annual 
GSEP submission to the DPU. 

 
139. The DPU investigation found that numerous critical failures within the Eversource-
designed GMRI contributed to the Sharrigan explosion.  

 
140. In practice, the GMRI failed to meet its safety goals because it failed to meaningfully 
monitor corrosion or leaks or effectively identify risk that caused the Sharrigan explosion. 

 
141. Instead, the GMRI was designed and used by Eversource to prioritize profits while 
serving as performative safety theater for Eversource. 

 
142. Eversource's GMRI calculations relied on values and inputs that prioritized cost-saving 
and profit-producing metrics for Eversource, a consideration wholly unrelated to leak 
identification and mitigation of known risks.  

 
143. Eversource's use of the GMRI effectively misled the community, shareholders, and 
governmental oversight agencies. 

 
144. Eversource's systematic misclassification of the Sharrigan leak was compounded by 
Eversource's willingness to prioritize cost savings over safety by using GMRI formulas to keep 
GMRI scores low to reduce its operating costs.  

 
145. Eversource used increased GMRI scores when Eversource had opportunities to replace 
at-risk gas lines at the same time when other work on another project in the area was occurring, 
allowing Eversource to benefit from reduced excavation and installation costs. If a town or other 
contractor was making road repairs work, Eversource exploited the opportunity for overlapping 
access to the suspect gas main.  

 
146. Even though the Sharrigan leak required repair, without an increased GMRI score 
wherein Eversource could recoup its costs by expediently piggybacking on other projects, 
Eversource did not undertake a repair or replacement of the dangerous Sharrigan leak. 
 
147. Eversource failed to use reasonable care in its gas line maintenance of the Sharrigan 
neighborhood in Maynard. For example, in 2016, Eversource conducted a repair at 11 Sherman 
Street. Eversource placed four separate leak clamps on the gas main during that repair yet 
classified the repair as one single leak. 

 
148. Accurate counting by Eversource of the leaks and correct classification of the gas main 
next to the Sharrigan household would have caused the GMRI to rise. However, because the 
beneficial variables used by Eversource in the GMRI scoring inappropriately emphasized the 
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opportunities for cost reduction, it is doubtful that even a more accurate GMRI score based on 
the true number of leaks would have caused Eversource to should repair or replace the leaking 
coupling. Moreover, DPU's Notice of Probable Violation and incident report rejects Eversource's 
GMRI methodology: "These utility construction cost-related variable[s] in the GMRI refute 
Eversource's statement that' the Index Value is engineered so that active corrosion cannot exist on 
a pipeline that is not experiencing corrosion.' It is very clear that the GMRI's overreliance on risk 
and cost make this tool less likely to identify active corrosion in rural and suburban areas, where 
risk is lower, and the opportunities for joint trenching utilities are less frequent." See Exhibit M; 
Exhibit N; Exhibit O. 

 
149. The DPU Incident Report further concludes: "By employing the GMRI, there is no 
number of leaks and no leak growth rate that could have alerted Eversource to active 
corrosion on Sherman Street and Park Street. Conversely, had the municipality alerted 
Eversource that Sherman Street was going to be paved following a water or sewer project, 
the opportunity for joint trenching would have generated a score that would identify this 
main as actively corroding. By solely utilizing the GMRI, Eversource did not effectively 
monitor for areas of active corrosion as required by federal pipeline safety regulations." 
See Exhibit M. 

 
150. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Eversource failed to properly assess 
the condition of the pipe that caused the Sharrigan explosion. Eversource incorrectly identified 
the material of the pipe transporting its gas in Maynard. Thus, Eversource applied the wrong 
material score to the GMRI, changing the risk analysis and the need for replacement or repair. 

 
151. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Eversource failed at a base-level 
record-keeping and analysis function central to the business of safely delivering natural gas.  

 
152. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Eversource identified the gas 
pipeline at the corner of Sherman and Park Street as coated steel when it should have been 
classified as 1938 bare steel.  
 

UTILIZATION OF UNQUALIFIED OPERATORS 
 

153. The DPU investigation identified issues related to the qualifications of Eversource 
employees performing leak surveys of Eversource's natural gas infrastructure. Several 
individuals performing leak surveys were not qualified to do so in accordance with Eversource's 
Operator Qualification Plan ("OQ Plan"). 
 
154. DPU records and Eversource's own admissions document seven hundred and thirty-seven 
(737) violations of the Eversource OQ Plan in the two years preceding the Sharrigan explosion. 
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155. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Eversource's use of unqualified 
individuals for leak investigation and repair put the community at risk. 
 
156. Eversource's failure to employ and supervise qualified employees whose primary job is 
safeguarding the community constitutes a willful and egregious disregard for its basic safety 
duties. 
 

COUNT I 
WRONGFUL DEATH, G.L. c. 229 § 2, et. seq. 

 
CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 

GREG SHARRIGAN v. EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
 

157. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein.  
 
158. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy had 
a duty to safely operate and maintain its natural gas system, including the gas mains running 
along Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts, pursuant to applicable 
statutes and regulations including 220 C.M.R. 101.00 and 49 C.F.R. Part 192. 
 
159. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy, by 
and through its employees, subsidiaries' employees, agents, and/or servants, negligently failed 
to properly classify, recognize, monitor, or remedy hazardous leaks in its natural gas piping 
system that served Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts. 
 
160. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Eversource Energy failed to act 
with reasonable care to comply with its internal policies, good and accepted practice, and state 
and federal laws and regulations. 
 
161. As a direct result of Defendant Eversource Energy's failure to use reasonable care as 
alleged natural gas accumulated in the basement of 27 Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts, 
igniting catastrophically in the presence of Plaintiff's Decedent Greg Sharrigan, causing him to 
experience smoke inhalation, severe burns, conscious pain and suffering, and death on 
September 2, 2021. 
 
WHEREFORE, pursuant to G.L. c. 229 § 2 et seq, Plaintiff Carol A. Sharrigan, Personal 
Representative of the Estate of Greg Sharrigan, demands judgment against Defendant 
Eversource Energy in an amount deemed just and fair, including interest, attorney fees, costs of 
suit, punitive damages, all damages recognized under law, and for other such relief as the Court 
deems appropriate. 
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COUNT II 

WRONGFUL DEATH – PUNITIVE DAMAGES, MALICIOUS, WILLFUL, WANTON, 
AND RECKLESS CONDUCT 

 
CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 

GREG SHARRIGAN v. EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
 

162. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein. 
 
163. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy 
had a duty to safely operate and maintain its natural gas piping system, including the gas mains 
running along Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts, pursuant to 
applicable statutes and regulations including 220 C.M.R. 101.00 and 49 C.F.R. Part 192. 
 
164. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy, by 
and through its employees, subsidiaries' employees, agents, and/or servants, acted in a 
malicious, willful, wanton, and reckless manner in its failure to properly operate, classify, 
recognize, monitor, and remedy leaks in its natural gas piping system that served Sherman 
Street and Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts. 
 
165. Eversource Energy's malicious, willful, wanton, and reckless failures violated internal 
policies, good and accepted practices, and state and federal laws and regulations. 
 
166. As a direct and proximate result of the malicious, willful, wanton, and reckless actions 
or inactions by Defendant Eversource Energy, natural gas accumulated in the basement of 27 
Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts, igniting catastrophically in the presence of Plaintiff's 
Decedent Greg Sharrigan, causing him to experience smoke inhalation, severe burns, pain and 
suffering and death on September 2, 2021. 
 
167. Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages as a result of Defendant's malicious, willful, 
wanton, and reckless conduct. 
 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Carol A. Sharrigan, Personal Representative of the Estate of Greg 
Sharrigan, demands judgment against Defendant Eversource Energy in an amount deemed just 
and fair, including interest, attorney fees, costs of suit, punitive damages, all damages 
recognized under law, and for other such relief as the Court deems appropriate. 

 
COUNT III 

WRONGFUL DEATH – PUNITIVE DAMAGES: GROSS NEGLIGENCE 
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CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 
GREG SHARRIGAN v. EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

168. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein.

169. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy
had a duty to safely operate and maintain its natural gas piping system, including the gas mains
running along Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts, pursuant to
applicable statutes and regulations, including 220 C.M.R. 101.00 and 49 C.F.R. Part 192.

170. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy, by
and through its employees, subsidiaries' employees, agents, and/or servants, were grossly
negligent in their failure to properly operate, classify, recognize, monitor, and remedy leaks in
its natural gas piping system that served Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard,
Massachusetts.

171. Eversource Energy's grossly negligent failures violated internal policies, good and
accepted practices, and state and federal laws.

172. As a direct and proximate result of the gross negligence on the part of Defendant
Eversource Energy, natural gas accumulated in the basement of 27 Park Street in Maynard,
Massachusetts, igniting catastrophically in the presence of Plaintiff's Decedent Greg Sharrigan,
causing him to experience smoke inhalation, severe burns, and death on September 2, 2021.

173. Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages as a result of Defendants gross negligence.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Carol A. Sharrigan, Personal Representative of the Estate of Greg 
Sharrigan, demands judgment against Defendant Eversource Energy in an amount deemed just 
and fair, including interest, attorney fees, costs of suit, punitive damages, all damages 
recognized under law, and for other such relief as the Court deems appropriate. 

COUNT IV 
STRICT LIABILITY – ULTRA-HAZARDOUS ACTIVITY 

CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 
GREG SHARRIGAN v. EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

174. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein.
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175. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, the distribution and delivery of 
natural gas in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts in corroded and leaking pipelines to 
residential homes was and is an ultra-hazardous, extraordinary, and abnormally dangerous 
activity, which exposed others including Decedent Greg Sharrigan to such danger as it should 
only be permitted at the sole risk of Eversource Energy. 
 
176. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy 
had a duty to safely operate and maintain its natural gas piping system, including the gas mains 
running along Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts, pursuant to 
applicable statutes and regulations, including 220 C.M.R. 101.00 and 49 C.F.R. Part 192. 
 
177. On September 2, 2021, Defendant did distribute and deliver natural gas in corroded and 
leaking pipelines to the Sharrigan home at 27 Park Street, Maynard, Middlesex County, 
Massachusetts. 

 
178. On September 2, 2021, Defendant's distribution and delivery of natural gas in corroded 
and leaking pipelines to the Sharrigan home at 27 Park Street, Maynard, Middlesex County, 
Massachusetts was an ultra-hazardous and abnormally dangerous activity. 
 
179. Defendant is strictly liable for all damages caused by Defendant's ultra-hazardous and 
abnormally dangerous activity because delivering natural gas through known corroding and 
leaking pipes involves a high degree of risk of harm to a person, the gravity of the harm that may 
result is great, the risk of danger from corroded and leaking pipelines cannot be eliminated, and 
leaking gas is not a matter of common usage.  

 
180. As a result of Defendants' actions, Defendant created an abnormally dangerous risk of 
injury and is strictly liability for all harm resulting from it. 

 
181. The actions of Defendant in creating this risk violated internal policies, good and 
accepted practice, and state and federal laws.  

 
182. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of Defendant Eversource Energy, natural 
gas accumulated in the basement of 27 Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts, igniting 
catastrophically in the presence of Plaintiff's Decedent Greg Sharrigan and causing him to 
experience smoke inhalation, severe burns, and death on September 2, 2021. 
 
183. Plaintiff is entitled to compensatory and punitive damages as a result of Defendants 
strict liability for the explosion causing Greg Sharrigan's death. 
 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Carol A. Sharrigan, Personal Representative of the Estate of Greg 
Sharrigan, demands judgment against Defendant Eversource Energy in an amount deemed just 
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and fair, including interest, attorney fees, costs of suit, punitive damages, all damages 
recognized under law, and for other such relief as the Court deems appropriate. 
 

COUNT V 
CONSCIOUS PAIN AND SUFFERING 

 
CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 

GREG SHARRIGAN v. EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
 

184. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein. 
 
185. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence and/or gross negligence and/or willful 
and/or intentional conduct of Defendant Eversource Energy, as alleged, Plaintiff's Decedent 
Greg Sharrigan suffered extreme conscious pain and suffering in the moments preceding his 
death. 
 
WHEREFORE Plaintiff Carol A. Sharrigan, Personal Representative of the Estate of Greg 
Sharrigan, demands judgment against Defendant Eversource Energy in an amount deemed just 
and fair, including interest, attorney fees, costs of suit, punitive damages, all damages 
recognized under law, and for other such relief as the Court deems appropriate. 
 

COUNT VI 
NEGLIGENT HIRING, TRAINING, RETENTION, AND SUPERVISION 

 
CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 

GREG SHARRIGAN v. EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
 

186. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein. 
 
187. Defendant Eversource Energy had a duty to exercise reasonable care in hiring, training, 
retaining, and supervising its employees, contractors, agents, servants, and subcontractors. 
 
188. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy 
knew or should have known that its employees lacked the proper skills and training to perform 
their natural gas infrastructure pipeline maintenance duties safely and properly. 
 
189. By failing to use reasonable measures to properly hire, train, and supervise its 
employees, Defendant Eversource Energy breached its duty of care to Greg Sharrigan.  
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190. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant's negligence, natural gas leaked and 
accumulated in the basement of 27 Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts, igniting 
catastrophically in the presence of Plaintiff's Decedent Greg Sharrigan, causing him to 
experience smoke inhalation, severe burns, and conscious pain and suffering until his death on 
September 2, 2021. 

 
WHEREFORE the Plaintiff prays that judgment be entered in her favor and against Defendant 
Eversource Energy in an amount deemed just and fair to compensate the estate for Greg 
Sharrigan's personal injury and pain and suffering, together with interest, attorney fees, costs of 
suit, and for other such relief as the Court deems appropriate. 
 

COUNT VII 
RESPONDEAT SUPERIOR 

 
CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 

GREG SHARRIGAN v. EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
 

191. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein. 
 
192. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy 
employed individuals whose duty was to safely monitor and maintain natural gas delivery 
infrastructure. 
 
193. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy's 
employees negligently performed their duties to safely monitor and maintain the natural gas 
delivery infrastructure at Sherman and Park Street, Maynard, Massachusetts. 
 
194. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of Defendant Eversource Energy's 
employees, Plaintiff's Decedent Greg Sharrigan was caused to perish. 

 
195. Defendant Eversource Energy is legally liable for the negligence of its employees that 
caused the death of Gregg Sharrigan. 
 
WHEREFORE the Plaintiff prays that judgment be entered in her favor and against Defendant 
Eversource Energy in an amount deemed just and fair to compensate the estate for Greg 
Sharrigan's personal injury and pain and suffering, together with interest, attorney fees, costs of 
suit, and for other such relief as the Court deems appropriate. 
 

COUNT VIII 
WRONGFUL DEATH, G.L. c. 229 § 2, et. seq. 
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CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 
GREG SHARRIGAN v. NSTAR GAS COMPANY d/b/a EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

 
196. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein.  
 
197. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant NSTAR Gas Company 
d/b/a Eversource Energy had a duty to safely operate and maintain its natural gas system, 
including the gas mains running along Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard, 
Massachusetts, pursuant to applicable statutes and regulations, including 220 C.M.R. 101.00 
and 49 C.F.R. Part 192. 
 
198. Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy, by and through its 
employees, subsidiaries' employees, agents, and/or servants, negligently failed to properly 
classify, recognize, monitor, or remedy leaks in its natural gas piping system that served Street 
and Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts. 
 
199. NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy's negligent failures violated internal 
policies, good and accepted practices, and state and federal laws. 
 
200. As a direct result of Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy's 
negligence, natural gas accumulated in the basement of 27 Park Street in Maynard, 
Massachusetts, igniting catastrophically in the presence of Plaintiff's Decedent Greg Sharrigan, 
causing him to experience smoke inhalation, severe burns, conscious pain and suffering, and 
death on September 2, 2021. 
 
WHEREFORE, pursuant to G.L. 229 § 2 et seq, Plaintiff Carol A. Sharrigan, Personal 
Representative of the Estate of Greg Sharrigan, demands judgment against Defendant NSTAR 
Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy in an amount deemed just and fair, including interest, 
attorney fees, costs of suit, punitive damages, all damages recognized under law, and for other 
such relief as the Court deems appropriate. 
 

COUNT IX 
WRONGFUL DEATH – PUNITIVE DAMAGES: MALICIOUS, WILLFUL, WANTON, 

AND RECKLESS CONDUCT 
 

CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 
GREG SHARRIGAN v. NSTAR GAS COMPANY d/b/a EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

 
201. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein. 
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202. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant NSTAR Gas Company 
d/b/a Eversource Energy had a duty to safely operate and maintain its natural gas piping system, 
including the gas mains running along Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard, 
Massachusetts, pursuant to applicable statutes and regulations including 220 C.M.R. 101.00 and 
49 C.F.R. Part 192. 
 
203. Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy, by and through its 
employees, subsidiaries' employees, agents, and/or servants, acted in a malicious, willful, 
wanton, and reckless manner in its failure to properly operate, classify, recognize, monitor, and 
remedy leaks in its natural gas piping system that served Sherman Street and Park Street in 
Maynard, Massachusetts. 
 
204. Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy's malicious, willful, 
wanton, and reckless failures violated internal policies, good and accepted practice, and state 
and federal laws and regulations. 
 
205. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource 
Energy's malicious, willful, wanton, and reckless actions or inactions, natural gas accumulated 
in the basement of 27 Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts, igniting catastrophically in the 
presence of Plaintiff's Decedent Greg Sharrigan, causing him to experience smoke inhalation, 
severe burns, and death on September 2, 2021. 
 
206. Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages as a result of Defendant's malicious, willful, 
wanton, and reckless conduct. 
 
WHEREFORE Plaintiff Carol A. Sharrigan, Personal Representative of the Estate of Greg 
Sharrigan, demands judgment against Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource 
Energy in an amount deemed just and fair, including interest, attorney fees, costs of suit, 
punitive damages, all damages recognized under law, and for other such relief as the Court 
deems appropriate. 
 

COUNT X 
WRONGFUL DEATH – PUNITIVE DAMAGES: GROSS NEGLIGENCE 

 
CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 
GREG SHARRIGAN v. NSTAR GAS COMPANY d/b/a EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

 
207. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein. 
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208. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant NSTAR Gas Company 
d/b/a Eversource Energy had a duty to safely operate and maintain its natural gas piping system, 
including the gas mains running along Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard, 
Massachusetts, pursuant to applicable statutes and regulations including220 C.M.R. 101.00 and 
49 C.F.R. Part 192. 
 
209. Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy by and through its 
employees, subsidiaries' employees, agents, and/or servants was grossly negligent in its failure 
to properly operate, classify, recognize, monitor, and remedy leaks in its natural gas piping 
system that served Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard, Massachusetts. 
 
210. Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy's grossly negligent failures 
violated internal policies, good and accepted practice, and state and federal laws and 
regulations. 

 
211. As a direct and proximate result of the gross negligence by Defendant NSTAR Gas 
Company d/b/a Eversource Energy, natural gas accumulated in the basement of 27 Park Street 
in Maynard, Massachusetts, igniting catastrophically in the presence of Plaintiff's Decedent 
Greg Sharrigan, causing him to experience smoke inhalation, severe burns, and death on 
September 2, 2021. 
 
212. Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages as a result of Defendants gross negligence. 
 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Carol A. Sharrigan, Personal Representative of the Estate of Greg 
Sharrigan, demands judgment against Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource 
Energy in an amount deemed just and fair, including interest, attorney fees, costs of suit, 
punitive damages, all damages recognized under law, and for other such relief as the Court 
deems appropriate. 
 

COUNT XI 
STRICT LIABILITY – ULTRA-HAZARDOUS ACTIVITY 

 
CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 
GREG SHARRIGAN v. NSTAR GAS COMPANY d/b/a EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

 
213. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein. 
 
214. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, the distribution and delivery of 
natural gas in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts in corroded and leaking pipelines to 
residential homes was and is an ultra-hazardous activity. 
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215. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant NSTAR Gas Company 
d/b/a Eversource Energy had a duty to safely operate and maintain its natural gas piping system, 
including the gas mains running along Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard, 
Massachusetts, pursuant to applicable statutes and regulations including 220 C.M.R. 101.00 and 
49 C.F.R. Part 192. 
 
216. On September 2, 2021, Defendant did distribute and deliver natural gas in corroded and 
leaking pipelines to the Sharrigan home at 27 Park Street, Maynard, Middlesex County, 
Massachusetts. 

 
217. Defendant is strictly liable for all damages caused by Defendant's ultra-hazardous and  
abnormally dangerous activity because delivering natural gas through known corroding and 
leaking pipes involves a high degree of risk of harm to a person, the gravity of the harm that may 
result is great, the risk of danger from corroded and leaking pipelines cannot be eliminated, and 
leaking gas is not a matter of common usage.  

 
218. As a result of Defendants' actions, Defendant created an unusually dangerous risk of 
injury and is strictly liability for all harm resulting from it. 

 
219. The actions of Defendant in creating this risk violate internal policies, good and accepted 
practice, and state and federal laws.  

 
220. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of the Defendant NSTAR Gas Company 
d/b/a Eversource Energy, natural gas accumulated in the basement of 27 Park Street in Maynard, 
Massachusetts, igniting catastrophically in the presence of Plaintiff's Decedent Greg Sharrigan, 
causing him to experience smoke inhalation, severe burns, and death on September 2, 2021. 
 
221. Plaintiff is entitled to compensatory and punitive damages as a result of Defendants 
strict liability for the explosion causing Greg Sharrigan's death. 
 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Carol A. Sharrigan, Personal Representative of the Estate of Greg 
Sharrigan, demands judgment against Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource 
Energy in an amount deemed just and fair, including interest, attorney fees, costs of suit, 
punitive damages, all damages recognized under law, and for other such relief as the Court 
deems appropriate. 
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COUNT XII 
CONSCIOUS PAIN AND SUFFERING 

 
CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 
GREG SHARRIGAN v. NSTAR GAS COMPANY d/b/a EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

 
222. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein. 
 
223. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence and/or gross negligence and/or willful 
and/or intentional conduct of Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy, as 
aforesaid in this Complaint, Plaintiff's Decedent Greg Sharrigan endured extreme conscious 
pain and suffering in the moments preceding his death. 
 
WHEREFORE Plaintiff Carol A. Sharrigan, Personal Representative of the Estate of Greg 
Sharrigan, demands judgment against Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource 
Energy in an amount deemed just and fair, including interest, attorney fees, costs of suit, 
punitive damages, all damages recognized under law, and for other such relief as the Court 
deems appropriate. 
 
 

COUNT XIII 
NEGLIGENT HIRING, TRAINING, RETENTION, AND SUPERVISION 

 
CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 
GREG SHARRIGAN v. NSTAR GAS COMPANY d/b/a EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

 
224. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein. 
 
225. Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy had a duty to exercise 
reasonable care in hiring, training, retaining, and supervising its employees, contractors, agents, 
servants, and sub-contractors. 
 
226. Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy knew or should have known 
that its employees lacked proper skills and training to perform their duties safely and properly 
while maintaining the Defendants' natural gas infrastructure. 
 
227. By failing to take reasonable measures to properly hire, train, and supervise its 
employees, Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy breached its duty of 
care to Mr. Greg Sharrigan.  
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228. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence on the part of Defendant NSTAR Gas 
Company d/b/a Eversource Energy, natural gas accumulated in the basement of 27 Park Street 
in Maynard, Massachusetts, igniting catastrophically in the presence of Plaintiff's Decedent 
Greg Sharrigan, causing him to experience smoke inhalation, severe burns, and conscious pain 
and suffering until his death on September 2, 2021. 

 
WHEREFORE the Plaintiff prays that judgment be entered in her favor and against Defendant 
NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy in an amount deemed just and fair to 
compensate the estate for Greg Sharrigan's personal injury and pain and suffering, together with 
interest, attorney fees, costs of suit, and for other such relief as the Court deems appropriate. 
 

COUNT XIV 
RESPONDEAT SUPERIOR 

 
CAROL A. SHARRIGAN, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF 
GREG SHARRIGAN v. NSTAR GAS COMPANY d/b/a EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

 
229. Plaintiff repeats and incorporates all preceding and subsequent paragraphs herein. 
 
230. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant NSTAR Gas Company 
d/b/a Eversource Energy employed individuals whose duty was to safely monitor and maintain 
natural gas delivery infrastructure. 
 
231. At all times relevant to allegations in this Complaint, Defendant Eversource Energy's 
employees negligently performed their duties to safely monitor and maintain the natural gas 
delivery infrastructure at Sherman and Park Street, Maynard, Massachusetts. 
 
232. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of Defendant NSTAR Gas Company 
d/b/a Eversource Energy's employees, Plaintiff's Decedent Greg Sharrigan was caused to perish. 

 
233. Defendant NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy is legally liable for the 
negligence of its employees that caused the death of Gregg Sharrigan. 
 
WHEREFORE the Plaintiff prays that judgment be entered in her favor and against Defendant 
NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy in an amount deemed just and fair to 
compensate the estate for Greg Sharrigan's personal injury and pain and suffering, together with 
interest, attorney fees, costs of suit, and for other such relief as the Court deems appropriate. 
 

PLAINTIFF DEMANDS TRIAL BY JURY AS TO ALL COUNTS 
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Respectfully Submitted by 
Counsel for the Plaintiffs: 
 
/s/ J. Tucker Merrigan 
_____________________________ 
J. Tucker Merrigan, BBO# 681627 
Peter M. Merrigan, BBO# 673272 
Matthieu J. Parenteau, BBO #679941 
Brett R. Corson, BBO #677644 
SWEENEY MERRIGAN LAW, LLP 
268 Summer Street, LL 
Boston, MA 02210 
Tel.: (617) 391-9001 
Fax: (617) 357-9001 
tucker@sweeneymerrigan.com 
peter@sweeneymerrigan.com  
matthieu@sweeneymerrigan.com 
brc@sweeneymerrigan.com  

DATE: AUGUST 13, 2024 

mailto:tucker@sweeneymerrigan.com
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COMPLAINT EXHIBIT LIST 

 

(A) MASSACHUSETTS MAP OF GAS PROVIDERS, 2021 

(B) SELECTION FROM RESPONSE TO ATTORNEY 

GENERAL’S INFORMATION REQUEST 

(C) EVERSOURCE FINAL INCIDENT REPORT, 2021 

(D) 2020 MAYNARD TOWN REPORT, SELECTION 

(E) 2021 MAYNARD TOWN REPORT, SELECTION 

(F) SHARRIGAN FIRE PHOTO 

(G) STATEMENT OF FIRE CAPTAIN JOHN KING 

(H) MAYNARD POLICE REPORT 

(I) STATEMENT OF FIRE CAPTAIN ANGELA 

LAWLESS 

(J) MASSACHUSETTS FIRE DISTRICT FOURTEEN, 

FIRE ORIGIN AND CAUSE INVESTIGATION 

REPORT 

(K) MASSACHUSETTS STATE POLICE FIRE REPORT 

(L) MASSACHUSETTS MATERIALS RESEARCH 

REPORT 

(M) DPU INCIDENT REPORT, 27 PARK STREET, 2021 

(N) NOTICE OF PROBABLE VIOLATION, 21-PL-74 

(O) NOTICE OF PROBABLE VIOLATION, 21-PL-82 



 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
  



 



 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 
  



NSTAR Gas Company
d/b/a Eversource Energy

D.P.U 22-GSEP-06
Attachment AG-1-10

Page 1 of 1

2017 2018 2019
Miles Leaks Leaks/Mile Miles Leaks Leaks/Mile Miles Leaks Leaks/Mile Miles Leaks Leaks/Mile Miles Leaks Leaks/Mile

PL 1,902 51 0.027 1,960 82 0.042 2,018 72 0.036 2,069 82 0.040 2,124 59 0.028

CI 335 272 0.812 317 237 0.748 297 291 0.980 279 270 0.968 260.8 318 1.219

N US 261 272 1.042 248 195 0.786 232 197 0.849 214 223 1.042 191 230 1.204

N CS 405 142 0.351 390 120 0.308 376 121 0.322 369 61 0.165 360 76 0.211
Y CS 377 3 0.008 377 18 0.048 377 10 0.027 376 27 0.072 375 41 0.109

3,280 740 0.226 3,292 652 0.198 3,300 691 0.209 3,307 663 0.200 3,310 724 0.219

*** Data from last years discovery responses was used for 2017 to 2020

2020

Total

Mains

MaterialCathodic 
Protection

2021



 
 
 

EXHIBIT C 
  























































 
 
 

EXHIBIT D 
  



 

 

  
 

2020 Annual Town Report 

January 1 through December 31, 2020 

Maynard, Massachusetts 

 



Town of Maynard      2020 Annual Report    

 

Case Activity 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Total Offenses Committed 775 768 791 751 

Felonies 137 140 117 129 

Crime Related Incidents 323 308 316 343 

Non Crime Related Incidents 516 448 436 714 

Total Arrests 184 166 159 97 

Protective Custody 19 15 24 8 

Juvenile Arrests 3 1 1 1 

 

 

Department Totals 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Incident Reports 880 804 785 1095 

Arrests 184 166 159 97 

Motor Vehicle Stops 3,942 4131 3591 2015 

Citations 1,566 1532 1265 933 

Warrants 144 99 147 99 

Accidents 169 147 128 101 

E911 Call Volume 1,859 1,555 1,468 1,612 

 

Calls for Service Report: 

 

Call Reason Total Call Reason2 

Total

2 Call Reason3 

Total

3 

911 Call/Abandoned/ Hang 

up 286 ID Check 0 Undesirable 18 

Abandoned MV 2 Identity Theft 18 Vandalism 29 

Alarm - Smoke Detector 90 Investigation 27 Serve Warrant 24 

Alarm - Business 109 Juvenile Offenses 42 Water Problem 29 

Alarm - Residential 30 

Larceny of a Motor 

Vehicle 9 Well Being Check 215 

Alarm - Carbon Monoxide 19 Larceny 46 Wire/Tree Down 166 

Animal Complaint 315 Locked Out 23     

Area Check 

1596

9 Locked In 0     

Assault 8 Medical Emergency 557     

Assist Citizen 306 Missing Person 18     

Assist Fire Department 0 Mutal Aid Police 3     

Assist Police Department 27 

MV Accident W / No 

Injury 66     

Assist Other Agency 64 

MV Accident W / 

Injury 26     

Attempt to Locate 6 

MV Accident 

Property Damage 17     



 Town of Maynard      2020 Annual Report   

 
120 

B&E (Motor Vehicle) 3 MV Complaint 85     

B&E (Past) 6 

MV Accident Hit & 

Run 15     

Bomb Scare 0 

MV Accident 

Pedestrian 1     

Chemical Hazard Spill/Leak 0 Motor Vehicle Stop 2015     

By-Law Violation 15 Noise Complaint 121     

Building Check 148 Notification 97     

Court Paperwork Received 161 Open Door 48     

Civil Dispute 17 Serve Paperwork 128     

Directed Patrol 1383 Parking Complaint 105     

Disturbance  114 Property Release 47     

Disabled Motor Vehicle 61 Property Damage 28     

Domestic Disturbance 34 

Found / Lost 

Property 144     

Illegal Dumping 23 Prisoner Released 50     

Electrical / Wiring Problem 1 Prisoner Transport 25     

Escort / Transport 121 

Private Tow / 

Repossession 13     

Environmental 1 Radar Enforcement 749     

Explosian / Fire Works 27 

Serve Restraining 

Order 103     

Family Matter 50 

Restraining Order 

Violation 41     

Alarm - Box 53 

Medical Emergency 

(Overdose) 6     

Fire, Brush 1 Sudden Death 11     

Fire, Vehicle 3 

Section 12 / Psych. 

Emergency 29     

Fire, Structure 8 Sex Offenses 9     

Fire, Other 27 Shoplifting 0     

Field Interview 3 Suicide / Threat 10     

Odor of Natural Gas 22 Serve Summons 32     

Follow Up Investigation 389 Suspicious Person 78     

Fraud 214 Suspicious Vehicle 83     

Forgery/Uttering/Counterfei

t 1 

Threatening to 

Commit a Crime 4     

General Service 222 Traffic Enforcement 901     

Hazmat Incident / Spill 0 Traffic Control 14     

Harassing / Harassing Calls 52 Trespassing 20     

Hazard 61 Traffic Hazard 97     
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Total Crimes Report: 

Crime 2017 2018 2019      2020 

Kidnapping/Abduction 1 2 1 0 

Forcible Rape 3 5 1 6 

Forcible Fondling 1 1 1 3 

Aggravated Assault 21 24 24 13 

Simple Assault 40 42 34 32 

Intimidation 16 19 20 23 

Statutory Rape 4 2 1 0 

Burglary/B&E 10 8 11 4 

Larceny (Shoplifting) 1 2 2 2 

Larceny (Building) 6 17 9 5 

Larceny (Motor Vehicle) 4 4 2 2 

Larceny (All Other) 38 26 21 44 

Motor Vehicle Theft 4 4 2 10 

Counterfeit/Forgery 13 11 8 10 

Fraud (False Pretense/Swindle) 11 13 18 29 

Fraud (Impersonation) 11 7 15 73 

Destruction of Property) 42 33 36 30 

Drug/Narcotic Violations 18 4 18 33 

Bad Checks 7 3 1 0 

Disorderly Conduct 11 9 10 3 

Driving Under the Influence 27 22 29 17 

Drunkenness 22 17 27 9 

Liquor Law Violation 11 6 12 7 

Trespass 1 0 5 5 

All Other Offenses 100 109 94 119 

 

PUBLIC SAFETY COMMUNICATIONS  

Maynard Public Safety Communications is responsible for handing calls for service for the Maynard 

Police Department and Maynard Fire Department. This entails E911 phone calls, business line phone 

calls, radio transmissions, call entry, walk-in requests and various administrative duties. 

Grants 

Maynard Public Safety Communications applied for and was awarded two State 911 Department 

Grants for the coming year. The Support and Incentive Grant ($32,439.00) and the Training Grant 

($15,133.87). The Support and Incentive Grant is applied in its entirety to offset the cost of personnel 

salaries, specifically for the Communications Supervisor. The Training Grant is applied to the costs of 

training new Public Safety Dispatchers as well as meeting the required State 911 Department 

continuing education hours (16 hours) in order to maintain certification through the State of 

Massachusetts. This brings the total State 911 Department Grants awarded to Maynard Public Safety 

Communications to $47,572.87.   
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2021 Annual Town Report 

January 1 through December 31, 2021 

Maynard, Massachusetts 
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PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 

 

Crossing Guards      Civilian Parking Enforcement       Custodian  

Donald Malatesta   Veronica Murphy-Bouldry  James Maria 

 Sara Lewis 

  

SPECIAL OFFICERS        

James Dawson  

Stephen Jones 

Karl Nyholm  

Mary McCue  

Greg Balzotti 

   

Shawn Corrigan  

James Loomer 

Ralph Aulenback  

Joseph MacDonald 

Alicia Luther

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STATISTICS & ANALYSIS 

 

Calls for service continue to rise for the Maynard Police Department.  Since 2018 calls for 

service have risen 27%, even though criminal complaints were down during this period.  Our 

Mental health and crisis calls have risen considerably, and signs show this trend is not slowing 

down. Another increase in incident reports are calls for fraud and scams by electronic means.  

These calls significantly target the elderly.   

 

The amount of reported crime has 

been consistent over the past few 

years; however, arrests have 

decreased dramatically due to an 

increased focus on summonsing in 

lieu of arrests. Department’s incident 

reports have had a fifty (50%) 

increase since 2018.  The significant 

increase in mental health calls for 

service is a factor in the increased 

incident reports.  Many of these 

calls/scams specifically target the elderly.  

 

In summary there has been a significant and continual increase in calls for service and incident 

reports.  This has occurred without any increase in staffing.  Pursuant to the Town of Maynard 

Master plan the staffing needs should be reviewed with the significant increase in call and 

incident volume.    

 

Case Activity 2018 2019     2020 2021 

Total Offenses Committed 768 791 751 755 

Felonies 140 117 129 117 

Crime Related Incidents 308 316 343 352 

24941 26185
28926

31590
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Non-Crime Related Incidents 448 436 714 831 

Total Arrests 166 159 97 77 

Protective Custody 15 24 8 7 

Juvenile Arrests 1 1 1 0 

 

 

Department Totals 2018 2019      2020 2021 

Incident Reports 804 785 1095 1204 

Arrests 166 159 97 77 

Motor Vehicle Stops 4131 3591 2015 2125 

Citations 1532 1265 933 757 

Warrants 99 147 99 177 

Accidents 147 128 101 132 

E911 Call Volume 1,555 1,468 1,612 2,266 

 

Calls for Service Report: 

Call Reason Total Call Reason2 Total2 Call Reason3 Total3 

911 Call/Abandoned/ Hang up 398 ID Check 0 Undesirable 18 

Abandoned MV 1 Identity Theft 5 Vandalism 29 

Alarm - Smoke Detector 106 Investigation 47 Serve Warrant 24 

Alarm - Business 115 Juvenile Offenses 62 Water Problem 29 

Alarm - Residential 37 

Larceny of a Motor 

Vehicle 3 Well Being Check 215 

Alarm - Carbon Monoxide 21 Larceny 30 Wire/Tree Down 166 

Animal Complaint 354 Locked Out 23     

Area Check 15448 Locked In 6     

Assault 8 

Medical 

Emergency 738     

Assist Citizen 300 Missing Person 26     

Assist Fire Department 1 Mutal Aid Police 5     

Assist Police Department 45 

MV Accident W / 

No Injury 77     

Assist Other Agency 41 

MV Accident W / 

Injury 18     

Attempt to Locate 6 

MV Accident 

Property Damage 42     

B&E (Motor Vehicle) 0 MV Complaint 140     

B&E (Past) 7 

MV Accident Hit & 

Run 26     

Bomb Scare 0 

MV Accident 

Pedestrian 7     

Chemical Hazard Spill/Leak 1 

Motor Vehicle 

Stop 2125     
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By-Law Violation 31 Noise Complaint 114     

Building Check 108 Notification 85     

Court Paperwork Received 169 Open Door 45     

Civil Dispute 28 Serve Paperwork 128     

Directed Patrol 1794 Parking Complaint 72     

Disturbance  92 Property Release 70     

Disabled Motor Vehicle 69 Property Damage 22     

Domestic Disturbance 53 

Found / Lost 

Property 170     

Illegal Dumping 15 Prisoner Released 37     

Electrical / Wiring Problem 3 Prisoner Transport 33     

Escort / Transport 120 

Private Tow / 

Repossession 16     

Environmental 3 

Radar 

Enforcement 1023     

Explosion / Fire Works 20 

Serve Restraining 

Order 64     

Family Matter 48 

Restraining Order 

Violation 20     

Alarm - Box 78 

Medical 

Emergency 

(Overdose) 15     

Fire, Brush 4 Sudden Death 8     

Fire, Vehicle 0 

Section 12 / Psych. 

Emergency 52     

Fire, Structure 5 Sex Offenses 6     

Fire, Other 19 Shoplifting 4     

Field Interview 2 Suicide / Threat 5     

Odor of Natural Gas 64 Serve Summons 37     

Follow Up Investigation 349 Suspicious Person 40     

Fraud 80 Suspicious Vehicle 72     

Forgery/Uttering/Counterfeit  

Threatening to 

Commit a Crime 7     

General Service 352 

Traffic 

Enforcement 1200     

Hazmat Incident / Spill 1 Traffic Control 18     

Harassing / Harassing Calls 120 Trespassing 28     

Hazard 40 Traffic Hazard 123     

 

Total Crimes Report: 

Crime 2018 2019      2020 2021 

Kidnapping/Abduction 2 1 0 1 

Forcible Rape 5 1 6 5 

Forcible Fondling 1 1 3 1 
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Aggravated Assault 24 24 13 27 

Simple Assault 42 34 32 29 

Intimidation 19 20 23 17 

Statutory Rape 2 1 0 0 

Burglary/B&E 8 11 4 6 

Larceny (Shoplifting) 2 2 2 6 

Larceny (Building) 17 9 5 3 

Larceny (Motor Vehicle) 4 2 2 3 

Larceny (All Other) 26 21 44 22 

Motor Vehicle Theft 4 2 10 5 

Counterfeit/Forgery 11 8 10 11 

Fraud (False Pretense/Swindle) 13 18 29 22 

Fraud (Impersonation) 7 15 73 23 

Destruction of Property) 33 36 30 41 

Drug/Narcotic Violations 4 18 33 25 

Bad Checks 3 1 0 0 

Disorderly Conduct 9 10 3 15 

Driving Under the Influence 22 29 17 9 

Drunkenness 17 27 9 7 

Liquor Law Violation 6 12 7 15 

Trespass 0 5 5 10 

All Other Offenses 109 94 119 105 

 

I personally thank every officer on the department for their professionalism and dedication.  

There is not a finer group of men and women in law enforcement.  I want to sincerely thank 

Town Administrator Gregory Johnson, the Honorable Select Board, and the other Department 

Heads for their continued partnerships, collaboration, and support in pursuit of Maynard Town 

excellence.   As always, a special thanks to my administrative assistant, Lucie Distefano, whose 

contributions are too numerous to mention.   

 

Finally, I genuinely want to thank the residents of Maynard for your continued support through these 

extraordinary times, without it we couldn’t accomplish our goal of providing the highest level of 

police services equally that will preserve a quality of life that makes this community desirable for 

everyone to live, visit, and engage in commerce. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Michael A. Noble 

Chief of Police 
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 Maynard Police Department Page: 1    
 Incident Report 09/20/2021

            Incident #: 21-836-OF
                Call #:   21-21333

 Date/Time Reported:  09/02/2021 1611
   Report Date/Time:  09/02/2021 2051
             Status:  No Crime Involved

  Reporting Officer:  Patrol Joseph Gennaro
  Assisting Officer:  Patrol Eric Davoll

          Signature:  ______________________________

 #   EVENTS(S)                                                                                         

 LOCATION TYPE:  Residence/Home/Apt./Condo   Zone: South of Rt. 62
 27 PARK ST
 MAYNARD MA 01754

 1 Sudden Death                                                                 

 #  VICTIM(S)                                        SEX RACE       AGE  SSN        PHONE             

 1 SHARRIGAN, GREG J                       M W 67  978-897-5352    
 27 PARK ST
 MAYNARD MA 01754

 DOB: 
 EMPLOYER: LANTERN LIGHT & ELECTRIC  ·  508-533-2412    
 ETHNICITY: Not of Hispanic Origin
 RESIDENT STATUS: Resident
 VICTIM CONNECTED TO OFFENSE NUMBER(S): 1    
 CONTACT INFORMATION:   
 Home Phone          (Primary)      978-897-5352                      
 Work Phone          (Primary)      508-533-2412                      
 CallBack Number     (Primary)      978-793-1559
   



 Maynard Police Department Page: 1    
  NARRATIVE FOR SERGEANT BRIAN P PETERSEN   

                   Ref:   21-836-OF
   

                 Entered: 09/02/2021 @ 2051       Entry ID: BPETE    
                Modified: 09/03/2021 @ 1711    Modified ID: BPETE    

 On September 2nd 2021 while working a uniform supervisors shift in marked cruiser 11, at approximately
4:11 pm I overheard Maynard Fire Department being dispatched to 27 Park St for an odor in the house. Dispatch
advised Fire that the caller was reporting a funny odor in his residence and said he was unsure if it was gas or
carbon monoxide. While fire was responding to this call, I heard Officer Davoll call over the radio that he was
told there was just an explosion in the area. Maynard Police units then responded to the area of Park St.   

 While en route Officer Davoll called off that he would be out and to notify Fire that there was an
explosion and we were going to need help. Officer Davoll then called off that he needed all units up there.
Officer Davoll then called off that he can't get in there is too much smoke.

 On my arrival Officer Davoll and Officer Gennaro were running towards the side door of the residence. I
observed there was smoke bellowing out of the residence from the front windows. I observed that the two front
windows were blown out and laying on the opposite side of Park St. Upon approaching the residence, I observed
Officer Davoll and Officer Gennaro attempting to enter the residence as I walked up. Officer Davoll and Officer
Gennaro retreated out of the residence moments later due to the heavy smoke and fire.   

 As Officer Davoll and Officer Gennaro backed out of the residence I observed the front of the residence,
which previously has just been smoke changed to being fully engulfed in flames. I observed there was intense
heat coming from the residence and I advised everyone to back away. Maynard Fire arrived around this time.
Officer Brennan, Officer Gennaro, Officer Davoll and I assisted Maynard Fire pulling hoses to assist them in
fighting the fire. I observed Captain King attempted to enter the residence and had to back out due to the heavy
smoke and heat.   

 Officer Davoll informed me that the residents were his neighbors and he believes they are in the residence.
Officer Davoll was out of breath and appeared extremely upset. Officer Davoll notified Maynard Fire of the
possible entrapment and that he believes they were home. Officer Davoll further explained that the resident,
Greg Sharrigan, likes to work in the basement of the residence and has a work shop down there and on his
arrival the light was on in the basement. Officer Davoll informed me he believes his wife, Carol Sharrigan, was
also home since she is typically home at this time of the day. This information was relayed to Maynard Fire.
Deputy Chief Troiano arrived on scene at this time and assumed command.   

 I observed Officer Davoll appeared to be racing and that he was extremely upset. Officer Davoll also
appeared winded and out of breath. I offered to call Officer Davoll an ambulance and he declined at this time.
Officer Davoll informed me he inhaled a lot of smoke while in the residence. I tried for several minutes to calm
Officer Davoll down and subsequently an ambulance was called for Officer Davoll for evaluation. Officer
Davoll was subsequently transported to Emerson Hospital for evaluation. I was later notified that Officer
Brennan had also inhaled smoke and began vomiting and was also transported to Emerson for evaluation.   

 Maynard Fire continued working on scene to get the fire knocked down and contained. At approximately
4:51 pm Captain King radioed that the resident was located and there were no signs of viability. I was later
informed that Greg Sharrigan had passed away. Greg was removed by Maynard Fire and moved into the
detached garage out of view. I was informed by Maynard Fire that Greg was located behind a door in a crawl
space in the basement. I was also informed this appeared to be the location the explosion started and where the
fire was heaviest. It was determined that Carol Sharrigan was not present at the residence and was safely located.



 Maynard Police Department Page: 2    
  NARRATIVE FOR SERGEANT BRIAN P PETERSEN   

                   Ref:   21-836-OF
   

                 Entered: 09/02/2021 @ 2051       Entry ID: BPETE    
                Modified: 09/03/2021 @ 1711    Modified ID: BPETE    

 Carol later came to the police station and was notified of her husband’s passing by Chief Noble and
Lieutenant Cushing. Lieutenant Cushing made notification to CPAC and the Medical examiner’s office.
Detective Seeley responded to the scene and handled the remainder of the investigation.   

Sgt. Brian Petersen
Maynard Police Department
   



 Maynard Police Department Page: 1    
  NARRATIVE FOR PATROL JOSEPH GENNARO   

                   Ref:   21-836-OF
   

                 Entered: 09/02/2021 @ 2055       Entry ID: JGENN    
                Modified: 09/02/2021 @ 2125    Modified ID: JGENN    

1. On September 2, 2021 I was working the 3:00pm to 11:00pm uniformed patrol shift assigned to marked
cruiser #14. At approximately 4:10pm, I was sitting stationary on Main Street conducting traffic enforcement,
when I heard over the radio Maynard Fire dispatched to 27 Park Street for a report of a "funny smell" coming
from inside the house. About a minute after Maynard Fire was dispatched, Officer Davoll went over the radio
advising units he was notified of a possible explosion in the area of Park Street.

2. I activated my emergency blue lights and headed towards the area. While on the way, Officer Davoll radioed
to other units that their was an explosion at the residence and he needed assistance. I arrived on the scene, I
observed heavy from coming from multiple front and side windows, and the glass window in the front of the
house laying in the street across from the residence. I made my way to the back door of the residence with
Officer Davoll. We attempted to call out to anyone inside but did not get a response. We each attempted to make
entry into the home, however the smoke was to heavy. We continued to yell inside, I grabbed my flashlight and
attempted to shine it inside to see if anyone was near the door way, I was unable to see anything due to the heavy
smoke. Fire arrived on scene and was advised their was possibly two people inside the home. After attempting to
make entry in the back, I made my way to the front of the residence to assist fire, I observed heavy flames
coming from the front and sides of the residence.

Respectfully Submitted,
Officer Gennaro #31
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REGIONAL FIRE INVESTIGATION TEAM 
 

FIRE ORIGIN AND CAUSE INVESTIGATION REPORT 
 

 
Date of Report: September 22, 2021 
 
NFIRS Incident Type: 111 
Incident Street Address/Location: 27 Park St., Maynard, MA  01754  
Incident Date/Time (first reported): September 2, 2021 @ 16:14 
Fire Department Incident #: 211140  
 
 
 
FINAL REPORT 
 
 
 
PARTICIPATING FIRE INVESTIGATORS: 
 
 
The below listed personnel jointly participated in the fire investigation on Thursday September 2, 2021 
 
Mark S. Tomyl  IAAI-FIT  Lead            Maynard Fire Department / Mass District 14 FIU         978-897-1014 
Gregg Silverio  CFEI       O&C    Stow Fire Department / Mass District 14 FIU               978-897-4537         
David Nichols  IAAI-CFI  O&C    Concord Fire Department / Mass District 14 FIU         978-318-3489 
Roland Cormier               O&C            State Fire Marshal’s Office     978-567-3310 
Justin Peledge            O&C    State Fire Marshal’s Office                  978-567-3310 
Colleen Tanguay             Photos          MSP Crime Scene Unit      978-567-3310 
 
 

 
 
The below listed personnel rendered special assistance to the participating fire investigators on Thursday September 2, 2021 
 
Ed Mullen  Building Commissioner       Town of Littleton, MA 978-540-2420 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Massachusetts Fire District Fourteen 
P.O. Box 472 

Hudson, MA 01749 
508-928-2295 
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I. SYNOPSIS 
 
 
1. On Thursday September 2, 2021, at 16:14, the Maynard Fire Department received a report of odor investigation of 
strange smell in house at 27 Park St.  The report was received by business line phone call. Upon arrival, a box alarm was struck 
and the following units Engine 2 and Ladder 1 under the command of Captain King arrived on scene. The weather at the time of 
alarm was temp: 74 visibility; 10 surface: Dry wind: VAR 5 mph. 
 
2. The site of the alarm was a residential, 2 story wood frame single family, which faced North onto Park St.  Arriving units 
discovered orange material in the road, a possible electrical wire sheath and large window in roadway.  Upon closer approach light 
brown smoke emanating from A and D windows on division 1. Suppression operations were immediately begun.  The fire was not 
quickly extinguished.  The fire did require additional alarms. A second alarm was struck which brought a Concord Engine and 
Ladder, Stow Engine, Acton Engine and Ladder, Boxboro Engine, Hudson Engine, Sudbury Engine to the scene and Wayland and 
Carlisle covered the town.  C1 Chief Stowers took command at 16:31. There was 1 death caused by the fire.  There were 3 
persons injured as a result of the fire.  1 person was left homeless.  The fire did not extend to adjoining properties.  The fire caused 
an estimated $351,000 in damage. 
 
3. On Thursday September 2, 2021,  at 1701, the Massachusetts Fire District 14 FIU along with the Massachusetts State 
Police Fire & Explosion Section, assigned to the Office of the State Fire Marshal, received notification of this fire from Maynard 
Dispatch Center.  Investigators Tomyl, Silverio, Nichols responded for D-14. Trooper Roland Cormier was assisted in this 
investigation by Sgt Justin Peledge and  Lt. Colleen Tanguay of the Crime Scene Unit.  As a result of this investigation, the cause 
of the fire was ruled accidental, the case remains open at this time.  The Massachusetts State Police Fire & Explosion Section has 
referred the follow up investigation, awaiting DPU report.  
 
 
II. FINDINGS 
 
 
A. BUILDING/STRUCTURE INFORMATION 
 
 
1. The site of the fire was a two-story type V wood frame single family residence, of 1488 finished area square footage.  
Interior walls were wood lath and plaster. The exterior was covered in vinyl siding.  Roof covering was asphalt shingles. Foundation 
was stone masoned on the two-story section of the home un-masoned in single story portion. Basement flooring was poured 
concrete in the two-story portion and dirt in the single-story portion. A stairwell to basement was located on the B-wall from kitchen 
area, a staircase to second floor was located on B-wall mid-structure from hall. Four entrances to the property were a door on the 
A-side front door into living room, B-side door into kitchen area, door into basement on B-side, a glass panel door located on the C-
side. The building faced North onto Park Street.  
 
2. For the purpose of orientation, the following designations will be utilized henceforth in this report: Each side of the 
structure will be assigned an alphabetical designation, “A”, “B”, “C”, and “D”.  These designations remain constant for the interior 
and the exterior of the structure.  The designations will begin with what is considered the front side of the structure and proceed 
clockwise with each side designated as follows: The “A” side of the structure will be the front of the structure facing the street.  Side 
“B” will be the left side of the structure as you face the front entrance.  Side “C” will be the rear of the structure.  Side “D” will be the 
right side as you face the front entrance. 
 
3. The location, including building side designation, of the utilities are as follows: Gas service entered on B-side with a 
interior meter placement.  Water, electrical, telephone and cable entered on the D-side.  Oil tank fill and vent located on B-side.
  
4. The owner of the property was identified as Carol Sharrigan, 27 Park St., Maynard, MA DOB 09/06/1953                      
SS# XXX-XX-3077, phone# (H) 978-897-5352  (c) 978-793-1882. She was interviewed by Investigator Tomyl on September 15, 
2021 @ 10:56 at the Club Car Café in West Concord, MA., with son’s Ethan and Jason present.  Ownership of the site was 
executed on November 22, 1978.  The property was under the mortgage with North Main St., Bank with monthly payments of 
$1540.00.  The property was insured.  It was insured by Travelers Insurance for $290,000 for dwelling, $29,000 other structures, 
$145,000 personal property, $500,000 personal liability, $5,000 medical payments, $58,000 loss of use. 
 
5. There had not been recent renovations to the property.   
 
 
 
 
 
B. VICTIM LIST 
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1. Greg James Sharrigan 09/06/1953  028-44-5819 27 Park ST., Maynard, MA 
 
 
 
C. VICTIM INFORMATION 
 
 
1. Greg James Sharrigan died as a result of this explosion / fire.  He was found against a door separating the finished and 
dirt basement by FF. Jason Chasse His condition at the time of discovery was deceased due to untenable conditions.  The victim 
was removed from the scene by Concord fire personal and taken to the garage to await pick up by Medical Examiner’s Office 
personal.  
 
2. The victim did not receive medical treatment. 
 
3. Greg James Sharrigan was pronounced dead at 27 Park St., Maynard, MA. on September 2, 2021  at 1652 by crews on 
scene.  The attending Medical Examiner was name.  An autopsy was performed on date, time at location   by State Pathologist 
name.  The cause of death was determined to be the result of (explain cause of death).  At the time of this report no information 
was available, once received it will be included. 
 
 
 
D. WITNESS LIST 
 
 
1. Raymond Arseneau 10 Park St., Maynard, MA  978-897-7807 
 
2. Terry Gauthier  25 Park St., Maynard, MA  978-897-7117 
 
3. Liberty Pilsch  26 Park St., Maynard, MA  978-457-2991 
 
4. Capt John King  Maynard Fire Department  978-897-1014 
 
5. FF. Josh Schrader Maynard Fire Department  978-897-1014 
 
6. Julie Recco  30 Park St., Maynard, MA  
 
7. Brenda Geldart  42 Thompson St., Maynard, MA 978-897-3873 & 978-621-7844 
 
8. Bill Glanton  39 Thompson St., Maynard, MA 978-394-2017 
 
9. McKenna Daly  41 Thompson St., Maynard, MA 978-897-6999 
 
10. Capt. Angela Lawless Maynard Fire Department  978-897-1014 
 
11. Carol Sharrigan  27 Park St., Maynard, MA  978-897-5352 & 978-793-1882 
 
12.          Ofc. Eric Davoll  Maynard Police Department 978-897-1011 & 978-790-6439 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
E. WITNESS STATEMENTS 
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1. The investigation conducted several interviews with the following witnesses. 
 

 Raymond Arseneau stated the following: He was outside in his driveway at 10 Park St. when he heard a “boom”, followed 
by the sound of “raining glass”. He then walked down the street towards the sound and saw fire coming out of the front windows at 
27 Park St. He stated he smelled gas outside of this address. He described the fire as bright yellow with dark smoke. He stated 
that he knows the residents at 27 Park St., Greg (approx. 65 years old) and Carol. He stated that he is not aware of any work being 
done to the house recently. He last saw Greg out this morning walking his dog. They did not speak other than to wave “Hi”. 
 

Terry Gauthier stated the following: He was in his garage at 25 Park St. when he heard an “explosion” and saw smoke 
coming from the house across from his. He then saw the police officer, Eric, from next door go by, heading towards the front door 
of the house (27 Park St.). He followed Eric towards the front door of the house and saw Eric go inside briefly. Mr. Gauthier did not 
go inside. Eric got the resident’s dog out of the house. He stated that he knows the residents at 27 Park St. He last saw the 
resident (Greg) at approximately 11:30 AM this morning leaving his house, driving his car. Mr. Gauthier also stated that he thought 
he smelled gas in the basement of his house at approximately 6:30 AM this morning. He stated he does not have gas service to his 
house; his home is heated by oil. 
 

Liberty Pilsch stated the following: She was on the phone in the kitchen of her home at 26 Park St. when she heard a 
“boom”. She went to her front door, looked out, and saw the windows of the house directly across the street (27 Park St.) were 
blown out and lying in the street along with some insulation. At this time, she stated that there was no smoke or fire coming from 
the house, but approximately 30-60 seconds later she started seeing smoke coming out of the front windows. She went outside but 
stayed on her side of the street. She stated she knows the residents of 27 Park St., Greg and Carol. She was not aware of any 
work being done to their house. She stated that Carol works in Hudson at Hudson Art & Framing, and that Greg is an electrician. 
She saw that both of their cars were in the driveway and thought that they might be home. She yelled across the street, “Are you 
guys OK?”. She used her phone to call 911. She saw that Eric the police officer and Terry her neighbor went to the front door of the 
house. She stated that Greg and Carol usually keep the front door locked and generally use the side door coming and going. She 
took several pictures with her phone of the house on fire from outside of her house, through the front window on the first floor, and 
then from the 2nd floor. She later took Greg and Carol’s dog from the police officer (Eric) and brought him into her house. 
 

Captain King narrative: E-2 dispatched to address for the report of “a funny smell” in the home. Dispatch stated the caller 
stated he could not tell if it was CO or gas. As engine 2 was approaching the scene from Sudbury Road access E-2 crew saw what 
appeared to be an orange material in the middle of the road. Capt. King’s first reaction was that it was an electrical wire sheath 
used by Eversource to protect workers from contacting the wires...and that we had wires down. As we got closer crew realized it 
was orange foam insulation and a large window was lying on the opposite side of the road from the incident building. On arrival 
light brown smoke was emanating from A and D side windows that were blown out. It became apparent that there was some sort of 
explosion. E-2 on arrival was on opposite side of Park Street off the A/D corner of building. Captain King established command and 
requested Box Alarm be struck for the working fire. E-2 crew began to establish water supply. Reports on scene reported that 2 
residents were still in the building. During this short time of less than 2 minutes, the fire intensity dramatically increased with heavy 
fire coming out of A and D side windows. FF. Schrader ordered to try and make entry for a primary search. Captain King directed 1 
3/4 handline into front windows to knock down bulk of fire to facilitate rescue operation. The hose line was then moved to B side 
entry and FF Schrader took line and made entry in second rescue attempt. On arrival of Maynard L-1, crew was directed to make 
entry on the handline and join rescue effort with FF. Schrader. Fire was attacked from inside. Due to intensity of the fire crew was 
backed out of the building. Command requested a 2nd alarm assignment. Handlines were redirected into the window from exterior.  
 
 

FF Chasse directed to do a primary search of basement. As fire was brought under control access into basement was 
made again and a small entry door into a crawl space was found. Door would not open and was forcibly removed. At this time the 
crew found the victim behind and against the door. The victim was deceased as the conditions in the space prior to making access 
were untenable. As fire brought under control mutual aid companies were directed in for 2nd search for victims. Command was 
notified that the reported 2nd victim was accounted for. Crews were sent in for overhaul and found that that the first floor was 
unsafe. All crews were backed out of the building and a PAR was taken. Operation switched from interior to exterior operations. 
During firefighting operations Eversource Electric and Gas divisions were requested to secure utilities. Mutual aid companies 
worked with Eversource Gas to evaluate and meter neighboring homes as it became apparent that there was a gas leak in the 
area. 

 
 
 
 

 
Firefighter Schrader stated the following: Upon arrival he observed light smoke showing from the 1st floor A side windows, 

and that the window frames from those windows were already in the street. He entered the building via the C side entry to conduct 
a primary search but there was very low visibility, with dark smoke down to 1-2 feet from the floor. He attempted to search the 
second floor but was unable to ascend the stairs due to high heat. After backing out of the building, he and the first due crew 
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stretched a handline into the first floor through the B side entry. He observed the heaviest fire in the front (A side) room of the first 
floor, toward the A/B corner. 
 

Julie Recco of 30 Park St. stated the following: She was not home at the time of the fire/explosion, but the day prior to the 
fire, she was home all day cooking and her aunt told her that she smelled gas, but Julie dismissed it at the time due to the use of 
the stove much of the day. She did not notice the smell of gas the day of the incident. 
 

Brenda Geldart of 42 Thompson St. stated the following: She was home watching TV at approximately 4:15pm when she 
heard an explosion and crashing sounds. She went outside, looked down Park St. and saw smoke coming out of the front of the 
house at 27 Park St. and windows/glass still falling in the street. She did not smell gas or anything unusual at the time of the 
incident, nor recently prior to the incident. She stated that she knew the residents of 27 Park St. well and was not aware of any 
issues with their house or recent work done. 
 

Bill Glanton of 39 Thompson St. stated the following: Greg Sharrigan, the resident of 27 Park St., called him at 
approximately 11:30am on the day of the incident and told him that he smelled a strange smell in his house. He thought it was 
coming from under the 1st floor front room of his house and stated that it smelled like an animal had died under there. He asked 
Bill if he knew of any companies that would remediate something like that since Bill is a real estate agent, but Bill told him he was 
not aware of any companies who could provide that service. Mr. Glanton also stated that he was not aware of any other issues with 
the Sharrigan’s house, or any recent work performed, and that he was not home at the time of the fire/explosion. 
 

McKenna Daly of 41 Thompson St. stated the following: She was inside of her house at the time of the incident. She 
heard an explosion and went outside to investigate. She did not observe anything unusual on Thompson St, but then looked down 
Park St. and saw glass and windows down in the street, then soon saw smoke/flames coming from the front of 27 Park St. She did 
not smell gas or anything unusual at the time of the incident, nor recently prior to the incident. She does have a surveillance 
camera on the front of her house, but it did not capture any video of the incident, as it is pointed down toward the sidewalk in front 
of her house. 
 

Captain Lawless stated the following:  Assigned to Engine 1 fire watch duty beginning approximately 2230 on September 
2, 2021, til approximately 0730 September 3, 2021.  Watch was assigned post residential structure fire located at 27 Park Street 
with workmen on scene from Eversource.  Upon arrival, Eversource crews on scene working on possible natural gas leak in the 
street.  Holes were dug at the intersection of Sherman and Park and a second smaller hole was dug on Park Street in line with first 
hole.  Crew work concentrated on the Sherman Street hole throughout the noted time period.  Captain Lawless witnessed 
Eversource crew taking two sections of pipe out of the hole and placing on the pavement next to the hole, a backhoe picked up the 
pipe and removed from the area. 
 
 

Ofc. Eric Davoll stated the following:  He was on duty that day and performing traffic speed enforcement at Crowe Park 
0.2 miles away.  He heard the call for an odor investigation go out over the radio. A few moments later his girlfriend called him and 
“said to get over here (meaning home) something exploded”.  He responded down Sherman St. and was directed by a neighbor 
toward 27 Park St.  Upon arrive he reports smoke coming from the front of the house “not bad”, and the front windows had been 
blown out,  he did hear alarms sounding. He attempted to make entry through the “A” side door but was unable the door seemed 
jammed.  He then went to “B” side door was able to gain entry and was able to find and remove the family dog under heavy smoke 
conditions.  He then made entry via the “C” side door on his hands and knees, this area is the dinning area, he went to his right 
until coming the kitchen island.  At this point he reports the smoke and heat banked down too extreme he had to turn out and exit.  
He did not notice upon arrival or while on scene prior to transport to hospital any odor of gas.  As a resident of the neighborhood, 
he lives approx. 75 feet from the scene. As a resident he states occasional there is an odor of gas “occasional burp of the system”. 
He informed the investigator it was three (3) or four (4) years ago that Eversource replaced the gas line on Burnside St. and “a 
couple of months ago installed gas service to number seven (7) Sherman St.  Ofc. Davoll also supplied the investigation with video 
footage from his home camera from the time of the explosion at 16:15:45 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Carol Sharrigan provided a timeline of the prior 24 hours.   
Wednesday, September 1, Evening 
Rain was heavy with lots of water coming in on the Sherman St. side of the house – Greg was out emptying accumulated water. 
Noticed a musty, unusual smell; assumed it was from rain coming into dirt cellar. 
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Thursday, September 2, Morning 
9 a.m. – Smell was more noticeable; still thought it smelled like water/rain.  Aired out rooms and opened windows.  
 I drove to dentist and did a couple of errands. 
Noon - Greg drove me to work; I was leaving late so he was going to pick me up and join me for dinner out later.  He had a doctor’s 
appointment at 1 p.m. and planned to go to work after; said he could call the fire department if the smell was still there. 
Around 4:30 p.m. - Jason called me at work saying a neighbor had called him and told him of an explosion at the house.  He asked 
if I knew where Greg was – I assumed he was at work.  My neighbor Mike also called me and said he had the dog; offered to pick 
me up. I contacted my boss who was not in the shop that day; she drove me to Maynard. 
I called his workplace, Dyhydromatics, to see if Greg was there, and no one had seen him since early afternoon.  Also called 
Maynard Police and was told to go to the station, Jason was waiting for me. 
 
 
2. The fire was discovered by Ofc. Eric Davoll, 3/22/1984, at 14:17 on October 5, 2021.  He was on duty with the Maynard 
Police Department and heard the call for the odor on the radio then was notified by his girlfriend of an explosion and responded 
from 0.2 miles away.  Ofc. Davoll witness statement is included in this report. 
 
3. The first responding Police Officer to arrive on the scene of the fire was Officer Eric Davoll.  He became aware of the fire 
as the result of call from girlfriend at home heard explosion and called Eric.  Officer Davoll’s statement is included in this report  
 
4. The first responding fire unit to arrive at the scene was Engine 2 commanded by Capt. King.  On the crew were 
Firefighters Schrader, back step and FF. Boudreau, pump operator.  Capt. King reported that his first observations of the fire 
condition at the site were made upon arrival light brown smoke emanating from “A / D “corner.  He described the condition of the 
site as follows:  Reports on scene reported that 2 residents were still in the building.  During this short time of less than 2 minutes, 
the fire intensity dramatically increased with heavy fire coming out of “A and D” side windows.  Captain King ordered his crew to 
take the following action:  FF. Schrader ordered to try and make entry for a primary search.  Captain King directed a 1 ¾ handline 
into front windows to knock down bulk of fire to facilitate rescue operation.  The hose line was then moved to “B” side entry and FF 
Schrader took line and made entry in second rescue attempt. 
 
5. Firefighter Schrader was the first firefighter to enter the fire scene.  He had been ordered into the scene by Captain King.  
Firefighter Schrader provided the following remarks concerning the pre-entry condition of the scene: Smoke was light brown quickly 
changing to black. On approach he noted the front A side windows had been blown out.  Entry was made on C side through an 
unlocked door to attempt a primary search with reports of occupant inside.  He believed the seat of the fire to be in the A side living 
room area or crawl space below.  After rapid primary search FF Schrader exited to re-enter on B side with a hose line in a second 
rescue attempt and fire suppression. 
 
 
6. Chief Stowers took overall command of the fire suppression operations at 16:31 on Thursday September 2, 2021.  He 
relieved Captain King.  Upon taking command of the scene, he described the fire situation as follows: Chief Stowers, Car 1, 
assumed command at approximately 1631 hours. At that time, we had two lines working inside the building, with one or two 
occupants believed missing. Interior crews reported the floor was compromised, and we pulled all interior companies out of the 
building. When we thought it was safe enough, a crew was sent to division two to complete a primary search, nothing was found. A 
crew was sent to Division one to complete a search where they could reach safely, nothing was found. A crew was sent to the 
basement division, where a male victim was found deceased behind a door in the basement. It took extensive operations to 
remove the victim. The victim was placed in the garage awaiting the arrival of the medical examiner, who had been contacted by 
Maynard Police. Fire suppression efforts continued from the outside. Eversource electric arrived on-scene and removed the meter 
disconnecting electricity to the building. Eversource gas arrived and shut off the gas service to the house from the driveway. During 
the event, (2) Police Officers involved with the initial response were transported to Emerson for evaluation after suffering inhalation 
injuries. One firefighter was transported to Emerson Hospital for evaluation suffering from exertion. The fire was called under 
control at 1741 hours, holding all companies for extensive overhaul. Overhaul operations were difficult because they were 
performed from outside of the building. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
F. FIRE SCENE EXAMINATION 
 
 
1. On Thursday September 2, 2021, at 17:55 an examination of the fire scene was conducted by Massachusetts Fire District 
14 FIU and State Police investigators assigned to the Fire Marshal’s Office with assistance from Crime Scene Photographer. 
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Building Commissioner Ed Mullen and Inspector of Wiring Peter Morrison assisted with safety evaluation of structure.  Entry onto 
the premises was made immediately following fire suppression.  The scene examination concluded on Thursday September 2, 
2021, at 22:48.  
 
2. The fire scene examination methodology consisted of documentation of the exterior then the interior of the structure.  A 
systematic approach was utilized examining areas observed as least damage to areas of heaviest damage. 
 
3. Exterior examination of the fire site revealed area of greatest, outside observable fire damage, was on the A side first level 
and A/D corner, extending upward and along roof line.  The lowest point of external burn was midway down the A side windows 
and door. 
 
4. Interior examination of the fire site revealed that the lowest and most substantial areas of fire damage were located on 
first floor living room area and in the dirt basement area below the living room area in a general nondescript pattern, and was floor 
to ceiling indicating full room involvement.  Heavy charring was noted on the floor joists in the dirt basement area.  Other areas of 
the first floor showed no fire damage however large areas of plaster broken off the walls as a result of an explosion damage.  
Firefighters did no interior overhaul of fire scene to create this damage. 
 
5. The low burn areas were examined in closer detail.  This examination revealed:  Consistent, even burn patterns in both 
involved areas.  
 
 
6. The investigation revealed that the low burn area was frequented by Greg and Carol.  The area was used for storage.  
The last person at that location before the fire was Greg. He was there on September 2, 2021 at 16:14 and was investigating an 
odor in the dirt basement. 
 
7. The property was heated by a Beckett System 2000.  The heating unit was in the located finished side of basement.  The 
unit was fueled by oil, which was located in the finished side of basement.  The system was off for the season and was having no 
issues with system. 
 
8. The property was serviced by a 100 AMP electrical service. The main panel box was located on the D wall in finished 
basement.  The panel controlling circuits in the low burn area was located in the main panel.  There was one (1) light in the dirt 
basement operated by a pull string. 
 
 
 
 
E. SAMPLES AND ANALYSIS 
 
1. Lt. Collen Tanguay captured 171 digital photographic images in the course of the fire scene analysis. Investigator Tomyl 
captured video footage of house gas service line and meter leak test.  No other evidence was collected during this investigation.  
 
2.  Investigator Tomyl made a rough sketch not to scale of basement level using Assessor’s image and hand drawn not to 
scale of exterior. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
F. SECURITY 
 
 
1. Four entrances onto the property were identified.  The entrances are listed as follows: #1 Front door A side, #2 side door 
B side,  #3 B side basement entrance, #4 C side glass panel door.  The property was protected by key management.  Describe the 
general system and its operation, indicate where the control panels were and what condition they were found.   Windows were not 
secured, upon arrival of fire companies found several windows had been blown out. 
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2. The investigation revealed that there was no evidence of forced entry.   
 

3. The investigation revealed that the locked condition of the entry points at the time of the fire was: 3 of the 4 were 
unsecured, the conditions of these points are listed as follows:  A side front door sealed closed by blast, B side kitchen entrance 
was unlocked, C side glass panel door was unlocked, B side basement entrance was secured.   
 
 
 
G. FIRE PROTECTION 
 
 
1. The property was protected by a fire protection system which featured: hardwired combination detectors  
 
2. The system did operate properly at the time of the fire.  Upon arrival of Maynard Police Department there was report of 
alarms sounding.  
 
 
 
H. FIRE PROGRESSION TO OTHER STRUCTURES 
 
1. The fire at this location did not progress to other structures. 
 
 
I. ESTIMATED PROPERTY LOSS 
 
 
1. Estimated Building/Structure Loss: $291,000 
 
2. Estimated Contents Loss: $60,000 
 
3. Estimated Property Loss: $351,000 
 
 
 
J. WEATHER 
 
 
1. Weather data was collected from Weatherchannel-wunderground, for September 2, 2021, @15:54 
 temp: 74; visibility: 10; surface: Dry; wind: VAR 5 mph. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
III. CONCLUSIONS 
 
 
1. Based upon the information compiled during the course of the investigation, and derived from scientific methodology, it is 
this investigator’s opinion, that the origin of this fire was in the dirt basement primary and living room area secondary.  The most 
plausible hypothesis is that of fuel gas explosion. It is believed to be an accidental low order fuel gas explosion caused fire.   Part 
of that hypothesis is that the “strange odor” reported by the resident prior to the explosion was natural gas migrating underground 
from the leaks found out in the street.  Due to the heavy rains during this summer and very recent to the date of explosion, it may 
be plausible that the gas underwent “odor fade” (NFPA 10.9.9.2) due to wet ground conditions and soil type of clay.  However, 
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other possible sources of fuel gas may have come from one of the other three (3) fuel gas appliances in the home, two of which are 
located in the basement, and the odor unrecognized. The ignition source is plausible to have come from a spark/Arc from the light 
in the dirt basement that Mr. Sharrigan may have turned on upon entering the dirt basement area, the area which his body was 
found.  That switch will need to be forensically examined, as well as other electrical sources in the area of origin, as well as the plot 
light of the hot water tank. The fire may have spread quickly due to the saturation of building materials and household items being 
exposed to the gas for a period of roughly twenty-four (24) hours, which is the time frame occupants report noticing the “strange 
odor.” Incendiary was ruled out because there were no signs of it being intentionally set, Natural was ruled out because there were 
no signs of natural events on the date of the fire.  Interior examination was limited following the event due to interior structural 
damage; the building was deemed unsafe by Building Commissioner Ed Mullen.  
 
 
 
 
IV. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
1. This investigator respectfully recommends that this case: 
 
 Remain open pending further investigation with forensic testing of fuel gas equipment, fuel lines and soil sample analysis. 
 
 
 
V. ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Firefighter Statements:  Schrader, Chasse, Aubert, Boudreau, Capt. King, Capt. Lawless 
2. Police Officer Statements: Ofc. Brennan, Ofc Davoll  
3. Witness Interviews: Arseneau, Gauthier, Pilsch, Capt. King, FF. Schrader, Recco, Geldart, Glanton, Daly 
    Carol Sharrigan 
4. Time Line by Carol Sharrigan 
5. Photo Logs 
6. Exterior measurement sketch not to scale 
7. Email for contact information 
8. Assessors image not to scale used for basement level landmarks 
9. Assessors Street plot map used to mark trench cut with leaking gas line located 
10. Records request to Office of the Medical Examiner 
11. Evidence Return Receipt from Crime Lab for scene digital images 
12. Video Footage of line/ meter testing (contains incorrect date stamp) 
13. Photos taken by Crime Scene Unit 
14. Neighbor photos 
15. Recording of phone call 
16. Recording of Fire and Police Radio Communications 
17. Silverio Photos 
18. Scene Examination Notice 
19. Travelers Scene Examination Co-vid protocols  
20. JSE Sign in Sheet 9-7-21 
21. Mattaport Scene Diagram 

 
 

 
 
 
 

VI. REFERENCE MATERIAL 
  
 1. Unofficial Property Record Card 
 2. Weather Report for September 2, 2021 
 3. Building Permits X 8 
 4. Maynard Fire Department NFIRS report 
 5. Insurance Documents for 27 Park St. Maynard, MA.  01754 
 6. NFPA 921 Chapter 10 Building Fuel Systems 
 7. NFPA 921 Chapter  22 Explosions 
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Respectfully Submitted  
      

 
 
Mark S. Tomyl  IAAI-FIT 
Fire Investigator 
Maynard Fire Department 
Massachusetts Fire District 14 Regional Fire Investigation Team 
 
 
The preceding report is representative of the prominent known facts relative to this case and is not intended to represent all actions 
carried out during the course of the investigation of this incident. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PEER REVIEW BY: 
 
 
 Scott E. Navaroli 
 
 
Name: Scott E. Navaroli 
 
Title: Fire Investigator Technician 
 
Department: Southborough Fire Department, District 14 FIU 
 
Date: 10/11/2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW BY: 
 
 

Anthony Stowers 
 
Name: Anthony Stowers 
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Massachusetts State Police
Case Master Report  2021-117-507

Date Initiated  09/02/2021

Primary Information
Agency: Massachusetts State Police
Bureau: Division of Investigative Services
Division: Investigative Services 1
Unit: Fire & Explosion Investigation
Squad: Fire Investigation North Team
Lead LEO: Cormier, Roland (msp3561 / Fire Investigation North Team / Massachusetts State Police)
Type Of Case: Fire Investigation
Case Sub Type: Accidental
Case Description: Fire investigation: 27 Park St. Maynard
Case Priority: Medium

Case Status
Case Status: Closed
Case Status Date: 11/18/2021
Disposition Code: Closed/Completed
Disposition Date: 11/18/2021
Dissemination: Chain of Command
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Massachusetts State Police
FIRE INVESTIGATION REPORT  2021-117-507

Report Date:  09/02/2021

Primary Information
Description: Fire investigation: 27 Park St. Maynard
Dissemination Code: report respect the security of its associated case
Reporting LEO: Cormier, Roland (msp3561 / Fire Investigation North Team / Massachusetts State Police)
Backup LEO: Peledge, Justin (msp3336 / Fire Investigation North Team / Massachusetts State Police)
Report Status: Approved
Report Status Date: 11/23/2021
Approved By: Peledge, Justin (msp3336 / Massachusetts State Police)
Discovered/Reported: Passerby
Requester: Maynard Fire Department
Cause Of Fire: Accidental
COF Subcategory: Gas Leak
Injuries/Fatalities: Fatalities
K9: NO

Response Information
Time Dispatched: 09/02/2021 17:21

Property Information
Property Description: Two story residential
Property Use: Residential
Mobile: NO
Single/Multi Story: Multi-Story
Sprinklers: NO
Occupied: YES
Abandoned: NO
State Property: No

Fire Origin Information
Area/Origin Description
Basement A side crawl space

Synopsis
On Thursday, September 2, 2021 at approximately 1721hrs I was dispatched to 27 Park St. in Maynard. Maynard FD requested
assistance with an origin and cause investigation of a residential structure fire. Maynard reported one confirmed fatality. I responded
directly to the scene, met Tpr. Delaney (Middlesex SPDU), Sgt. Peledge, Maynard investigators, crime scene services and a joint
investigation was undertaken.
 
A scene examination was completed. The area of origin was located in the A-side crawl space of the basement. This is where the
victim was located. Eversource crews excavated the natural gas pipes in the street and located at least one leak.
 
Interviews were conducted. Neighbors stated that they had smelled the odor of natural gas prior to the fire. The victim had called a
friend earlier in the day to help identify the odor he had in his house. Prior to the explosion, the victim called 911 and reported a
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Massachusetts State Police
FIRE INVESTIGATION REPORT  2021-117-507

Report Date:  09/02/2021

Synopsis - Continued
 possible gas leak. The explosion occurred while emergency services were en route.
 
After the scene examination and interviews, it is the collective opinion of the investigative team that the fire is accidental in nature.
The cause is a natural gas leak in the street. The gas leak spread into the basement of 27 Park Street. The victim may have
inadvertently initiated the explosion when inspecting the leak. There is no evidence of an incendiary event.

Address #1 - LOCATION OCCURRED #1 - 27 Park St
Primary Information
Address: 27 Park St, MAYNARD, MASSACHUSETTS 01754 UNITED STATES

Subject #1 - VICTIM #1 - SHARRIGAN, GREG JAMES
Primary Information
Subject Name: SHARRIGAN, GREG JAMES
Record Type: PERSON
Bio:  Unknown, MALE
Birth Date:
Juvenile: NO

 

Relationship Information
Alcoholic: NO
Drug Addict: NO
Sex Crime: NO
Juvenile Crime: NO
Senior Abuse: NO
Child Abuse: NO
Gang Related: NO
Victim Type: ADULT
Victim Rights Provided: NO
Exempt From Disclosure: NO
Extent Of Injury: FATAL

 

Personal Information
Height: 508

 

Addresses
Relationship Address
MAILING ADDRESS 27 Park St, MAYNARD, MASSACHUSETTS 01754 UNITED STATES

Subject #2 - WITNESS #1 - GELDART, BRENDA A
Primary Information
Subject Name: GELDART, BRENDA A
Record Type: PERSON
Bio:  Unknown, FEMALE
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Massachusetts State Police
FIRE INVESTIGATION REPORT  2021-117-507

Report Date:  09/02/2021

Subject #2 - WITNESS #1 - GELDART, BRENDA A - Continued
Primary Information - Continued
Birth Date:
Juvenile: NO

 

Relationship Information
Extent Of Injury: NONE

 

Personal Information
Height: 502

 

Addresses
Relationship Address
MAILING ADDRESS 42 Thompson St, MAYNARD, MASSACHUSETTS 01754 UNITED STATES

Subject #3 - WITNESS #2 - GLANTON, WILLIAM
Primary Information
Subject Name: GLANTON, WILLIAM
Record Type: PERSON
Bio:  Unknown, MALE
Birth Date:
Juvenile: NO

 

Relationship Information
Extent Of Injury: NONE

 

Personal Information
Height: 511

 

Addresses
Relationship Address
MAILING ADDRESS PO BOX 592, MAYNARD, MASSACHUSETTS 01754-0592 UNITED STATES

Subject #4 - WITNESS #3 - MOSELEY, JULIE MICHELLE RACHEL
Primary Information
Subject Name: MOSELEY, JULIE MICHELLE RACHEL
Record Type: PERSON
Bio: , Unknown, FEMALE
Birth Date:
Juvenile: NO

 

Relationship Information
Extent Of Injury: NONE

 

Personal Information
Height: 510
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Massachusetts State Police
FIRE INVESTIGATION REPORT  2021-117-507

Report Date:  09/02/2021

Subject #4 - WITNESS #3 - MOSELEY, JULIE MICHELLE RACHEL - Continued
Addresses
Relationship Address
MAILING ADDRESS 30 Park St, MAYNARD, MASSACHUSETTS 01754 UNITED STATES

Subject #5 - WITNESS #4 - NAIR, SHASHIDHAR
Primary Information
Subject Name: NAIR, SHASHIDHAR
Record Type: PERSON
Bio: , Unknown, MALE
Birth Date:
Juvenile: NO

 

Relationship Information
Extent Of Injury: NONE

 

Personal Information
Height: 504

 

Addresses
Relationship Address
MAILING ADDRESS 40 Thompson St, MAYNARD, MASSACHUSETTS 01754 UNITED STATES

Narrative begins on the following page.
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Massachusetts State Police

Fire Investigation Report

NOTIFICATION AND RESPONSE:

1. On Thursday, September 2, 2021 at approximately 1721hrs I was dispatched to 27 Park
St. in Maynard. Maynard Fire Department requested assistance with an origin and cause
investigation of a residential structure fire. Maynard Fire Department reported one confirmed
fatality. Prior to the fire, the victim had called 911 to report a strange odor in his house. An
explosion occurred shortly before first responders arrived. I responded directly to the scene, met
Tpr. Delaney (Middlesex SPDU), Sgt. Peledge, District 14 investigators, crime scene services
and a joint investigation was undertaken.

BUILDING INFORMATION:

2. The building is a two story residential structure. It is wood framed with aluminum-vinyl
siding. It contains an oil fueled H/W heating system as well as multiple gas fed appliances. It has
a stone foundation with a crawl space located on the A side. The building was originally
constructed in 1910.

FIRE SCENE EXAMINATION:

The fire scene examination was conducted in two phases; 1) an exterior examination, and, 2) an
interior examination. State Police Crime Scene Services photographed the scene. 

3. The exterior examination was conducted by completing a 360 degree walk around of the
structure, starting with the front, or A-side, of the building. The A-side of the structure sustained
the heaviest damage. The A- side windows were located across the street in the neighbor’s yard.

4. The interior examination was conducted by following a systematic approach of least
damage to the greatest amount of damage. The heaviest damage was confined to the A-side of
the structure. More specifically, the A-side crawl space and the room above it. Heavy charring
and a partial collapse of the first floor was observed here. The investigative team determined this
to be the area of origin.

5. The basement was intact. Appliances in the basement were undamaged and were able to
be examined. Investigators were able to access the A-side crawl space through a small door in the
basement. According to a witness, the victim’s body was discovered behind this closed door in
the crawlspace. The only observable heat source in the crawlspace was a pull chain light
connected to the ceiling, just in front of the small door. A water pipe ran through the space
connecting the basement to the street.



6. During the scene examination, Eversource employees checked natural gas readings in
neighboring buildings. Natural gas was detected in at least two nearby basements. Buildings #25
and #26 Park St. had high levels of natural gas readings. Building #25 doesn’t contain any natural
gas appliances. Eversource crews excavated gas pipe on Park St. and located at least one leak.

INTERVIEWS:

7. A neighbor, Julie Moseley-DOB , was interviewed. She resides at # 30 Park
Street. Julie wasn’t home at the time of the fire. The previous night her aunt was over for dinner.
Her aunt insisted that she open all the windows in the house because she believed she smelled
gas.

8. A neighbor, Brenda Geldart-DOB  was interviewed. She resides at #42
Thomspon Street. At approximately 4:15 PM she was watching T.V. when she heard an
explosion/crashing sound. She looked at the house and saw smoke blowing out the windows. She
observed that the glass was still falling in the street. She didn’t smell gas or anything unusual
prior to the fire.

9. A neighbor, William Glanton-DOB  was interviewed. The victim, identified as
Greg Sharrigan-DOB , called Glanton at approximately 11:30 AM the day of the
incident to report that the smelled strange in the front two rooms of the house. It smelled like an
animal had died. He thought the smell was coming from under the porch. He wanted to know if
Glanton knew anybody that could assist him with it. William told him that he didn’t know of
anyone that could help.

10. A neighbor, Shashidahr Nair- DOB , was interviewed. He was working at
home at approximately 4:15 PM when he heard an explosion. He thought his roof collapsed. He
observed white smoke coming from the house before the fire started.

Witness interviews conducted by District 14 investigators are attached to this report.

FIRE CAUSE AND CONCLUSION:

11. After the scene examination and interviews, it is the collective opinion of the
investigative team that the explosion and the fire are accidental in nature. A natural gas leak
originating from the street is the cause of the explosion and the fire. After the victim called 911
to report the odor, he may have inadvertently ignited the gas when he went into the crawl space
to inspect the source of the odor. The most probable ignition source is the pull chain light fixture
near where the victim was discovered. I request this case be closed, pending any new information
that requires it's reopening.

(c)

(c)

(c)
(c)

(c)
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REPORT TO: 
 
 
 

Eversource Energy 
Westwood, MA 

 
 
 

Attn: Marissa Goldberg 
 
 
 

Purchase Order No. 13045332 
 
 

Analysis of a Leaking Gas Main From  
27 Park Street, Maynard, MA 

 
 

MMR Project No. 142001 
 
 
 

January 12, 2023 
 
 
 

From: 
Massachusetts Materials Research 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fahmida Hossain, Ph.D. 
Director of Materials Engineering 
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1.  BACKGROUND AND INVESTIGATION 
 
Massachusetts Materials Research (MMR) received a 7’ section of a gas main on September 3, 
2021. The section contained a valve and a coupling. The information provided on the segment is 
shown below:  
 

Items from an incident were dropped off on September 3, 2021. 
 

Report filed on behalf of NSTAR GAS COMPANY d/b/a EVERSOURCE ENERGY. Based 
upon the initial narrative provided by the Maynard Fire Department to Eversource, on 
September 2, 2021 at 16:14, the Maynard Fire Department dispatch resources to 27 Park 
St., Maynard, MA due to an odor call. The Maynard Fire Department arrived on site at 
16:17 to a structure fire. Eversource received a call from the Maynard Fire Department 
at 16:33 notifying Eversource of the subject structure fire. Eversource coordinated with 
the Maynard Fire Department, Massachusetts State Fire Marshall, and state regulatory 
agency on site. The situation was made safe through a mainline repair on September 3, 
2021. A section of the main with a coupling was secured and delivered to the 
Massachusetts Material Research facility for 3rd party analysis. Neither the Maynard 
Fire Department nor the State Fire Marshall reports have been released at this time. 
Please note the following as it relates to this report: Part A.4, A.12 This was the time the 
Company commenced a leak investigation during which gas readings were detected. The 
final failure and cause of the Incident is still pending the investigation. Part A.21 The 
Company responded yes based upon the initial narrative provided by the Maynard Fire 
Department and gas readings found in near proximity to the structure fire. Neither the 
Fire Department nor the State Fire Marshall have issued their findings as to whether 
released gas caught fire. 

 
Information on the subject incident on one of the published news is shown below: 
 

A gas leak caused a deadly house explosion in Maynard, Mass. last Thursday. Fire crews 
responded to the scene at 27 Park Street after receiving reports of a gas-like small 
coming from the house. Firefighters arrived to find a quickly growing fire with smoke 
coming out of the windows of the house. The flames were so intense that neighbors 
reported feeling the heat inside their homes. Sadly, a man in his 60s was found dead in 
the basement. It is unknown if anyone else was home at the time of the blast, but 
neighbors told NBC10 Boston that “a lovely couple has lived there for over 40 years.” 

 
MMR was requested to perform an investigation on the subject gas main with a coupling and a 
valve and determine the root cause of the failure/leaking of the segment. The coupling was 
mentioned to be a Dresser coupling for gas mains which are routinely used to join pipe segments. 
The pipe was installed in 1968. This was noted by Eversource GIS system the night of the 
incident and is documented in their response to 21-PL-74 IR 1-9. 
 
1.1  Testing Protocol 
 
The examination of the pipe segment was generally governed by the following test and 
evaluation protocol:  
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Test and Evaluation Protocol 
Analysis of a Leaking Gas Main Segment (~6’ long) with a Valve and a Coupling 

27 Park Street, Maynard MA 
MMR Project No. 142001, Proposed Date of Investigation 7/13/22 – 7/14/22 

 
Item 
No. 

Description Purpose 

1 Service arrangement layout and as-received visual 
examination and photography. Light cleaning of name 
plates, if necessary, to reveal part 
information/manufacturers. 

Document as-received condition of service components 
and any manufacturer information surviving any 
damage. 

2 Verify bolt positions of the coupling including outside 
of coupling nuts. Index mark bolt/nut positions as-found 
and the valve stem position as-found.  Measure the 
distance from the bolt head to the nut for all bolts. 

Try to establish proper/improper engagement of 
bolting. 

3 Verify valve position and any disturbance. To establish proper assembly 
4 Eversource Energy will provide an exemplar with end-

caps to practice the leak testing. 
 

5 First, perform borescope examination of the pipe.  The borescope inspection will provide information on 
the internal condition of the pipe. Evidence of any 
leaks. 

6 Next perform, the leak/flow rate testing of the pipe 
segment with air and soap water spray on the outer 
diameter.  Perform leak testing as follows:  Supply air 
pressure (regulated) starting at 2 psi and then increasing 
pressure to 5 psi, 10 psi, 20 psi, 30 psi, 40 psi, 50 psi, 55 
psi, and 60 PSI.   Manual ramping of the supply pressure 
is fine.  Pressure not to exceed 60 psig.   
 
Flow rates to be measured in the supply piping and at a 
test item internal pressure of 60 psig.  Test item internal 
pressure measurement to be taken downstream of any 
flow rate device or high-friction-loss test stand 
component.  Minimize test stand piping/tubing between 
test item pressure gauge and test item.  
 
 
After leak testing is completed, sample materials of soil, 
sand, potential corrosion product, or other substances on 
the evidence item, as requested by attendees, and 
preserve the same.  This step may be repeated in 
additional areas if leak locations are identified through 
future steps. 

Document any leaks and leak flow in service 
components. 
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Test and Evaluation Protocol (continued) 

 
7 Portable Digital X-ray/radiography of components, 

valve, coupling with pipe. A reference scale 
(penetrometer) should be included in the X-ray imagery 
to allow for accurate photogrammetry, if necessary. 

Document internal condition of parts and allow 
modification of testing protocol, if necessary. 

8 Borescope examination of the Gas main, if necessary, 
after radiography. Comment- Borescope examination 
should first be performed before the leak/flow rate 
testing (#5).  It can be repeated again afterwards if 
requested. 

Document as-received condition of pipe valve and 
coupling internals. 

9 Sectioning of the pipe in segments as necessary. A four-
wheel pipe cutter will be used to minimize any 
disturbance and vibration on the pipe and fittings. 
Eversource Energy will bring the pipe cutter. An OQ 
Eversource employee will operate the pipe cutter and 
perform the cutting.   

To facilitate further inspection. 

10 Re-borescope the interior of the segmented pipe.  
11 In the event multiple leak locations, the item’s piping 

will be cut into segments to isolate individual leak 
locations/components.  Re-leak-test individual segments 
at the earlier described increments to 60 psig to identify 
leak rate of individual leak locations/components.   

 

12 If agreed upon by all the parties, unwrap black tape from 
pipe sections on either side of valve.  Examine area. 

 

13 In-detail visual and stereomicroscope examinations of 
the coupling. 

Verify overall condition. 

14 If necessary, and if agreed upon by all parties, 
disassemble bolting of the coupling to release the pipe 
segments.  Count the number of turns-to-free for each 
bolt.  Please note that Travelers may object to this step 
or request additional steps first if a leak is identified at 
the bolt-force generated seal during leak testing. 

Allow inspection of the pipe segments. 

15 In-detail visual stereomicroscope examinations of the 
valve. 

Low power magnification to provide details on 
referenced items. 

16 In-detail visual stereomicroscope examinations of the 
pipe on selected representative areas. If the leaking is on 
the pipe, that area will be excised for examination. 

Low power magnification to provide details on 
referenced items. 

17 Identify failed/leaking areas for further analysis.  If 
possible: a) excise coupons of the evidence item which 
include the entirety of each leak location for more 
detailed inspection, analysis and testing; b) excise 
coupons from like-areas complementing the leak 
locations, which do not contain leaks; c) obtain thickness 
measurement of pipe/coupling/valve wall in area of 
leak(s) and complementary areas. 

To isolate the failed areas for further examination. 
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Test and Evaluation Protocol (continued) 

 
18 Stereomicroscope/3D Digital microscopy of revealed 

cracks/fractures/blow holes in various assemblies. 
Low power magnification to provide details on 
referenced items. 

19 Cleaning and/or coating of any fractures, blow hole 
areas if necessary. 

Allow scanning electron microscopy of metallic and/or 
polymeric fractures. 

20 Scanning electron microscopy of any fractures or blow 
holes to include energy dispersive x-ray spectroscopy 
analysis, if necessary. 

Detail microscopy to reveal fracture mode, elemental 
analysis of any anomalies (i.e. corrosion byproduct, 
filler clusters at origin, etc.) noted on failed areas. 

21 Metallurgical/cross-sectional examination of fractures or 
pin-hole/blow hole areas, if necessary. 

Examine material structure at and near any revealed 
fractures. 

22 Examination of the gaskets, if any, from the assembled 
fittings.  Obtain sample of pipe exterior coating material 
and or coating on the coupling & valve if applicable.  
Perform FTIR and spectroscopy/EDS as necessary to 
identify constituent material. 

Document materials of construction. 

23 Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy/EDS of 
gaskets or other polymeric components, if necessary. 

Measure any degradation of the components. 

0 Other testing as necessary. Adjust to findings during investigation. 
Note:  Investigation is expected to be two (2) days. However, depending on the findings, it may run into a third day. 
*Photography is assumed to be part of all protocol steps involving fractography or metallurgical examination. 
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A Protocol conference was held on March 16, 2022. The root cause failure investigation was 
performed at MMR on July 13, 14, 15, 2022. The sign in sheets for the attendees at the 
investigation are provided in the appendix section at the end of the report. 
 
On Day 1 of the investigation, overall examination without any disturbance of the components 
were performed with photographic documentation. Digital Radiography was performed on the 
entire pipe length including the components. A pressure test was performed on an exemplar 
similar pipe segment (without any attachments), submitted by Eversource. The air pressure 
gauge available at MMR was not significantly sensitive to determine accurately lower pressures 
and the flow rates. At that point it was decided that the next day (Day 2) Eversource and GAI 
Industries would bring their own more accurate and sensitive pressure gauges and air pressure 
equipment to pressurize an exemplar and the subject gas line to determine the leaking/failure 
location of the segment at the pressure at which the leaking occurs. The flow rates at different 
pressures would be measured also. At the end of the testings, segments were excised to smaller 
pieces to facilitate further in-detail examination. On Day 3 of the investigation, further sectioning 
of the failed areas and metallurgical examination, including stereomicroscope and electron 
scanning microscope, were performed. 
 
On the failed locations, Energy Dispersive X-ray Spectroscopy (EDS) was performed to 
determine the elements present in the debris around the failure. EDS is a semi-quantitative 
microchemical analysis technique performed using equipment attached to the scanning electron 
microscope (SEM).  This is an elemental analysis technique. The graphs obtained from the EDS 
analysis are called “spectrograms.”  The peak heights of each element on the graph indicate the 
relative amounts of the elements present in the particular area analyzed.  The elements are 
reported qualitatively as major, minor and trace amounts. This analysis would identify any 
aggressive species in the corrosion debris which could have contributed to the failure. 
 
Smaller cross-sections at the failure location were encased in plastic, ground and polished, to 
facilitate optical microscope examination. The encased pieces were prepared using standard 
metallographic techniques resulting in “metallurgical mounts". The mounts were examined both 
in the unetched and etched conditions. Note that in the unetched condition any surface corrosion 
attack, depth of attack, inclusions, pores/voids in the material are identified. In the etched 
condition the structure of the material is developed and analyzed for any anomalies. A 2% nital 
etchant was used. 
 
 
2.  RESULTS 
 
2.1  As-received Visual Examination 
 
An overall view of the subject gas main segment with the valve and coupling is shown in Figure 
1. Close-up views starting from right-hand side traveling towards the left are in Figures 2-10. 
The coupling appeared to be in a severely corroded condition. The valve was covered with dirt 
and rust and the actual condition could not be determined from the overall views. There was 
black tape noted on the pipe outer diameter (OD) in the areas adjacent to the valve and this is a 
standard practice. The overall OD of the pipe segments displayed a greenish colored 
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paint/coating. There was presence of soil on the pipe OD surface in some areas, however, no 
significant rusting or any other anomalies were observed. Some markings were noted on the pipe 
pieces which are displayed in Figures 11-15. In some locations the OD coating appeared to be 
disturbed, Figure 11, which was likely during the handling of the segment. No identification 
markings were identifiable on the coupling or on the valve. 
 
The OD of both pipe segments were measured to be about 2.400” with the wall thickness of 
about 0.170”. The inner diameter (ID) was measured at 2.060”. No movement was noted on the 
coupling or the valve from its original assembled position. Areas of possible wall 
thinning/leaking were noted adjacent to one edge of the coupling (nut ends of the bolts). 
 
For reference purposes, the upright position of the valve was identified to be at 12 o'clock 
location and the bottom of the valve would be at 6 o'clock. 
 
2.2  Borescope Examination 
 
Limited Borescope examination was performed on the pipe segment without any positive 
identification of a leaking spot. 
 
2.3  Digital Radiography 
 
Distances were measured starting at zero on the right hand side in Figure 1. The 12 o’clock 
position (top of the valve in assembly) was identified as 90°and 3 o’clock position at 0°. 
Radiographs were taken both at 0° and 90° orientations as needed. The gas main did not show 
any wall thinning or any other discontinuities/anomalies along the entire length. The valve and 
valve/pipe joint areas did not show any anomalies also. The coupling tube and bolts displayed 
significant wall thinning due to corrosion. The wall thinning for the coupling tube was from OD 
surface. Wall thinning was present at ~58” marking slightly inboard of the coupling edge on the 
bolt/nut side. The wall thinning area appeared to be isolated to this location and was in-line with 
the ~7 o’clock position. Representative views from the DR are presented in Figures 16a-16i. 
Figure 16d shows the gap between the two coupled pipes. 
 
2.4  Pressure Testing 
 
On Day 2 of the investigation, with the available sources, pressure testing was initially 
performed on an exemplar pipe segment and with the available source the pressure was held 
stable at ~60 psi with ~800 cfh flow rate. Next, the subject pipe segment was tested.  
 
An overall view of the subject pipe segment for the pressure test setup is in Figure 16. An epoxy 
glass cover was placed around the coupling to stop any sudden fly-out of any particles during the 
testing (Figure 17). The valve is shown in Figure 18. Note that the segment was laid down with 
the 12 o'clock (upright position in assembly) sidewise. The segment was placed in this position 
for easiest way of laying out the components. 
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For the leaking pipe segment, at the initial stage a gauge from 0 to 200 psi was used. The 
pressure was increased gradually, holding for some time, typically at an interval of 10 psi; this 
would increase the flow rate also. Both the flow rate and pressure were measured. For the initial 
portion, ~200 cfh flow was measured at a pressure of ~10 psi. Next, the gauge was changed to 
read between 100 and 1,000 cfh of the flow rate. The pressure was increased gradually. A slow 
leaking was noted at a pressure of ~10 psi. The pipe segment could be pressurized up to a 
pressure of 50 psi with a flow rate of 400 cfh. At the next increase, the flowrate was at 410 cfh 
and the pressure at 56 psi where a significant leaking was noted on the coupling at a location 
closer to one of the edges of the coupling and on the side further away from the valve. At this 
location wall thinning was identified visually and in DR. Most leaking was noted at around 7 
o'clock position and views of leaking with air bubbles from soap spray are presented in Figures 
19-21. Another small leak was observed at around 4 o'clock. The chart below displays the flow 
rate/pressure values. 
 

Chart:  Pressure Testing Results of the Failed Gas Main 
 

Flow rate 
(cfh) 

Pressure 
(psi) 

@source/@inlet 
Comments 

160 5/5 stable 
200 10/9 stable – slow leak noted 
220 13/12 stable – slow leak noted 
240 14/13 stable – slow leak noted 
250 15/13 leak rate increased 
300 20/19 leak rate increased 
330 25/24 leak rate increased 
360 30/30 leak rate increased 
370 35/35 leak rate increased 
390 40/40 leak rate increased 
400 45/45 leak rate increased 
400 40/50 leak rate increased 
410 56/56 leak rate increased significantly 

 
 
Views of the coupling after the pressure testing are in Figures 22-26. The arrows point to two 
through hole leaks identified at around 7 o'clock. Note that these through wall leaks were 
covered with rust or oxidation debris before the pressure testing and were not obvious. During 
the pressure testing, the oxidation/corrosion debris was forced out and the through wall holes 
were clearly visible. The long bolts of the coupling were identified as 1, 2 and 3 arbitrarily and 
the overall views are in Figures 25, 27 and 28. Note that the leaking position at around 4 o'clock 
was not obvious at this point. Next the long bolts were sectioned off using a bandsaw. The views 
after removing the bolts are in Figures 29-31. The green lines in Figures 30 and 31 show the cut 
lines and the witness lines. The segment between the two circumferential parallel green lines 
would contain the leaking positions. A band saw was used to make the cuts, Figure 32. Views of 
the segments after the circumferential cuts are in Figures 33-39. From the overall views the gas 
main pipe inside the coupling appeared to be in good condition without any evidence of 
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corrosion or wall thinning. The OD wall of the coupling appeared to be significantly corroded; 
the ID wall appeared to be in good condition. There was a polymer liner on the ID of the 
coupling and around the OD of the gas main. The three removed bolt sections are in Figure 36. 
Figure 40 shows a schematic of the cuts on the excised segment with the leaks. The smaller 
segment containing the leaks were identified with clock positions, Figures 37-39. This shows a 
lengthwise cut to be made along 3 and 9 o'clock line and followed with the cut in the lengthwise 
direction at 6 o'clock. This would separate the 7 o'clock and 4 o'clock leaking locations. The gas 
main segment at the leaking location inside the coupling is in Figure 41. The polymeric liner at 
the ID of the coupling is in Figure 42. All of them appeared to be in good condition. There was 
some evidence of rust colored deposit on the polymer lining. The half diameter section 
containing the 12 o'clock position is displayed in Figures 43-47. The views clearly show 
significant corrosion of the OD of the coupling, no significant oxidation/corrosion on the ID of 
the coupling or on the ID/OD of the gas main. The polymer liner appeared to be in good 
condition. The ID of the coupling displayed a reddish colored paint/coating. The OD of the gas 
main displayed a greenish colored paint/coating. 
 
Views of the segment containing the leak are in Figures 48-57. This segment contained the 
welded seam on the polymeric coupling, Figures 48 and 49. The weld seam location was at 
around 5-6 o'clock location in assembly. These views show a deep corrosion pit at around 4 
o'clock location which revealed slight leaking during the pressure testing. OD views of 4 o'clock 
and 7 o'clock locations are in Figures 51 and 52, respectively. The ID view of these two locations 
are in Figure 53. Through wall holes are observed at 7 o'clock. The 4 o'clock location displayed a 
large rust type debris on the ID. Overall view of the segment containing the leaks are in Figure 
54 showing the ID of the coupling, polymeric liner and the gas main. The OD view of these 
segments are in Figure 55. 
 
Next, additional cuts were made closer to the leaking areas for mounting purposes. Arrows in 
Figures 57 and 58 show the mounted plane for 4 o'clock and 7 o'clock leaking locations. 
 
Overall view of the mount at 4 o'clock is in Figure 59 and that at 7 o'clock is in Figure 60. Two 
through wall holes are obvious in the 7 o'clock location. The mount at 4 o'clock shows presence 
of oxide scale at the through hole location with small areas of leaking passage. The views clearly 
showed that there was significant corrosion from the OD surface of the coupling and the wall 
thickness was reduced to knife edges at the leaking locations. Other areas of the coupling also 
displayed significant corrosion.  
 
2.5  Stereomicroscope Examination 
 
Stereomicroscope examination was performed on the excised smaller segments with leaking 
areas. For the leaking location at 4 o'clock, visually a through wall penetration was not obvious. 
However, stereomicroscope examination showed that there were small areas of through wall leak 
path among the tightly packed corrosion debris. An overall view of this location is displayed in 
Figure 61 with a higher magnification in Figure 62. The OD surface adjacent to this location 
displayed some parallel markings only present adjacent to this location. An overall view of this 
area in Figure 56 shows these markings; the markings are almost at a 45° angle to the lengthwise 
direction of the coupling. Overall views of these markings are obvious in Figures 63 and 64. 
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Note that this area on the OD of the coupling has been significantly corroded reducing the 
overall wall thickness. Presence of these markings may indicate that the surface was in contact 
with a surface from which impression was created on this location. Even with wall thickness 
loss, the impression was still there indicating that the surface was in close contact with this 
mating external surface. The views from the ID surface at this location are in Figures 65 and 66; 
the views clearly show the tightly packed corrosion debris in the area. Figure 67 shows the cut 
line and the mounted plane through this location. 
 
For 7 o'clock location the wall was significantly thinned due to corrosion. Note that there were 
two through holes at this location; the mount was prepared through the longer hole and the 
mounted plane is shown in Figure 68.  
 
2.6  SEM/EDS Analysis 
 
For the SEM views the sample identification/location, magnification and other pertinent 
information are provided on the lower left-hand side corner of each micrograph. For the EDS 
spectrograms, the sample analysis location is shown on top of each graph. At the bottom of each 
graph the semiquantitative analysis results are displayed which are normalized to 100 wt.%. 
 
The analysis was performed only on the OD surface as the corrosion and wall thickness occurred 
from this surface and the ID surface was relatively smooth without any significant anomalies. 
 
4 o’clock Pit:  An overall view of this pitted area is in Figure 69. The areas identified in 
rectangular boxes were analyzed by EDS and the spectrograms are in Figures 70 and 71 from the 
areas. One location away from the corrosion pit was also analyzed, Area 3 (not in the view), and 
the spectrogram is in Figure 72. Note that the samples were not cleaned before the EDS analysis. 
In all the areas similar elements were identified which are:  major amounts of oxygen  
(O, ~30 wt.%) and iron (Fe, ~50 wt.%); minor amounts of carbon (C, ~10% wt.%) and chlorine 
(CL, ~8 wt.%); trace amounts of silicon (Si), sulfur (S), aluminum (Al) and chromium (Cr). The 
levels of trace elements are <1wt.%. The elevated level of oxygen indicates that there is iron 
oxide on the surface and inside the pit created during oxidation/corrosion of the iron base 
material. The level of chlorine is higher (~10 wt.%) inside the pit compared to the away location 
(~5 wt.%). This would indicate that chlorine is the aggressive element on the OD surface which 
is causing the corrosion of the steel coupling material. The source of carbon is likely an organic 
coating which was present (probably) on the OD surface of the coupling tube. Note that on the 
ID surface there is a reddish coating/paint present on the coupling. However, on the OD surface 
there is no evidence of any paint as the original surface is corroded away. If there was no coating 
present on the original coupling tube surface, then carbon is indicative of the soil/dirt present as 
organic contamination. Elements sulfur, silicon and chromium can be present in trace amounts in 
the material itself; the elevated levels of these elements can also come from the soil surrounding 
the coupling tube. 
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An overall view of the corroded area on the ID is displayed in Figure 73. The areas identified 
were analyzed by EDS and the spectrograms are presented in Figures 74-76. The areas again 
displayed elevated level of oxygen indicative of iron oxides. The level of carbon is elevated on 
the ID surface compared to the OD. This likely confirms that the carbon is from the coating 
which was found to be present on the ID in most of the locations. In some areas levels of 
aluminum and silicon are elevated which may be from the coating or from the soil/dirt on the OD 
surface. There was consistent presence of elemental chlorine on all the areas identified. Note that 
the chlorine is from the OD surface environment which penetrated through the through wall hole 
locations to the inside surface of the tube. 
 
Figures 77 and 78 show two areas on the ID away from the corrosion pit. In these areas the 
reddish type paint was intact. The level of carbon is at ~50 wt.% with oxygen at ~20 wt.% in 
these areas. There are minor amounts of iron (~9 wt.%) and zinc (~11 wt.%) together with trace 
amounts of aluminum (Al, ~3 wt.%); silicon (Si, ~3 wt.%); phosphorous (~0.50 wt.%) and sulfur 
(S, ~0.70 wt.%). These elements indicate that they are indicative of the coating on the ID surface 
of the coupling. A small amount of elemental chlorine was noted which could be from the 
outside environment which penetrated through the perforated locations. 
 
7 o'clock Anomaly:  Note that this area displayed through holes and the OD surface adjacent to 
the through hole pits were analyzed. The different views are in Figures 79-83 and the areas 
analyzed are shown in these views. The representative spectrograms from the areas are in 
Figures 84-87. All the areas analyzed typically show elevated levels of oxygen and iron 
indicating iron oxide. There was always presence of minor amounts of carbon which may either 
be from the coating present or from the organic environment the surface is in contact with in 
service. The results showed consistent presence of elemental chlorine, the source of which is also 
from the service environment on the OD surface. Only one location, Area 4, in Figure 87 did not 
show any chlorine and displayed only a predominant amount of iron with a minor amount of 
oxygen. This shows oxidation of the steel tube material. 
 
The cut surface of the segment, Figure 88, was analyzed and the spectrogram is in Figure 89 
which displayed predominantly iron (~99 wt.%) with trace levels of silicon, chromium and 
manganese. This reflects the composition of the tube material which is a carbon steel. No 
quantitative chemical analysis was deemed necessary to confirm the material type. 
 
2.7  Microstructural Examination 
 
The mounts prepared through the leaking locations were examined and the results are presented 
in this section. An overall view of the 4 o'clock mounted location is in Figure 90. This overall 
view clearly shows wall thinning from the OD surface of the coupling tube and compacted 
corrosion debris at the minimum wall location. A higher magnification view of the corrosion pit 
is in Figure 91 which shows the layered corrosion debris. At relatively high pressure the gas odor 
leaked to the OD surface from the ID through these cracked corrosion layers. The overall OD 
surface displayed general corrosion attack, Figure 92. Note a thin reddish layer on the ID which 
is the paint/coating present on the tube. An overall view of the 7 o'clock mounted location is in 
Figure 93 with higher magnification views in Figures 94 and 95. This area shows through wall 
corrosion and thinning of the wall to knife edge at the corrosion pit. This area was also packed 
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with corrosion debris which likely was removed during the pressure testing. From the views the 
general corrosion on the OD is obvious with knife edge appearance of the wall at through hole 
locations. Figure 96 shows the reddish colored paint/coating on the ID surface. The ID did not 
show any corrosion. 
 
Next, a metallograph was used to examine the microstructure of the pipe material and the 
corrosion features. 
 
4 o'clock Mount:  Figures 97 and 98 show the two edges of the corrosion pit. The light yellowish 
colored area is the pipe material left over. Note significant corrosion and wall thinning from the 
OD surface. Some corrosion was noted on the ID surface at the pit, away no corrosion was 
observed. A higher magnification view of one of the edges of the corrosion pit is in Figure 99. 
This view shows wall loss from the OD and some corrosion on the ID. A representative view of 
the microstructure of the tube coupling is in Figure 100. The microstructure consisted of 
predominantly ferrite grains with some fine pearlite grains. This can be a typical microstructure 
for a pipe material for a steel component. A representative view from the ID of the tube is in 
Figure 101 which did not show any corrosion. 
 
7 o'clock Mount:  Figure 102 shows one of the edges of the corrosion pit; the view clearly shows 
wall loss due to corrosion from the OD surface to a knife edge causing the through hole pit. No 
significant corrosion was noted on the ID. Higher magnification views in Figures 103 and 104 
show general corrosion attack and oxidation on the OD surface. Higher magnification view of 
the ID, Figure 105, did not show any significant corrosion attack. 
 
Hardness:  Hardness measurements were performed on a segment of the coupling tube and 
hardness was measured at 76 Rockwell B which is in agreement with the microstructure of the 
coupling tube material.  
 
 
3.  CONCLUSIONS 
 
The investigation performed on the gas main segment revealed significant corrosion on the entire 
outer diameter surface of the coupling tube from the soil/dirt service environment. Significant 
wall thinning was present at isolated locations which were identified to be at around 4 and 7 
o'clock when the valve top is placed at 12 o'clock in the assembly. Small through wall corrosion 
pits were identified at these two locations which created the leak path for the gas from the inside 
of the gas main to escape.  
 
The coupling was placed properly on the tube gas main segments to be coupled, there was a 
polymeric insert and coating/painting present on the ID of the coupling tube and OD of the gas 
main. The ID surface of the coupling tube appeared to be in good condition with no significant 
breaching of the coating. The gas main appeared to be in significantly good condition without 
any anomalies through the entire length of the pipe segment. There was a small gap present 
between the coupled pipe ends inside the coupling and this condition is typical at coupling joints. 
The polymeric liner in between the coupling ID and gas main OD appeared to be in good 
condition. This polymeric liner possessed a weld seam which is expected and the location of the 
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seam was at around 5 o'clock adjacent to the leaking locations. The significant corrosion of the 
OD surface of the coupling caused significant wall thinning and at isolated spots the pits 
breached through the wall thickness. The presence of these through wall small corrosion pits 
caused transmitted gas to be leaking out to the outside environment. 
 
No material anomalies were noted on the coupling tube material; it is likely a carbon steel 
material which is typically used in these couplings. The hardness and the microstructure values 
are in agreement with these types of couplings. The gas main pipe segments were in good 
condition and no analysis was performed on them. 
 
Semiquantitative chemical compositional analysis on the OD surface and near the corrosion pits 
revealed elevated level of elemental chlorine in the deposit. Note that the element chlorine is 
aggressive to a steel pipe in moist environments. In some areas of the buried gas mains, water 
can be collected (water pools) and cause corrosion of the steel couplings. It could not be 
unequivocally determined whether there was a paint/coating present on the OD surface of the 
coupling initially due to extensive corrosion and removal of the original wall condition. Even in 
the presence of a thin paint or coating, with significant length of service time, some breaching of 
the coating can be typically expected which would initiate the corrosion process.  
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Figure 17a:  
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Figure 18:  
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 19: Arrow points to a leaking location @ ~7 o’clock on the coupling. 
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Figure 20: Another view of the leaking location, arrow. 
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 21: Another view of the leaking areas. 
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Figure 22:  
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 23: Arrow points to the 7 o’clock leak. Yellow lengthwise lines are witness lines. The 

cross-lines are cut lines. 
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Figure 34:  
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Figure 36: Excised bolts from the coupling. 
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Figure 44:  
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 45:  
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Figure 46:  
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 47:  
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Figure 48:  
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 49:  
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Figure 50: Arrows point to 7 o’clock leak (top) and a possible leak @ 4 o’clock (bottom). 
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 51:  
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Figure 52:  
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 53: ID view:  7 o’clock through hole pits (top) and 4 o’clock possible leak (bottom) 
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Figure 54: ID view of the components in the leaking segment. 
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 55: OD view. 
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Figure 56:  
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 57:  
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Figure 58:  
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 59: Mounted cross-section at 4 o’clock. 
 
 
 



 
MMR Project No. 142001 

 

 
 
Figure 60: Mounted cross-section @ 7 o’clock. 
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Mag.  3.5 : 1 500 mils

Failed location at 4 o'clock: An overall view of the corroded spot on OD.

Mag.  9.2 : 1 100 mils

Failed location at 4 o'clock: An overall view of the corroded spot on OD. A higher
magnification view of the previous image. Arrows point to possible through wall
corrosion.

Figure 61:

Figure 62:
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Mag.  3.5 : 1 500 mils

Failed location at 4 o'clock: An overall view of the corroded spot on OD. Arrows
point to parallel line type surface impression around the corroded spot.

Mag.  3.5 : 1 500 mils

Failed location at 4 o'clock: An overall view of the corroded spot on OD. Arrows
point to parallel line type surface impression around the corroded spot. Another
view.

Figure 63:

Figure 64:
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Mag.  3.5 : 1 500 mils

Failed location at 4 o'clock: An overall view of the corroded spot on ID. Note the
packed corrosion debris.

Mag.  18.6 : 1 50 mils

Failed location at 4 o'clock: An overall view of the corroded spot on ID. Note the
packed corrosion debris. A higher magnification view of the previous image.

Figure 65:

Figure 66:
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Mag.  9.2 : 1 100 mils

4 o'clock anomaly: Arrows point to the mounted plane.

Mag.  13.9 : 1 100 mils

7 o'clock anomaly: Arrows point to the mounted plane.

Figure 67:

Figure 68:
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Figure 69:  
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 70:  
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Figure 72:  
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Figure 74:  
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Figure 76:  
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Figure 78:  
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Figure 82:  
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Figure 86:  
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Figure 87:  
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 88:  
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Figure 89:  
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Mag.  3.5 : 1 500 mils

4 o'clock: An overall view of the mounted cross-section.

Mag.  13.9 : 1 100 mils

4 o'clock: An overall view of the mounted cross-section. A higher magnification
view of the corrosion debris tightly packed in the pit.

Figure 90:

Figure 91:
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Mag.  13.9 : 1 100 mils

4 o'clock: An overall view of the mounted cross-section. Note general corrosion
on the OD. On the ID a reddish coating layer is present; no corrosion on the ID.

Mag.  3.5 : 1 500 mils

7 o'clock: An overall view of the mounted cross-section.

Figure 92:

Figure 93:
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Mag.  13.9 : 1 100 mils

7 o'clock: An overall view of the mounted cross-section. A higher magnification
view of the pit edge in the previous image. Note the reduction of the wall to knife
edge.

Mag.  13.9 : 1 100 mils

7 o'clock: An overall view of the mounted cross-section. A higher magnification
view of the pit edge. Note the general wall thinning due to corrosion on the tube
from the OD and reduction of the wall to knife edge.

Figure 94:

Figure 95:
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Mag.  46.9 : 1 20 mils

7 o'clock: Note the reddish paint layer on the ID and no corrosion.Figure 96:
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Mag.  36.9 : 1 20 mils

Mount at 4 o'clock: the view shows an edge of the through wall corrosion pit.

Mag.  36.9 : 1 20 mils

Mount at 4 o'clock: the view shows the opposite edge of the through wall
corrosion pit.

Figure 97:

Figure 98:
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Mag. 148 : 1 5 mils

Mount at 4 o'clock: the view shows the opposite edge of the through wall
corrosion pit. A higher magnification view of the previous image showing the
microstructure.

Mag. 370 : 1 5 mils

Mount at 4 o'clock: A representative view of the microstructure.

Figure 99:

Figure 100:
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Mag. 148 : 1 5 mils

Mount at 4 o'clock: The ID of the tube shows no corrosion.

Mag.  36.9 : 1 20 mils

Mount at 7 o'clock: the view shows an edge of the through wall corrosion pit.

Figure 101:

Figure 102:
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Mag. 148 : 1 5 mils

Mount at 7 o'clock: the view shows general corrosion attack on the OD. No
corrosion noted on the ID.

Mag.  73.8 : 1 10 mils

Mount at 7 o'clock: the view shows general corrosion attck on the OD.

Figure 103:

Figure 104:
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Mag. 148 : 1 5 mils

Mount at 7 o'clock: the view shows no corrosion attack on the ID.Figure 105:
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MMR letters and reports apply to the specific materials, products, or processes tested, examined, surveyed, 
inspected, or calculated; and are not necessarily indicative of the qualities of apparently identical or similar 
materials, products, or processes.  The liability of Massachusetts Materials Research, Inc., with respect to the 
services rendered, shall be limited to the amount of the consideration paid for such services and not include any 
consequential damages. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

A. Scope of the Investigation 

 The Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities (“Department”), Pipeline Safety 

Division (“Division”), pursuant to G.L. c. 164, § 105A and a Federal Certification 

Agreement as provided for in 49 U.S.C. § 60105, has investigated a natural gas related home 

explosion resulting in one fatality and three individuals seeking medical treatment 

(“Incident”).   

Pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 60105(c), and as part of the Department’s annual 

certification process by the United States Department of Transportation (“U.S. DOT”), the 

Department must report to the U.S. DOT: 

each accident or incident . . . involving a fatality, personal injury requiring 
hospitalization, or property damage or loss of more than an amount the [U.S. 
DOT] Secretary establishes, any other accident the [Department] considers 
significant, and a summary of the investigation by the [Department] of the 
cause and circumstances surrounding the accident or incident.   
 

 The Department has established procedures for determining the nature and extent of 

violations of codes and regulations pertaining to the safety of pipeline facilities and the 

transportation of gas, including but not limited to, G.L. c. 164, §§ 76, 76C, and 105A and 

220 CMR §§ 69.00 and 101.00 through 115.00.  The Division, on behalf of the Department, 

also enforces the U.S. DOT safety standards for gas pipeline systems as set forth in 49 CFR 

Parts 40, 192, 193, and 199.   

B. Overview of Incident 

On September 2, 2021, the Division responded to a report of a gas related incident, as 

defined in 49 CFR Part 191, §191.3, at the NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy 
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(“Eversource”) facilities at 27 Park Street, Maynard.  The Division had been notified by 

Telephonic Incident Notification (Exhibit 1) at approximately 7:38 pm that there was a 

suspected gas-related house explosion with one fatality.  The two neighboring homes at 25 

and 26 Park Street were also evacuated. 

According to the Massachusetts Fire District Fourteen Fire Origin and Cause 

Investigation Report (“Report”) (Exhibit 3), the Maynard fire department received a report of 

a strange odor in the house at 27 Park Street at 4:14 pm on the business line, not the 

emergency line.  When the Maynard fire department arrived, they found that the structure 

was on fire and materials from the home were scattered in the roadway and property.  The 

fire was extinguished and did not spread to any neighboring structures (Exhibit 3, at 2).  The 

resident of 27 Park Street was pronounced deceased at 4:52 pm by fire crews on the scene.  

The Report determined he died as a result of the explosion/fire and was found against a door 

separating the finished basement from the dirt basement (Exhibit 3, at 3).  The Report also 

concluded that the origin of the fire was the dirt basement, and the most probable source of 

ignition was a spark from the light in the dirt basement as the deceased entered to investigate 

the “strange odor” later determined to be natural gas (Exhibit 3, at 9).  

The first Eversource service technician arrived on site at 5:12 pm, and a gas 

maintenance crew arrived at 6:15 pm (Exhibit 6, at 3).  Eversource first responders made 

contact with the fire chief, cleared the curb valve, and shut off gas service to 27 Park Street.  

Eversource began a leak investigation with the help of the Maynard fire department and 

found significant readings inside the main valve, on the Sherman Street side of 27 Park 
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Street, inside 25 Park Street, and inside 26 Park Street (Exhibit 6, at 3).  Eversource 

established an Incident Command System (“ICS”) and began identifying the source of the 

leak.  Eversource also began purging out the ground, which was saturated with gas around 

25, 26 and 27 Park Street, and constructed a bypass to be able remove the leaking pipe 

without interrupting the supply of gas to customers.  The crew quickly located the leak 

around the mechanical coupling on Sherman Street but delayed exposing the coupling to 

further contain the leak.  At 2:50 am on September 3, Eversource activated the bypass and at 

3:02 am, Eversource uncovered the leaking  mechanical coupling.  A length of pipe 

about three feet in either direction of the leaking coupling was cut out and removed from the 

trench (Exhibit 6, at 4).  Eversource continued purging gas around the homes on Park Street 

until a zero percent gas reading was achieved on September 8, 2021 (Exhibit 6, at 4).  

The Division arrived at the scene at 8:25 pm on September 2, 2023.  The Division 

stayed through Eversource removing the leaking coupling as described above.  The Division 

oversaw the delivery of the recovered piece of pipe, the mechanical coupling, and two inches 

of extracted main to the Massachusetts Materials Research (“MMR”) labs on September 3, 

2021 (Exhibit 6, at 4).  

 

II. INVESTIGATION  

A. Introduction 

The Division, on behalf of the Department, conducted an investigation to determine 

the cause and origin of the explosion.  This included incident response, service restoration, 

pipeline replacement, and materials testing.  The investigation also included a review of 
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applicable Eversource records to ascertain the root cause of the Incident.  Beginning on 

October 25, 2021, the Division issued four sets of information requests, to which Eversource 

responded.  After reviewing the final responses to information requests, a Notice of Probable 

Violation (“NOPV”) was issued on August 9, 2023 (Exhibit, 6).  The NOPV alleged 

violations of state and federal code, including failure to properly qualify leak survey 

contractors in accordance with their Operator Qualification plan, failure to adequately 

evaluate cathodically unprotected pipe for active corrosion, failure to adequately count and 

monitor leaks, and failure to send public officials public awareness notifications.  The NOPV 

assessed a penalty in the amount of $1,500,000 (Exhibit 6, at 17).  The results of the 

Division’s investigation are set forth below. 

B. Description of the Gas Facilities 

The Eversource gas distribution system in this neighborhood is largely  

coated steel intermediate pressure main installed in 1968.  A segment near 6 Sherman Street 

is  1938 bare steel, and a 390 foot section on Burnside Street has  2018 high 

density polyethylene plastic main.  The section of pipe removed with the leaking mechanical 

coupling is 1968 coated steel.  All of the segments have a Maximum Allowable Operating 

Pressure (“MAOP”) of  and were operating at  the night of the Incident.  

C. Incident response and field investigation 

The night of the Incident, September 2, 2021, and in the following days until gas 

readings were no longer present surrounding the homes on Park Street, the Division 

conducted a series of field investigations.  The night of the Incident, the Division observed 

odorant testing, the results of which were normal.  Further investigations included a pressure 
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test of the service line at 27 Park Street and a leak test of customer piping inside 27 Park 

Street.  Both tests maintained pressure without leaking.  A subsequent leak test of the 

appliances conducted by the insurance company, and witnessed by the Division, on 

October 7, 2021 found a “very small leak” between the water heater and the shut off.  These 

appliances were in the finished part of the basement, removed from the fire’s origin.   

In total the Division recorded 18 on-site inspection days for the Incident, restoration, 

and follow up activities.  The only substantive findings were the result of the materials 

testing and the information requests that followed.  

D. Massachusetts Materials Research Materials Testing 

The pipe and fittings were taken to the MMR facility in West Boylston for analysis.  

Interested persons were invited to a protocol conference on March 16, 2022, for visual 

inspection and to establish a protocol for testing.  Interested persons were invited to return 

July 13, 14, and 15, 2022 to witness the testing.  On January 12, 2023, MMR issued its final 

report which concluded the following (Exhibit 4, at 11): 

• The mechanical coupling had significant corrosion on the entire outer diameter. 

• Two locations had through wall corrosion which provided a leak path for gas 

to escape the main.  

• The gas main pipe segments were in good condition and corrosion damage was 

isolated to the coupling.  

E. Information Requests 

The Division issued a series of information requests under docket 21-PL-74.  

Information requested included incident reports, timelines, qualifications of individuals, 
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calibration records, leak history, operator procedures, corrosion records, and public 

awareness materials.  On October 25, 2021, the Division issued an initial set of information 

requests to Eversource, to which they responded on December 1, 2021.  The Division issued 

two subsequent information requests on April 6, 2022 and November 8, 2022.  Eversource 

responded to these information requests on April 27, 2022, and November 22, 2022, 

respectively.  Following the issuing of the Division’s Exit Letter outlining preliminary 

findings, a fourth information request was issued on June 6, 2023 to which Eversource 

responded on June 23, 2023.  In reviewing these procedures and records the Division 

identified several violations of state and federal pipeline safety codes.   

Operator Qualifications: The Division had significant concerns about the 

qualifications of contractor employees performing leak surveys in the aftermath of the 

Incident.  Several of the individuals performing these tasks were not properly qualified to do 

so in accordance with Eversource’s Operator Qualification (“OQ”) Plan, OQ-001.  The 

information request responses for these violations led to a separate enforcement action, 

22-PL-82, which found 737 different violations of the OQ Plan based on the response to 

21-PL-74 IR 3-7 (Exhibit 5).  Eversource did not contest the findings in 22-PL-82 and 

executed a consent order on March 23, 2023 following an informal conference on March 8, 

2023, which assessed a civil penalty of $75,000 (Exhibit 5).  Several additional instances of 

contractor employees performing leak surveys without proper qualifications were omitted 

from 22-PL-82 and were included in the NOPV for 21-PL-74 (Exhibit 6, at 5).  
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Unprotected Pipe Evaluations: The Division identified several concerns with the 

process Eversource utilizes to identify active corrosion on unprotected pipelines.  Eversource 

uses a tool called the Gas Main Replacement Index (“GMRI”) to calculate a score of each 

segment of pipe.  The GMRI is an evaluation tool that assesses a risk score based on 

variables such as soil conditions, utility construction, location type, and leak information 

(Exhibit 6, at 5).  Any pipe segment that scores over 77 is determined to be actively 

corroding.  One concern is that Eversource applied the wrong material score to the main on 

Sherman Street.  The GMRI identified the main as coated steel, however, during the 

investigation, Eversource acknowledged that it should have used the higher score from the 

1938 bare steel pipe located near 6 Sherman Street (Exhibit 6, at 8).  The Division’s primary 

concern is that many of the factors that go into the GMRI score are risk based or cost based, 

and unrelated to factors that would indicate the presence of active corrosion.  The tool was 

designed to rank pipe segments eligible for Gas System Enhancement Plans (“GSEP”), not 

identify active corrosion.  GSEP is a program that allows gas operators to seek cost recovery 

from ratepayers to accelerate the replacement of leak prone pipelines (Exhibit 6, at 6).  The 

Division does not believe the GMRI process, as written at the time of the Incident, meets the 

requirements of 192.465(e) (Exhibit 6, at 8).  By employing the GMRI, there is no number 

of leaks and no leak growth rate that could have alerted Eversource to active corrosion on 

Sherman St. and Park St.  Conversely, had the municipality alerted Eversource that Sherman 

Street was going to be paved following a water or sewer project, the opportunity for joint 

trenching would have generated a score that would identify this main as actively corroding 
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(Exhibit 6, at 7).  By solely utilizing the GMRI, Eversource did not effectively monitor for 

areas of active corrosion as required by federal pipeline safety regulations.   

Leak Survey and Repair: Eversource provided several records related to the leak 

history of both Sherman and Park Streets.  One pair of leaks on Sherman Street were at 

times confused with each other, marked in the wrong location, incorrectly located on 

reinspection, and were undetected by the mobile survey.  The leak history of these two leaks 

were inconsistent, unclear, and the records provided to the Division were at times illegible 

(Exhibit 6, at 10). This raises serious concerns about Eversource’s leak identification and 

reinspection procedures.  

Public Awareness Program:  Eversource was utilizing the Police and Fire Chiefs to 

meet the requirement in API RP 1162, which requires notification of a Public Official 

identified as “Local, city, county or state officials and/or their staffs having land use and 

street/road jurisdiction along the pipeline route.”  Public Safety Chiefs are better suited to 

meet the API RP 1162 definition of Emergency Officials.  Following the Incident, 

Eversource updated this process to send public awareness information to the Town 

Administrator (Exhibit 6, at 12).   

III. SUMMARY OF FINDINGS  

• The cause of the explosion was gas that had accumulated in the dirt basement. 

• The source of the gas was corrosion damage to a mechanical coupling on 
Sherman Street.  

• A review of procedures and records received as part of the investigation found 
inadequate processes to identify active corrosion.  
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• A review of leak records found unclear and inconsistent practices to identify 
and monitor leaks.  

• At least six individuals performing leak investigations in response to the 
Incident were not properly qualified to do so. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

Based on the Division’s review of all relevant information, including Eversource’s 

responses to the information requests, the Fire District Fourteen report, and the MMR report, 

the Division adopts the Fire District Fourteen conclusion that the cause and origin of the 

Incident at 27 Park Street is natural gas accumulating in the dirt basement, originating from 

the corroded mechanical coupling on Sherman Street.  The Division further concludes 

Eversource violated federal pipeline safety codes: 

• Part 192, § 192.465(e) External corrosion control: Monitoring and 

remediation; 

• Part 192, §192.491(c)(1) Corrosion control records; 

•  Part 192, § 192.605(a) Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, and 

emergencies; 

•  Part 192, § 192.616(c) Public Awareness; 

• Part 192, § 192.805(b) Qualification program; 

•  Part 192, and §192.1007(e)(1)(i) What are the required elements of an 

integrity management plan? 

Additionally, the Division found that these violations could have contributed to the 

likelihood of a gas incident in the neighborhood of Sherman Street and Park Street, Maynard 

(Exhibit 6, at 14).   



 
 

EXHIBIT 1 
 

Telephonic Incident Notification 
 
  







 
 

EXHIBIT 2 
 

PHMSA Report dated October 1, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



THE PHMSA REPORT DATED OCTOBER 1, 2021, IS ATTACHED TO THE 
COMPLAINT IN EXHIBIT C.  

 

IT IS REMOVED FROM EXHIBIT M TO AVOID DUPLICATION IN 
FILING.  

 



EXHIBIT 3 

The Massachusetts Fire District Fourteen Fire Origin and Cause Investigation Report 



THE MASSACHUSETTS FIRE DISTRICT FOURTEEN FIRE ORIGIN AND 
CAUSE INVESTIGATION REPORT IS ATTACHED TO THE COMPLAINT 
AS EXHIBIT J.  

 

IT IS REMOVED FROM EXHIBIT M TO AVOID DUPLICATION IN 
FILING.  

  



 
 

EXHIBIT 4 
   

Massachusetts Materials Research Inc Report 
  



THE MASSACHUSETTS MATERIALS RESEARCH REPORT IS 
ATTACHED TO THE COMPLAINT AS EXHIBIT L.  

 

IT IS REMOVED FROM EXHIBIT M TO AVOID DUPLICATION IN 
FILING.  

  



 
 

EXHIBIT 5 
   

D.P.U. 22-PL-82, Contractor OQs Notice of Probable Violation and Informal 
Review Decision 

  



THE NOTICE OF PROBABLE VIOLATION, D.P.U. 22-PL-82 IS 
ATTACHED TO THE COMPLAINT AS EXHIBIT O.  

 

IT IS REMOVED FROM EXHIBIT M TO AVOID DUPLICATION IN 
FILING.  

  



EXHIBIT 6 

D.P.U. 21-PL-74, Maynard Incident Notice of Probable Violation



THE NOTICE OF PROBABLE VIOLATION, D.P.U. 21-PL-74 IS 
ATTACHED TO THE COMPLAINT AS EXHIBIT N.  

 

IT IS REMOVED FROM EXHIBIT M TO AVOID DUPLICATION IN 
FILING.  
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NOTICE OF PROBABLE VIOLATION 

ELECTRONIC MAIL – RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
 
August 9, 2023 D.P.U. 21-PL-74 
 
VIA EMAIL ONLY 

 
Mr. William J. Akley 
President of Gas Operations 
Eversource Energy 
157 Cordaville Road 
Southborough, MA  01772 
 

Re:  D.P.U. 21-PL-74, 27 Park Street, Maynard (September 2, 2021) 
 
Dear Mr. Akley: 
 

The Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the Department of Public Utilities 

(“Department”) issues this Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”) to NSTAR Gas Company 

d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Eversource” or “Respondent”) pursuant to 220 CMR 69.03 and 

Delegation Order, D.P.U. 18-44-B (2020). 

On September 2, 2021, the Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the Department of 

Public Utilities responded to a report of a gas-related reportable incident, (“Incident”) as defined 

in 49 CFR Part 191, §191.3, at the NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy 
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(“Eversource”) facilities at 27 Park Street, Maynard.  The Division began an investigation 

pursuant to G.L. c.164, §§ 76 and 105A, and 220 CMR 69.02.  The investigation included 

incident response, service restoration, pipeline replacement, and materials testing.  The Division 

collected a portion of the pipe which was brought to Massachusetts Materials Research 

(“MMR”) for analysis.  The investigation also included a review of applicable Eversource 

records to ascertain the root cause of the Incident.  On October 25, 2021, the Division issued an 

initial set of information requests to Eversource related to the Division’s investigation of the 

Incident.  Eversource responded to that information request on December 1, 2021.  The Division 

issued two subsequent information requests on April 6, 2022, and November 8, 2022.  

Eversource responded to these information requests on April 27, 2022, and November 22, 2022, 

respectively.  On March 1, 2023, the Division issued an Exit Letter outlining preliminary 

findings from the investigation, to which the company provided a response on April 14, 2023.  

On June 6, 2023, the Division issued a fourth set of information requests.  Eversource responded 

on June 23, 2023.  As discussed in detail below, the Division conducted further investigation into 

the matter and has reason to believe that Respondent may have violated 49 C.F.R. Part 192 

(“Part 192”).  

I. OVERVIEW OF INCIDENT 

On September 2, 2021, the Division responded to a report of a gas-related Incident, as 

defined in 49 CFR Part 191, §191.3, at the Eversource facilities at 27 Park Street, Maynard.  The 

Division had been notified by Telephonic Incident Notification (Exhibit 1) at approximately 7:38 

pm that there was a suspected gas-related house explosion with one fatality.  The two 

neighboring homes at 25 and 26 Park Street were also evacuated. 



Eversource, D.P.U. 21-PL-74  Page 3 
Notice of Probable Violation 
August 9, 2023 
 

 

The Maynard fire department received a report of a strange odor in the house at 27 Park 

Street at 4:14 pm on the business line, not the emergency line.  When the Maynard Fire 

Department arrived they found that the structure was on fire and materials from the home were 

scattered in the roadway and property.  The fire was extinguished and did not spread to any 

neighboring structures.  The resident of 27 Park Street was pronounced deceased at 4:52 pm by 

fire crews on the scene.  The Massachusetts Fire District Fourteen Fire Origin and Cause 

Investigation Report (“Report”) determined he died as a result of the explosion / fire and was 

found against a door separating the finished basement from the dirt basement.  The Report also 

concluded that the origin of the fire was the dirt basement, and the most probable source of 

ignition was a spark from the light in the dirt basement as the deceased entered to investigate the 

“strange odor” later determined to be natural gas.  

The first Eversource service technician arrived on site at 5:12 pm, and a gas maintenance 

crew arrived at 6:15 pm.  Eversource first responders made contact with the fire chief, cleared 

the curb valve, and shut off gas service to 27 Park Street.  Eversource began a leak investigation 

with the help of the fire department and found significant readings inside the main valve, on the 

Sherman Street side of 27 Park Street, inside 25 Park Street, and inside 26 Park Street.  

Eversource established an Incident Command System (“ICS”) and began identifying the source 

of the leak, began purging out the ground which was saturated with gas around 25, 26 and 27 

Park Street, and constructed a bypass to be able remove the leaking pipe without interrupting the 

supply of gas to customers.  The crew quickly located the leak around the dresser coupling on 

Sherman Street, but delayed exposing the coupling to further contain the leak.  At 2:50 am on 
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September 3, Eversource activated the  plastic bypass.  At 3:02 am, Eversource uncovered 

the leaking  mechanical coupling.  A length of pipe about three feet in either direction of 

the leaking coupling was cut out and removed from the trench.  Eversource continued purging 

gas around the homes on Park Street until a zero percent gas reading was achieved on 

September 8, 2021.  

The Division arrived to the scene at 8:25 pm on September 2, 2023.  The Division stayed 

through Eversource building a bypass to maintain customers and removing the leaking coupling, 

and oversaw its delivery to the MMR on September 3, 2021.  

II. FINDINGS 

Operator Qualifications: 

The Division reviewed Operator Qualification (“OQ”) records received as part of IR 1-18 

and IR 1-21 to ensure compliance with 49 CFR Part 192 (“Part 192”) § 192.805(b).  The 

Division has significant concerns about the qualifications of individuals performing covered 

tasks in response to the Incident.  Specifically, several individuals had OQ failures on the same 

date as some of their qualification dates in violation of Eversource’s written qualification 

program, OQ-001.  The Division addressed this issue in NOPV 22-PL-82, however six violations 

listed in response to IR 1-18 and four in response to IR 1-21 were not listed in IR 3-7, which was 

the basis for that NOPV.  

Several of these violations were for the current qualifications of those individuals and for 

the covered tasks they were performing in response to the Incident.  Specifically, the responses 

to IR 1-18 and IR 1-21 show several contractor employees without adequate OQs for Leak 

Investigation inside only (LM02), Leak Investigation outside only (LM03), Classifying Leaks- 
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LM-04), Properties of Natural Gas(G-01), Abnormal Operating Conditions (G-02), Inspecting 

for Atmospheric & Internal Corrosion(M-01), and Inspection of Meters and Regulators (MS-05).  

Several contractor employees failed these OQ tests and requalified on the same day, in violation 

of Eversource OQ-001, and they did not requalify until after the Incident.   

According to OQ-001 Rev 2, the Revision current at the time of the Incident, Section I D. 

“No company employee, employee of a contractor or any other person may perform any covered 

task identified in this Plan unless the requirements of this Plan have been satisfied.” The above-

mentioned contractor employees were not qualified in accordance with Eversource’s OQ plan 

and were performing covered tasks.  In its Exit Letter Response, Eversource acknowledged 

omitting several contractor employees from its response to IR 3-7 and confirmed that six 

individuals performed covered tasks in violation of OQ-001 on or after the day of the Incident.   

Unprotected Pipe Evaluations:   

As required in Part 192, ⸹192.465(e), every company must conduct a three-year 

evaluation of unprotected pipe to determine areas of active corrosion.  The Division requested 

the last two unprotected pipe evaluations performed at Park and Sherman Streets.  Eversource’s 

procedure, OM-160 ADM, states “Cathodically un-protected older steel pipelines must be 

routinely evaluated for active corrosion as required by regulations.  The Gas Main Replacement 

Index (“GMRI”) analysis provides this analysis for NSTAR Gas.”  The GMRI process calculates 

a score, known as an Index Value, to determine whether a pipeline is experiencing active 

corrosion.  The written program, provided in response to IR 1-33, states “The Index Value is 

engineered so that active corrosion can exist without consideration of variables that have no 
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impact upon corrosion of a pipe.  Similarly, the Index Value is engineered so that active 

corrosion cannot exist on a pipeline that is not experiencing corrosion.”  In response to IR 2-4, 

Eversource stated it has not performed inspections per this code section because its pipe ranking 

system has not identified any areas of corrosion.  Eversource has not provided documentation to 

support a three-year evaluation of the pipe on Park Street or review of ranking as required by 

192.465(e). In response to the Exit Letter Eversource stated the following: “Unprotected pipe 

segments are evaluated through an annual review of the GMRI as the basis to prioritize pipe 

segments for replacement under the Company’s Gas System Enhancement Plan (“GSEP”).  Once 

the list of projects is developed for the GSEP, the list is reviewed with subject matter experts 

including those in Operations to identify any pipe segments that should be included in the GSEP 

program due to the observed condition of pipe segments in the field.  The development of the list 

of projects for the annual GSEP filing is the evaluation of unprotected pipe.”     

The variables that Eversource uses to prioritize pipeline replacements under GSEP does 

not match up with the variables that would indicate active corrosion. Part 192.465 (e)  elaborates 

“… However, on distribution lines and where an electrical survey is impractical on transmission 

lines, areas of active corrosion may be determined by other means that include review and 

analysis of leak repair and inspection records, corrosion monitoring records, exposed pipe 

inspection records, and the pipeline environment.”  The GMRI process does include leak growth 

rate and leaks / 1000 feet of pipeline, both of which measure leak repair and inspection records.  

It also includes soil conditions which represents the pipeline environment.  Eversource’s model 

does not include variables representing corrosion monitoring records or exposed pipe inspection 
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records.  Furthermore, the remaining variables it does consider in the GMRI represent risk 

(location, service density, pipeline pressure, and material) or opportunities for cost reduction 

(utility construction).  While these variables might serve well for the GSEP program in replacing 

leak prone pipe and minimizing rate payer expenses, they have no bearing on the presence of 

active corrosion.   

Eversource also expressed that the scenarios outlined in the Exit letter, which  

specific values were chosen for some of the variables used by the GMRI is not in line with the 

construct of the GMRI ranking system.  All variables must be considered based on actual data or 

SME knowledge to arrive at a determination of active corrosion.  The Division would like to 

reiterate its concern here, with a different example.  Taking the three variables identified above 

as being indicative of active corrosion (leak growth rate, leaks / 1000 feet, and soil conditions) 

and assigning them the highest possible values (13, 35, and 20 respectively) the GMRI Index 

Value is 68.  Adding in the risk related variables will generate a GMRI Index Value somewhere 

between 71 and 91.  The utility construction cost related variable can add between 0 and 30 

points to that Index Value.  This refutes Eversource’s statement that “the Index Value is 

engineered so that active corrosion cannot exist on a pipeline that is not experiencing corrosion.”  

It is very clear that the GMRI’s over reliance on risk and cost make this tool less likely to 

identify active corrosion in rural and suburban areas, where risk is lower and the opportunities 

for joint trenching utilities are less frequent.  

In the fourth set of IRs Eversource explained that in addition to leak information, a pipe 

segment may be updated in the GMRI whenever new information becomes available.  Since 
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most of the other variables in the GMRI remain static over time, changes are most often 

associated with paving information from municipalities (R_Index), system reliability needs 

(F_Index), municipal or customer complaints (C_Index) and other construction in the area 

(U_Index). Pipe segments are also updated and marked as complete in the GMRI when a project 

that replaces the pipe segment is completed. 

The Division also has concerns about the quality of the data being used in the GMRI. The 

Division asked about a segment of pipe featuring both bare steel and coated steel on Sherman 

Street, Maynard.  In response to IR 4-5, Eversource acknowledged that they should have used the 

higher score, the bare steel, on this segment and an entry error led to an inaccurate GMRI score 

on the Sherman Street segment.   

In response to the Exit Letter, Eversource reiterated the definition of active corrosion in 

Part 192.3: continuing corrosion that, unless controlled, could result in a condition that is 

detrimental to public safety.  It further stated, “The Company’s active corrosion program and the 

manner in which it determines the presence of active corrosion is compliant with the federal 

pipeline safety regulations.”  The Division does not believe the GMRI process, as written at the 

time of the Incident, meets the requirements of 192.465(e).  

 

Replacement Ranking (IR-3-1) 

As required in Part 192, ⸹192.1007(e)(1)(i), every company must monitor the number of 

hazardous leaks eliminated or repaired.  As stated in the response to IR 2-4, Eversource counts 

leaks by each unique leak event location and associated repair record.  Each leak clamp does not 
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generate a record.  For example, in response to IR 1-24(e) Eversource provided an activity report 

for a leak repair at 11 Sherman Street.  The description identifies a need to extend the trench 

where four leak clamps were used on “very poor bare steel main.”  Eversource counts this as one 

leak event, however, if this were counted as four separate leaks it would increase the GMRI 

Index Value of this segment of pipe.   

In this particular case, that one repair record would have increased the leak index score of 

Sherman Street in the GMRI, provided in IR 2-4(b), by 10 points.  The failure to count each 

installed leak repair clamp results in a ranking/leak index that is not representative of the number 

of leaks repaired and affects the ranking of pipe segments. 

Eversource explained that there was one leak location found on a main in the area of 11 

Sherman Street.  The area of the main that needed to be exposed to make the repairs was less 

than 48 inches.  In order to properly address the one identified leak, the Company had to install a 

total of four clamps.  According to Eversource the four clamps are not indicative of four separate 

leaks.  IR 1-33 documents the activity report that contains information on the four clamps.  As 

noted in the activity report, Company personnel determined that 11 Sherman Street had one leak 

location, with one single cause corrosion failure.  Eversource believes this is consistent with 

PHMSA’s Leak Cause classified as Corrosion Failure.  

In Information Request 3-1, Eversource stated that leaks are counted by each unique leak 

event location and associated repair record.  Therefore, each leak clamp installed does not 

generate a separate record.  Multiple leak clamps may be required to repair a leak at a location.  

Based on this explanation the current replacement ranking does not adequately address a single 
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location where multiple leaks are repaired.  The Division believes that if a pipe has corrosion so 

widespread as to require multiple clamps, each clamp should be counted as a separate leak.  

 

Leak survey and repair:   

The Division’s investigation included an examination of Eversource’s leak history, leak survey, 

and leak repair records near the Incident location.  Upon the Division’s request, Eversource 

provided documentation regarding all leak history from January 1, 2011 through September 2, 

2021 for Sherman Street and Park Street in Maynard.  The Division found several areas of 

concern regarding one leak record in particular, which is identified as leak #MA270688.  The 

areas of concern include misclassification of leak, improperly tracking leaks, and inadequate leak 

response. 

 Misclassification of leak.  Leak #MA270688 was initially identified on July 20, 2017 via 

walking survey and was incorrectly classified as a grade three leak, as stated by Eversource in its 

response to the Exit Letter on April 14, 2023.  The leak was identified on the threads of the riser 

shut off valve, which is an above-ground location near the structure.  Grade three leaks as 

defined in part by Eversource standard OM-120 are subsurface and at least 20 feet away from 

any structures in non-continuously paved areas.  This misclassification triggered an inadequate 

leak response.   

Furthermore, regarding the classification of leaks, in its response to the Exit Letter, 

Eversource stated that this leak should have correctly been classified as an “above-ground non-

hazardous leak.”  In its response to Information Request 4-1, Eversource stated that “Eversource 
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procedure does not specifically define the classification and response criteria for above-ground 

non-hazardous leaks.” 

Improperly tracking leaks.  The leak identified as #MA270688 was updated to 

#MA276179 after a reevaluation on November 1, 2018 due to a maintenance management 

software update.  The subsequent reevaluation conducted on October 16, 2019 found that there 

was no leak at the originally identified location, however, there was another leak located 43 feet 

away from the structure.  A new leak number was not created for this newly identified leak.  The 

next evaluation results on October 5, 2020 found that there was no underground leak, however, 

the originally identified leak at the riser was present.  A new leak number should have been 

created for the underground leak discovered on October 16, 2019. 

 Inadequate leak response.  Due to the misclassification of leak #MA270688, 

Eversource’s leak response was to follow standards for a grade three leak.  Based on the 

evidence provided, the leak identified as #MA270688 should have been classified as an 

above-ground hazardous leak and repaired promptly. 

Eversource standard OM-120 sets forth response criteria for grade three leaks.  The 

recheck interval stated in Eversource standard OM-120-ADM calls for a reevaluation within 

twelve months of the last evaluation.  In its response to IR 2-8, Eversource stated that the 

recheck interval of 12 months was exceeded for leak #MA270688.  Additionally, OM-120 

requires subsurface structures within 200 feet in all directions to be checked.  Eversource was 

unable to provide any documentation that this was completed. 
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Public Awareness Program: 

Part 192 §192.616(c) states “The operator must follow the general program 

recommendations, including baseline and supplemental requirements of API RP 1162, unless the 

operator provides justification in its program or procedural manual as to why compliance with all 

or certain provisions of the recommended practice is not practicable and not necessary for 

safety.” API RP 1162, First Edition, Section 3.3 identifies public officials as “Local, city, county 

or state officials and/or their staffs having land use and street/road jurisdiction along the pipeline 

route.”  In Eversource’s response to IR 1-35, Eversource identifies the same individuals, the Fire 

Chief and the Police Chief, as the stakeholder audience for both emergency officials and public 

officials.  Public safety chiefs are an appropriate stakeholder audience for emergency officials, 

however, it appears that Eversource did not correctly identify the audience for public officials 

and did not send the appropriate public awareness messaging.  In its response to the Exit Letter, 

Eversource confirmed that annual public awareness notices was being addressed to public safety 

officials, but since November 2021 it has begun sending notices to public officials as defined in 

API RP 1162.   

Corrosion Inspections:   

Part 192, § 192.491(c) states “Each operator shall maintain a record of each test, survey, or 

inspection required by this subpart in sufficient detail to demonstrate the adequacy of corrosion 

control measures or that a corrosive condition does not exist.”  Eversource’s procedure 

OM-66 -Corrosion Control addresses internal inspections performed between 2012-2016.  The 
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procedure requires internal inspections and records to be maintained for the life of the pipe, 

however the procedure is silent as to how to document the internal inspections.   

Eversource documents its internal corrosion inspections on its Daily Activity Reports 

which are completed by field personnel.  The company provided records dating back 2011.  Prior 

to 2018, Eversource did not document its internal corrosion inspections.  OM-66 and 

§192.491(c)(1) require these records to be maintained for the life of the pipe. Eversource 

provided Daily Activity Reports records in response to IR 1-33 of external inspections of buried 

pipe when exposed from 2011 to present.  The areas of concerns are noted below: 

 
Date Location Concerns 
10/9/12 Park@Sudbury 1) The Daily Report does not include the pipe material 

inspected.  
2) The Daily Report does not state that Eversource 

performed an internal inspection.  
 

Eversource stated that the Daily Activity Report (“DAR”) in 
2012 did not contain a specific placeholder for internal corrosion 
inspections or the pipe material inspected.  The pipe material 
was understood, at that time, to be the existing pipe that was in 
the ground, as indicated by the GIS records or recorded 
elsewhere on the DAR. 

9/14/19 26 Park St 1) The Daily Report did not state Eversource installed an 
anode. 

2) The clamp manufacturer is not noted.  
 
Eversource further explained that when it converted from paper 
DARs to digital forms in 2018, the check box for ‘anode 
installation’ was not included.  The pipe associated with the 
anode has since  been retired.  Clamp manufacturer is not a not a 
required field on the DAR, but the Company has identified 
Smith-Blair® as the clamp manufacturer. 

 
Conclusions: 
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Several of the Division’s findings, namely the Public Awareness Program and corrosion 

inspection record findings, had no direct bearing on the Incident.  However, some of the findings 

address deficiencies by Eversource which could have contributed to the likelihood of a gas 

incident in this neighborhood.  Eversource’s leak records showed a number of issues in 

classifying, tracking, and responding to leaks on Sherman Street between 2017 and 2021.  

Additionally, as addressed in DPU 22-PL-82, and further addressed in this NOPV, Eversource 

failed to properly qualify a large number of individuals to perform leak investigation, 

classification, and related activities.  Six of those individuals were contractors that responded to 

the Incident either the night of or in the days following the explosion.  The Division also found 

flaws with the methodology and accuracy of data used to calculate a GMRI index score.  

Eversource uses this score both to assess pipeline segments for areas of active corrosion and as a 

system to identify risk when prioritizing projects for Gas System Enhancement Plan’s submitted 

annually to the DPU.  The segment on Sherman Street had a GMRI Index of 44.  If Eversource 

had counted each leak clamp as a separate leak in the 2016 corrosion leak repair at 11 Sherman 

Street, as the Division believes it should have, and if Eversource had correctly identified the pipe 

material as bare steel when calculating a GMRI Index the value would have been 61.  In 

Eversource’s 2022 GSEP filing, 22-GSEP-06, the average GMRI Index value across its 279 

projects was just under 49. Additionally, the Division has methodological concerns with the 

GMRI process itself being applied as both a tool to identify active corrosion and identify risk 

when prioritizing projects for GSEP.  This dual use diminishes its effectiveness as a tool to 

identify active corrosion according to the requirements of 192.465(e), particularly in areas that 
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are less densely populated and where there are not opportunities with cost saving by joint 

trenching utilities.  

III. ALLEGATIONS 

Based on the investigation, the Division has reason to believe that Eversource’s failure to 

properly follow its procedures may be in violation of certain sections of federal pipeline safety 

regulations, Part 192.  The alleged violations of Part 192 are as follows:   

1. 49 CFR §192.465(e) - External corrosion control: Monitoring and 
remediation. 

After the initial evaluation required by §§192.455(b) and (c) and 192.457(b), each 
operator must, not less than every 3 years at intervals not exceeding 39 months, 
reevaluate its unprotected pipelines and cathodically protect them in accordance with this 
subpart in areas in which active corrosion is found. The operator must determine the 
areas of active corrosion by electrical survey. However, on distribution lines and where 
an electrical survey is impractical on transmission lines, areas of active corrosion may be 
determined by other means that include review and analysis of leak repair and inspection 
records, corrosion monitoring records, exposed pipe inspection records, and the pipeline 
environment. 

2. 49 CFR §192.491(c)(1) - Corrosion control records. 

Each operator shall maintain a record of each test, survey, or inspection required by this 
subpart in sufficient detail to demonstrate the adequacy of corrosion control measures or 
that a corrosive condition does not exist. These records must be retained for at least 5 
years with the following exceptions: 

(1)  Operators must retain records related to §§ 192.465(a) and (e) and 192.475(b) for as 
long as the pipeline remains in service. 

3. 49 CFR § 192.605(a) – Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, 
and emergencies. 

General. Each operator shall prepare and follow for each pipeline, a manual of written 
procedures for conducting operations and maintenance activities and for emergency 
response.  For transmission lines, the manual must also include procedures for handling 
abnormal operations.  This manual must be reviewed and updated by the operator at 
intervals not exceeding 15 months, but at least once each calendar year.  This manual 
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must be prepared before operations of a pipeline system commence.  Appropriate parts of 
the manual must be kept at locations where operations and maintenance activities are 
conducted. 

4. 49 CFR § 192.616(c) – Public Awareness. 

The operator must follow the general program recommendations, including baseline and 
supplemental requirements of API RP 1162, unless the operator provides justification in 
its program or procedural manual as to why compliance with all or certain provisions of 
the recommended practice is not practicable and not necessary for safety. 

5. 49 CFR § 192.805(b) – Qualification program. 

Each operator shall have and follow a written qualification program. The program shall 
include provisions to: (b) Ensure through evaluation that individuals performing covered 
tasks are qualified; 

6. 49 CFR §192.1007(e)(1)(i) What are the required elements of an integrity 
management plan? 

Measure performance, monitor results, and evaluate effectiveness. 

 (1)  Develop and monitor performance measures from an established baseline to 
evaluate the effectiveness of its IM program. An operator must consider the results 
of its performance monitoring in periodically re-evaluating the threats and risks. 
These performance measures must include the following: 

 (i) Number of hazardous leaks either eliminated or repaired as required by § 
192.703(c) of this subchapter (or total number of leaks if all leaks are repaired when 
found), categorized by cause; 

IV. PRIOR CONSENT ORDER VIOLATIONS  

Eversource has signed the following Consent Orders that pertain to similar violations of 

Part 192, § 192.605(a): 14-PL-03, 14-PL-05, 14-PL-07, 16-PL-01, 20-PL-32, 21-PL-12, 21-PL-

13, 21-PL-56, 21-PL-76, 22-PL-68, 23-PL-07 

Part 192, §§ 192.805(b): 21-PL-13, 22-PL-82 
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V. PROPOSED CIVIL PENALTY 

Under G.L. c. 164, § 105A, Eversource is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed 

$500,000 for each violation for each day that the violation exists, up to a maximum of 

$10,000,000 for any related series of violations.  These dollar amounts shall be doubled if the 

department determines that the violator has engaged in one or more similar violations in the 

three years preceding the violation. 

In determining the amount of the civil penalty, the Division shall consider the following, 

pursuant to G.L. c. 164, § 105A:  the appropriateness of the penalty to the size of the business of 

the person, firm, or corporation charged; the gravity of the violation; and the good faith of the 

person, firm, or corporation charged in attempting to achieve compliance, after notification of a 

violation.   

In the present matter, the Division has reviewed the circumstances of the allegations and 

is prepared to resolve this matter upon Eversource’s agreement to the terms in the attached 

Consent Order and payment of a civil penalty in the amount of $1,500,000.  

VI. RESPONSE TO THIS NOPV 

Within 30 days of receipt of this NOPV, Eversource shall respond to the Division in one 

of the following ways, pursuant to 220 CMR 69.04: 

 1. Sign and return the attached Consent Order, thus agreeing to remit payment of the 
civil penalty by check or money order made payable to the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts; 

 
 2. Submit an offer in compromise of the proposed civil penalty under 

220 CMR 69.04(2); 
 
 3. Request an informal conference under 220 CMR 69.05; or 
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 4. Submit a written reply to the Division disputing the allegation(s) contained in the 
NOPV.  The reply must include a complete statement of all relevant facts and 
authority and full description of the reasons why the Respondent disputes the 
allegation(s) contained in the NOPV. 

 
Failure to respond within 30 days of receipt of this NOPV will be deemed an admission 

to the allegations contained herein and a waiver of Eversource’s right to contest the allegations.  

If Eversource fails to respond within 30 days, the Department may, without further notice, find 

the facts to be as alleged herein and issue a final Order, pursuant to 220 CMR 69.04(3). 

        Very truly yours, 
 
 
 

Richard Enright, Director 
Pipeline Safety Division 

 
Enclosures:  Consent Order 

Compliance Agreement 
 
Cc: Erin Engstrom, Director of Regulatory Affairs, Eversource 

Laurie Pereria, Regulatory Gas Manager, Eversource 
Kristen Gasparonis, Eversource 
Karen Lane-Newell, Eversource 
Rosmarvy Pena, Eversource 
Katherine Silver, Eversource 
Phillip Denton, Assistant Director, Pipeline Safety Division 
Justin Evans, Assistant Director, Pipeline Safety Division 
Janine Vargas, Assistant General Counsel, Pipeline Safety Division 
Emily Hamrock, Division Counsel, Pipeline Safety Division 



  
 

 

 
CONSENT ORDER 

 
August 9, 2023 D.P.U. 21-PL-74 
 
In the matter of NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy  
 _____________________________________________________________________________  

I. JURISDICTION 

1. This document, with the attached Compliance Agreement, is a Consent Order entered into 
between the Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the Department of Public Utilities 
(“Department”) and NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Respondent”), and is 
executed in accordance with 220 CMR 69.08.   

2. The Division has authority to enter into this Consent Order on behalf of the Department 
pursuant to Delegation Order, D.P.U. 18-44-B (2020).   

3. Failure to comply with the terms of this Order may result in the assessment of civil penalties 
and referral of this matter to the Attorney General for appropriate action.   

4. The terms and conditions of this Order become effective upon signing by the authorized 
representatives of the Respondent and the Department. 

5. Respondent has stipulated and consented to the issuance of this Consent Order. 

II. VIOLATIONS AND CIVIL PENALTY 

1. Pursuant to G.L. c. 164, §§ 76 and 105A, and 220 CMR 69.02, the Division conducted a 
pipeline safety inspection of the Respondent’s facilities and records.  As a result of the 
inspection, the Director of the Division issued to the Respondent a Notice of Probable 
Violation (“NOPV”), D.P.U. 21-PL-74, dated August 9, 2023, in accordance with 
220 CMR 69.03.  The NOPV is attached hereto and made a part hereof.  

2. Based on information contained in the NOPV, the Division finds that the Respondent 
violated pipeline safety regulations contained in 49 C.F.R. Part 192, specifically: 

Part 192, § 192.465(e) External corrosion control: Monitoring and remediation. 
Part 192, §192.491(c)(1) Corrosion control records. 
Part 192, § 192.605(a) Procedural manual for operations, maintenance, and 
emergencies.  
Part 192, § 192.616(c) Public Awareness. 
Part 192, § 192.805(b) Qualification program. 

 
 

 
 
 

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
 —— 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES 
 



Eversource, D.P.U. 21-PL-74  Page 2 
Consent Order 
 

 

Part 192, §192.1007(e)(1)(i) What are the required elements of an integrity 
management plan? 
 

3. Pursuant to G.L. c. 164, § 105A, the Division hereby imposes upon the Respondent a civil 
penalty in the amount of $1,500,000 for the above-noted violations.   

4. The Respondent hereby agrees, upon signing and returning this Consent Order to the 
Division, to remit payment of the civil penalty by check or money order in the amount of 
$1,500,000 made payable to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One South Station, 
Boston, MA 02110. 

III. RESPONDENT REQUIREMENTS 

1. Respondent shall sign the Stipulation below and return this complete document to the 
Division.  

2. All submissions by Respondent in accordance with this Consent Order shall be addressed to: 

Director 
Pipeline Safety Division  
Department of Public Utilities 
One South Station 
Boston, MA 02110 
 

IV. STIPULATED TERMS 
Pursuant to 220 CMR 69.08(1), the Respondent through the signature below, by the person 

to whom this Consent Order is issued or a duly authorized representative, acknowledges agreement 
to the terms contained herein without admitting or denying that a violation of any Department or 
federal pipeline safety law or regulation occurred in relation to the above-noted matters.  Further, 
Respondent agrees to issuance of this Consent Order and stipulates to the following:  

1. Respondent, by signing the Stipulation, hereby waives: 

(a) All rights to informal review pursuant to 220 CMR 69.05; 

(b)  All rights to a hearing pursuant to 220 CMR 69.06; 

(c) Any and all procedural rights available in connection with the issuance of the 
Consent Order; 

(d) All rights to seek any type of administrative or judicial review of the Consent Order; 
and 

(e) Any and all rights to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order. 

2. Respondent expressly acknowledges that neither Respondent nor the Division has any 
intention to enter into a contract. 
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3. The terms and provisions of this Consent Order and Stipulation shall be binding upon, and 
inure to the benefit of, Respondent and the Division and their successors in interest. 

4. Nothing in these Stipulated Terms shall preclude any proceedings brought by the 
Department to enforce the terms of the Consent Order, and nothing in these Stipulated 
Terms constitute, nor shall Respondent contend that they constitute, a waiver of any right, 
power, or authority of any other representative of the Commonwealth or an agency thereof 
to bring other actions deemed appropriate. 

V. FINAL ORDER 

1. This Consent Order and Stipulation is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final 
order of the Department issued pursuant to G.L. c. 25, § 5, having the force and effect of a 
remedial order, pursuant to 220 CMR 69.07(2), and expressly does not form, and may not 
be considered to form, a contract binding on the Division, the Department, or the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  

2. The terms of this Consent Order and Stipulation, including this paragraph, are not subject to 
amendment or modification by any extraneous expression, prior agreement, or prior 
arrangements between the Division and the Respondent, whether oral or written.  

 
By Order of the Division 
 
 
______________________________________ Date:  __________________ 
Richard Enright, Director  
Pipeline Safety Division 
Department of Public Utilities 
 
 

The undersigned, duly authorized, stipulates to and acknowledges agreement to the 
terms herein. 

NSTAR GAS COMPANY D/B/A EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
 
_______________________________________ Date:  __________________ 
William Akley 

 President of Gas Operations



 

 

COMPLIANCE AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES  

AND NSTAR GAS COMAPANY D/B/A EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
 

D.P.U. 21-PL-74 
 

NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Eversource”) agrees to take the following actions 
within the specified time periods: 
  

1. Within 30 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall pay a civil penalty of 
$1,500,000 to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  

2. Within 60 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall review the process it 
uses to identify Active Corrosion to verify that it meets all the requirements of 192.465(e) 
and determines whether a pipeline is experiencing active corrosion without considering cost 
of replacement.   

3. Within 60 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall begin counting each leak 
by number of leak clamps used to make repairs, and not the number of leak “events” with a 
single cause.  

 

 



 
 
 

EXHIBIT O 
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NOTICE OF PROBABLE VIOLATION 

CERTIFIED MAIL – RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 
 
January 9, 2023 D.P.U. 22-PL-82 
 
Mr. Gregory Hill 
Vice President, Gas Engineering 
Eversource Energy 
247 Station Drive  
Westwood, MA 02090 
 

Re:  D.P.U. 22-PL-82, Contractor OQs (Maynard IRs) 
 
Dear Mr. Hill: 
 

The Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the Department of Public Utilities 

(“Department”) issues this Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”) to NSTAR Gas Company 

d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Eversource” or “Respondent”) pursuant to 220 CMR 69.03 and 

Delegation Order, D.P.U. 18-44-B (2020). 

On October 25, 2021, the Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the Department of 

Public Utilities issued an initial set of information requests (IR1 21-PL-74) to Eversource related 

to the Division’s investigation of the Incident at 27 Park Street, Maynard, pursuant to G.L. c.164, 

§§ 76 and 105A, and 220 CMR 69.02.  Eversource responded to that information request on 
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December 1, 2021.  The Division issued two subsequent information requests on this matter, IR2 

21-PL-74 issued April 6, 2022 and IR3 21-PL-74 issued November 8, 2022.  Eversource 

responded to these information requests on April 27, 2022, and November 22, 2022, 

respectively.  Each response included information about Operator Qualifications (“OQs”) of 

contractors performing work on behalf of Eversource.  On November 30, 2022, the Division 

issued an Exit Letter outlining preliminary findings from the inspection, to which the company 

responded with further information on December 30, 2022.  As discussed in detail below, the 

Division conducted further investigation into the matter and has reason to believe that 

Respondent may have violated 49 C.F.R. Part 192 (“Part 192”). - 

I. FINDINGS 

The Division found that Eversource failed to follow its written qualification program, 

which states in OQ-001 Rev 1 in section XIV. G.  “An individual who fails a test will have an 

opportunity to retake a test within a reasonable period as determined by Eversource, but in all 

cases a minimum wait time of 48 hours must be observed.”  It also states in section XIV. H. 

“After three unsuccessful attempts an individual will be prohibited from retaking a test for three 

months.” Rev 2 of OQ-001 (“Rev 2”) moved the minimum wait times of 48 hours to section 

XIV. H. and three months to section XIV. I.  Rev 2 also stated “Three unsuccessful attempts to 

pass G-01, Properties of Natural Gas shall result in a prohibition from qualification in all tasks 

for three months, regardless of qualification status in any other specific task.” 

In 21-PL-74 IR 3-7 a. the Division asked for all contractors who retested within the 48 

hour wait time.  Eversource responded with a 19-page Activity Report listing contractors and the 

date and time of written qualification test attempts.  In reviewing this document, the Division 
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counted approximately 421 violations of the 48-hour wait time to retest after a failed attempt, 

and approximately 316 violations of the three month wait time following three unsuccessful 

attempts.  The Division also counted 13 occasions where individuals attempted to pass G-01, 

Properties of Natural Gas at least 4 times, suggesting three unsuccessful attempts, though all of 

them were prior to Revision 2 of OQ-001 when three failed attempts of that task prohibited 

qualification in all tasks.  

II. ALLEGATIONS 

Based on the investigation, the Division has reason to believe that Respondent’s failure to 

follow its OQ plan and ensure that individuals performing covered tasks are qualified may be in 

violation of certain sections of federal pipeline safety regulations, Part 192.  The alleged 

violations of Part 192 are as follows:   

1.  §192.13 What general requirements apply to pipelines regulated under this part? 

(c)  Each operator shall maintain, modify as appropriate, and follow the plans, 

procedures, and programs that it is required to establish under this part. 

2.  §192.805 Qualification program.  

Each operator shall have and follow a written qualification program. The program 

shall include provisions to: (b) Ensure through evaluation that individuals 

performing covered tasks are qualified; 

III. PRIOR CONSENT ORDER VIOLATIONS  

Eversource has signed the following Consent Order that pertains to similar violations of 

Part 192, §§ 192.805(b):  21-PL-13 
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IV. PROPOSED CIVIL PENALTY 

Under G.L. c. 164, § 105A, Eversource is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed 

$500,000 for each violation for each day that the violation exists, up to a maximum of 

$10,000,000 for any related series of violations.  These dollar amounts shall be doubled if the 

department determines that the violator has engaged in one or more similar violations in the 

three years preceding the violation. 

In determining the amount of the civil penalty, the Division shall consider the following, 

pursuant to G.L. c. 164, § 105A:  the appropriateness of the penalty to the size of the business of 

the person, firm, or corporation charged; the gravity of the violation; and the good faith of the 

person, firm, or corporation charged in attempting to achieve compliance, after notification of a 

violation.   

In the present matter, the Division has reviewed the circumstances of the allegations and 

is prepared to resolve this matter upon Eversource’s agreement to the terms in the attached 

Consent Order and payment of a civil penalty in the amount of $75,000.  

V. RESPONSE TO THIS NOPV 

Within 30 days of receipt of this NOPV, Eversource shall respond to the Division in one 

of the following ways, pursuant to 220 CMR 69.04: 

 1. Sign and return the attached Consent Order, thus agreeing to remit payment of the 
civil penalty by check or money order made payable to the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts; 

 
 2. Submit an offer in compromise of the proposed civil penalty under 

220 CMR 69.04(2); 
 
 3. Request an informal conference under 220 CMR 69.05; or 
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 4. Submit a written reply to the Division disputing the allegation(s) contained in the 
NOPV.  The reply must include a complete statement of all relevant facts and 
authority and full description of the reasons why the Respondent disputes the 
allegation(s) contained in the NOPV. 

 
Failure to respond within 30 days of receipt of this NOPV will be deemed an admission 

to the allegations contained herein and a waiver of Eversource’s right to contest the allegations.  

If Eversource fails to respond within 30 days, the Department may, without further notice, find 

the facts to be as alleged herein and issue a final Order, pursuant to 220 CMR 69.04(3). 

        Very truly yours, 
 
 
 

Richard Enright, Director 
Pipeline Safety Division 

 
Enclosures:  Consent Order 

Compliance Agreement 
 
Cc: Erin Engstrom, Eversource 
 Kristen Gasparonis, Eversource 
 Jessica Bottoms, Eversource 
 Susan Kulberg, Eversource 
 Katherine Silver, Eversource 
 Laurie Pereria, Eversource 
 Danielle Winter, esq, Keegan Werlin 
 Brendan Vaughan, esq, Keegan Werlin 

Justin R. Evans, Assistant Director, Pipeline Safety Division 
Phillip Denton, Assistant Director, Pipeline Safety Division 
Janine D’Amico Vargas, Assistant General Counsel, Pipeline Safety Division 



  
 

 

 
CONSENT ORDER 

 
January 9, 2023 D.P.U. 22-PL-82 
 
In the matter of NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy  
 _____________________________________________________________________________  

I. JURISDICTION 

1. This document, with the attached Compliance Agreement, is a Consent Order entered into 
between the Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the Department of Public Utilities 
(“Department”) and NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Respondent”), and is 
executed in accordance with 220 CMR 69.08.   

2. The Division has authority to enter into this Consent Order on behalf of the Department 
pursuant to Delegation Order, D.P.U. 18-44-B (2020).   

3. Failure to comply with the terms of this Order may result in the assessment of civil penalties 
and referral of this matter to the Attorney General for appropriate action.   

4. The terms and conditions of this Order become effective upon signing by the authorized 
representatives of the Respondent and the Department. 

5. Respondent has stipulated and consented to the issuance of this Consent Order. 

II. VIOLATIONS AND CIVIL PENALTY 

1. Pursuant to G.L. c. 164, §§ 76 and 105A, and 220 CMR 69.02, the Division conducted a 
pipeline safety inspection of the Respondent’s facilities and records.  As a result of the 
inspection, the Director of the Division issued to the Respondent a Notice of Probable 
Violation (“NOPV”), D.P.U. 22-PL-82, dated January 9, 2023, in accordance with 
220 CMR 69.03.  The NOPV is attached hereto and made a part hereof.  

2. Based on information contained in the NOPV, the Division finds that the Respondent 
violated pipeline safety regulations contained in 49 C.F.R. Part 192, specifically: 

Part 192, § 192.13(c) - What general requirements apply to pipelines regulated under 
this part? 
Part 192, § 192.805(b) - Qualification program. 
 

3. Pursuant to G.L. c. 164, § 105A, the Division hereby imposes upon the Respondent a civil 
penalty in the amount of $75,000 for the above-noted violations.   

 
 

 
 
 

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
 —— 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES 
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4. The Respondent hereby agrees, upon signing and returning this Consent Order to the 
Division, to remit payment of the civil penalty by check or money order in the amount of 
$75,000 made payable to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One South Station, Boston, 
MA 02110. 

III. RESPONDENT REQUIREMENTS 

1. Respondent shall sign the Stipulation below and return this complete document to the 
Division.  

2. All submissions by Respondent in accordance with this Consent Order shall be addressed to: 

Director 
Pipeline Safety Division  
Department of Public Utilities 
One South Station 
Boston, MA 02110 
 

IV. STIPULATED TERMS 
Pursuant to 220 CMR 69.08(1), the Respondent through the signature below, by the person 

to whom this Consent Order is issued or a duly authorized representative, acknowledges agreement 
to the terms contained herein without admitting or denying that a violation of any Department or 
federal pipeline safety law or regulation occurred in relation to the above-noted matters.  Further, 
Respondent agrees to issuance of this Consent Order and stipulates to the following:  

1. Respondent, by signing the Stipulation, hereby waives: 

(a) All rights to informal review pursuant to 220 CMR 69.05; 

(b)  All rights to a hearing pursuant to 220 CMR 69.06; 

(c) Any and all procedural rights available in connection with the issuance of the 
Consent Order; 

(d) All rights to seek any type of administrative or judicial review of the Consent Order; 
and 

(e) Any and all rights to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order. 

2. Respondent expressly acknowledges that neither Respondent nor the Division has any 
intention to enter into a contract. 

3. The terms and provisions of this Consent Order and Stipulation shall be binding upon, and 
inure to the benefit of, Respondent and the Division and their successors in interest. 

4. Nothing in these Stipulated Terms shall preclude any proceedings brought by the 
Department to enforce the terms of the Consent Order, and nothing in these Stipulated 
Terms constitute, nor shall Respondent contend that they constitute, a waiver of any right, 
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power, or authority of any other representative of the Commonwealth or an agency thereof 
to bring other actions deemed appropriate. 

V. FINAL ORDER 

1. This Consent Order and Stipulation is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final 
order of the Department issued pursuant to G.L. c. 25, § 5, having the force and effect of a 
remedial order, pursuant to 220 CMR 69.07(2), and expressly does not form, and may not 
be considered to form, a contract binding on the Division, the Department, or the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  

2. The terms of this Consent Order and Stipulation, including this paragraph, are not subject to 
amendment or modification by any extraneous expression, prior agreement, or prior 
arrangements between the Division and the Respondent, whether oral or written.  

 
By Order of the Division 
 
 
______________________________________ Date:  __________________ 
Richard Enright, Director  
Pipeline Safety Division 
Department of Public Utilities 
 
 

The undersigned, duly authorized, stipulates to and acknowledges agreement to the 
terms herein. 

NSTAR GAS COMPANY D/B/A EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
 
_______________________________________ Date:  __________________ 
Mr. Gregory Hill 
Vice President, Gas Engineering 



 

 

COMPLIANCE AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES  

AND NSTAR GAS COMPANY D/B/A EVERSOURCE ENERGY 
 

D.P.U. 22-PL-82 
 

NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Eversource”) agrees to take the following actions 
within the specified time periods: 
  

1. Within 30 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall pay a civil penalty of 
$75,000 to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

2. Within 60 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall provide documentation 
to the Pipeline Safety Division that all contractor employees able to retake a qualification 
immediately after failing had their qualification status: retested, suspended, expired, 
inactivated, or revoked as identified in Eversource’s response to 21-PL-74 IR 2-10. 

3. Within 60 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall provide documentation 
to the Pipeline Safety Division showing that all contractor employees that failed two or 
more qualification tests completed an instructor led review sessions before retesting, 
consistent with Eversource’s OQ-001.   



THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES 

MAURA T. HEALEY 
GOVERNOR 

  KIMBERLEY DRISCOLL 
  LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR 

REBECCA L. TEPPER 
SECRETARY OF ENERGY 

AND ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS 

ONE SOUTH STATION 
BOSTON, MA 02110 

(617) 305-3500

JAMES VAN NOSTRAND 
CHAIR 

CECILE M. FRASER 
COMMISSIONER 

STACI RUBIN 
COMMISSIONER 

FAX: (617) 478-2589 
www mass.gov/dpu 

INFORMAL REVIEW DECISION  

ELECTRONIC MAIL--RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED 

May 16, 2023 D.P.U. 22-PL-82

Mr. Gregory Hill 
Vice President, Gas Engineering 
Eversource Energy 
247 Station Drive  
Westwood, MA 02090 

Re:  D.P.U. 22-PL-82, Contractor OQs (Maynard IRs) 

Dear Mr. Hill: 

On January 9, 2023, the Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the Department of 

Public Utilities (“Department”) issued a Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”), 

D.P.U. 22-PL-82,1 to NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Eversource” or

“Respondent”). 

1 Pursuant to 220 CMR 1.10(3), the Division incorporates by reference the above-noted 
NOPV and all documents that the Respondent has filed with the Division with respect to 
this enforcement action. 
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According to the NOPV, the Division had reason to believe that Eversource may have 

violated certain sections of the federal pipeline safety regulations, 49 C.F.R. Part 192 

(“Part 192”).  The violations alleged in the NOPV were as follows: 

1. Part 192, §192.13(c) - What general requirements apply to pipelines regulated 
under this part? 

2. Part 192, §192.805(b) - Qualification program. 
 

The Division conducted an informal conference with Eversource on March 8, 2023, 

pursuant to 220 CMR 69.05.  At the informal conference, Eversource did not contest the findings 

alleged in the NOPV or the civil penalty amount but requested consideration of the following 

items in the Compliance Agreement: 

2. Within 60 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall provide 
documentation to the Pipeline Safety Division that all contractor employees able to retake 
a qualification immediately after failing had their qualification status: retested, 
suspended, expired, inactivated, or revoked as identified in Eversource’s response to 21-
PL-74 IR 2-10. 
 

3. Within 60 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall provide 
documentation to the Pipeline Safety Division showing that all contractor employees that 
failed two or more qualification tests completed an instructor led review sessions before 
retesting, consistent with Eversource’s OQ-001. 

 
With regard to these two Items, Eversource contended it is unable to comply where 

Eversource did not properly address certain individuals’ qualifications or previously require 

contractor companies to maintain or report documentation verifying instructor led review 

sessions.  The Division emphasizes that each of these compliance Items was to ensure proper 

oversight by Eversource of its contractor employees, and that each was required by Eversource’s 

OQ plan.  Nevertheless, the Division has reviewed the facts and circumstances of the allegations 

set forth in the NOPV and has concluded that Eversource violated the following pipeline safety 
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regulations:  Part 192, §§192.13(c) and 192.805(b).  Given the facts presented during the 

informal conference, the Division will amend Items 2 and 3 of the Compliance Agreement as 

follows:  

2. Within 60 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall provide 
documentation to the Pipeline Safety Division indicating all contractor employees able to 
retake a qualification immediately after failing had their qualification status: retested, 
suspended, expired, inactivated, or revoked as identified in Eversource’s response to 21-
PL-74 IR 2-10, or provide a written statement indicating which contractor employees did 
not have a change in their qualification status at the time of the response to 21-PL-74 IR 
2-10. 

 
3. Within 60 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall implement a process 

to confirm all contractor employees that fail two or more qualification tests complete an 
instructor led review session before retesting, consistent with Eversource’s OQ-001, and 
provide documentation of the process to the Division. 
 

Under G.L. c. 164, § 105A, Eversource is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed 

$500,000 for each violation for each day that the violation exists, up to a maximum of 

$10,000,000 for any related series of violations.  These dollar amounts shall be doubled if the 

department determines that the violator has engaged in one or more similar violations in the 

three years preceding the violation.  In determining the amount of the civil penalty, the Division 

shall consider the following, pursuant to G.L. c. 164, § 105A:  the appropriateness of the penalty 

to the size of the business of the person, firm, or corporation charged; the gravity of the 

violation; and the good faith of the person, firm, or corporation charged in attempting to achieve 

compliance, after notification of a violation. 

After due consideration of all the facts in their entirety, the Division has determined that 

the civil penalty for the violations in D.P.U. 22-PL-82 is $75,000.  To resolve this matter, the 
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Division is prepared to accept Eversource’s agreement to the terms in the attached Consent Order 

and Compliance Agreement, which would put the Respondent in compliance with the cited 

federal pipeline safety regulations. 

Within seven days of the date of this Informal Review Decision, the Respondent shall 

respond to the Division in one of the following ways, pursuant to 220 CMR 69.05: 

(1) Sign and return the attached Consent Order, thus agreeing to remit 
payment of the civil penalty by check or money order made payable to the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts; or 

 
(2) Request an adjudicatory hearing in writing, in accordance with 

220 CMR 69.05(3).  The request must be received by the Division within 
seven days of the date of this decision.  Until further notice, the 
Department requires that the written request be submitted in 
electronic format to dpu.efiling@mass.gov.  

Failure to request an adjudicatory hearing within the time allowed will be deemed an 

admission to the allegations contained in this decision, and the Respondent shall be held liable to 

pay the civil penalty in the NOPV, pursuant to 220 CMR 69.05(3).  If the Respondent fails to 

respond, the Department may, without further notice, find the facts to be as alleged herein and 

issue a final Order. 

        Very truly yours, 
                     
          
 
        Richard Enright, Director 
        Pipeline Safety Division 
 
Enclosures: Consent Order 
       Compliance Agreement 
 
Cc: Erin Engstrom, Eversource 
 Kristen Gasparonis, Eversource 
 Jessica Bottoms, Eversource 
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 Susan Kulberg, Eversource 
 Katherine Silver, Eversource 
 Laurie Pereria, Eversource 
 Danielle Winter, Esq, Keegan Werlin 
 Brendan Vaughan, Esq, Keegan Werlin 

Justin R. Evans, Assistant Director, Pipeline Safety Division 
Phillip Denton, Assistant Director, Pipeline Safety Division 

 Janine D’Amico Vargas, Assistant General Counsel, Pipeline Safety Division 



 

 

 
CONSENT ORDER 

 
May 16, 2023 D.P.U. 22-PL-82 
 
In the matter of NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy  
 _____________________________________________________________________________  

I. JURISDICTION 

1. This document, with the attached Compliance Agreement, is a Consent Order entered into 
between the Pipeline Safety Division (“Division”) of the Department of Public Utilities 
(“Department”) and NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Respondent”), and is 
executed in accordance with 220 CMR 69.08.   

2. The Division has authority to enter into this Consent Order on behalf of the Department 
pursuant to Delegation Order, D.P.U. 18-44-B (2020).   

3. Failure to comply with the terms of this Order may result in the assessment of civil penalties 
and referral of this matter to the Attorney General for appropriate action.   

4. The terms and conditions of this Order become effective upon signing by the authorized 
representatives of the Respondent and the Department. 

5. Respondent has stipulated and consented to the issuance of this Consent Order. 

II. VIOLATIONS AND CIVIL PENALTY 

1. Pursuant to G.L. c. 164, §§ 76 and 105A, and 220 CMR 69.02, the Division conducted a 
pipeline safety inspection of the Respondent’s facilities and records.  As a result of the 
inspection, the Director of the Division issued to the Respondent a Notice of Probable 
Violation (“NOPV”), D.P.U. 22-PL-82, dated January 9, 2023, in accordance with 
220 CMR 69.03.  The NOPV is attached hereto and made a part hereof.  

2. Based on information contained in the NOPV, the Division finds that the Respondent 
violated pipeline safety regulations contained in 49 C.F.R. Part 192, specifically: 

1. Part 192, §192.13(c) – What general requirements apply to pipelines regulated 
under this part? 

2. Part 192, §192.805(b) – Qualification program. 
 

3. Pursuant to G.L. c. 164, § 105A, the Division hereby imposes upon the Respondent a civil 
penalty in the amount of $75,000 for the above-noted violations.   

 
 

 
 
 

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
 —— 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES 
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4. The Respondent hereby agrees, upon signing and returning this Consent Order to the 
Division, to remit payment of the civil penalty by check or money order in the amount of 
$75,000 made payable to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One South Station, Boston, 
MA 02110. 

III. RESPONDENT REQUIREMENTS 

1. Respondent shall sign the Stipulation below and return this complete document to the 
Division.  

2. All submissions by Respondent in accordance with this Consent Order shall be addressed to: 

Director Richard Enright 
Pipeline Safety Division  
Department of Public Utilities 
One South Station 
Boston, MA 02110 
 

IV. STIPULATED TERMS 
Pursuant to 220 CMR 69.08(1), the Respondent through the signature below, by the person 

to whom this Consent Order is issued or a duly authorized representative, acknowledges agreement 
to the terms contained herein without admitting or denying that a violation of any Department or 
federal pipeline safety law or regulation occurred in relation to the above-noted matters.  Further, 
Respondent agrees to issuance of this Consent Order and stipulates to the following:  

1. Respondent, by signing the Stipulation, hereby waives: 

(a) All rights to informal review pursuant to 220 CMR 69.05; 

(b)  All rights to a hearing pursuant to 220 CMR 69.06; 

(c) Any and all procedural rights available in connection with the issuance of the 
Consent Order; 

(d) All rights to seek any type of administrative or judicial review of the Consent Order; 
and 

(e) Any and all rights to challenge or contest the validity of the Consent Order. 

2. Respondent expressly acknowledges that neither Respondent nor the Division has any 
intention to enter into a contract. 

3. The terms and provisions of this Consent Order and Stipulation shall be binding upon, and 
inure to the benefit of, Respondent and the Division and their successors in interest. 

4. Nothing in these Stipulated Terms shall preclude any proceedings brought by the 
Department to enforce the terms of the Consent Order, and nothing in these Stipulated 
Terms constitute, nor shall Respondent contend that they constitute, a waiver of any right, 
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power, or authority of any other representative of the Commonwealth or an agency thereof 
to bring other actions deemed appropriate. 

V. FINAL ORDER

1. This Consent Order and Stipulation is intended to be, and shall be construed to be, a final
order of the Department issued pursuant to G.L. c. 25, § 5, having the force and effect of a
remedial order, pursuant to 220 CMR 69.07(2), and expressly does not form, and may not
be considered to form, a contract binding on the Division, the Department, or the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

2. The terms of this Consent Order and Stipulation, including this paragraph, are not subject to
amendment or modification by any extraneous expression, prior agreement, or prior
arrangements between the Division and the Respondent, whether oral or written.

By Order of the Division 

______________________________________ Date:  __________________ 
Richard Enright, Director  
Pipeline Safety Division 
Department of Public Utilities 

The undersigned, duly authorized, stipulates to and acknowledges agreement to the 
terms herein. 

NSTAR GAS COMPANY D/B/A EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

_______________________________________ Date: _5/23/23_________________ 
Gregory Hill 
Vice President, Gas Engineering 

5/23/2023



COMPLIANCE AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES  

AND NSTAR GAS COMPANY D/B/A EVERSOURCE ENERGY 

D.P.U. 22-PL-82

NSTAR Gas Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (“Eversource”) agrees to take the following actions 
within the specified time periods: 

1. Within 30 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall pay a civil penalty of
$75,000 to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

2. Within 60 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall provide documentation
to the Pipeline Safety Division indicating all contractor employees able to retake a
qualification immediately after failing had their qualification status: retested, suspended,
expired, inactivated, or revoked as identified in Eversource’s response to 21-PL-74 IR 2-10,
or provide a written statement indicating which contractor employees did not have a change
in their qualification status at the time of the response to 21-PL-74 IR 2-10.

3. Within 60 days of the effective date of this Order, Eversource shall implement a process to
confirm all contractor employees that fail two or more qualification tests complete an
instructor led review session before retesting, consistent with Eversource’s OQ-001, and
provide documentation of the process to the Division.
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